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Item 8.01. Other Events

On August 17, 2005, Morgan Stanley (the “Company”) announced that its Board of Directors had approved
management’s recommendation to sell the Company’s aircraft leasing business. The Company is filing this
Current Report on Form 8-K (the “Form 8-K”) to update the historical consolidated financial statements and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended November 30, 2004 (the “2004 Form 10-K”)



Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits
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23.2
23.3
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99.2

99.3

99.4

Letter of awareness from Deloitte & Touche LLP, dated October 12, 2005, concerning unaudited
interim financial information.

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP
Consent of BK Associates, Inc.

Consent of Morten Beyer & Agnew, Inc.
Consent of Airclaims Limited.

Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations and the transfer
of the principal components of the residential mortgage loan business from the Discover business
segment to the Institutional Securities business segment for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2004,
2003, and 2002 and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations (which replaces and supersedes Part II, Item 8 and Item 7, respectively, of the 2004 Form
10-K filed with the SEC on February 11, 2005).

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations and
the transfer of the principal components of the residential mortgage loan business from the Discover
business segment to the Institutional Securities business segment for the three months ended February
28, 2005 and February 29, 2004 and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations (which replaces and supersedes Part I, Item 1 and Item 2, respectively, of the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended February 28, 2005 filed with the SEC on April 6,
2005).

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations and
the transfer of the principal components of the residential mortgage loan business from the Discover
business segment to the Institutional Securities business segment for the three and six months ended
May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004 and Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations (which replaces and supersedes Part I, Item 1 and Item 2, respectively, of the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended May 31, 2005 filed with the SEC on July 8,
2005).

Selected Financial Data recast for discontinued operations for the fiscal years ended November 30,
2004, 2003, 2002, 2001 and 2000 (which replaces and supersedes Part II, Item 6 of the 2004 Form 10-K
filed with the SEC on February 11, 2005).
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SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

MORGAN STANLEY
(Registrant)

By: /s/ _DAvID H. SIDWELL

David H. Sidwell,
Chief Financial Officer

By: /s/ _PauL C. WIRTH

Paul C. Wirth,
Controller

Date: October 12, 2005
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Exhibit 15
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Morgan Stanley:

We have made a review, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), of the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial information of Morgan Stanley and
subsidiaries as of February 28, 2005 and for the three-month periods ended February 28, 2005 and February 29,
2004, and have issued our report dated April 4, 2005 (October 12, 2005 as to the effects of discontinued
operations and segment classification discussed in Note 22) (which report included an explanatory paragraph
regarding the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123R, “Share-based
Payment”). As indicated in such report, because we did not perform an audit, we expressed no opinion on that
information.

Additionally, we have made a review, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States), of the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial information of
Morgan Stanley and subsidiaries as of May 31, 2005 and for the six-month periods ended May 31, 2005 and
May 31, 2004, and have issued our report dated July 7, 2005 (October 12, 2005 as to the effects of discontinued
operations and segment classification discussed in Note 22) (which report included an explanatory paragraph
regarding the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, “Share-based Payment”). As indicated in such report, because we did
not perform an audit, we expressed no opinion on that information.

We are aware that our reports referred to above, which are included in this Current Report on Form 8-K, are
incorporated by reference in the following Registration Statements:

Filed on Form S-3:

Registration Statement No. 33-57202
Registration Statement No. 33-60734
Registration Statement No. 33-89748
Registration Statement No. 33-92172
Registration Statement No. 333-07947
Registration Statement No. 333-27881
Registration Statement No. 333-27893
Registration Statement No. 333-27919
Registration Statement No. 333-46403
Registration Statement No. 333-46935
Registration Statement No. 333-76111
Registration Statement No. 333-75289
Registration Statement No. 333-34392
Registration Statement No. 333-47576
Registration Statement No. 333-83616
Registration Statement No. 333-106789
Registration Statement No. 333-117752

Filed on Form S-4:
Registration Statement No. 333-25003

Filed on Form S-8:
Registration Statement No. 33-63024
Registration Statement No. 33-63026
Registration Statement No. 33-78038
Registration Statement No. 33-79516
Registration Statement No. 33-82240
Registration Statement No. 33-82242
Registration Statement No. 33-82244
Registration Statement No. 333-04212
Registration Statement No. 333-28141



Registration Statement No. 333-28263
Registration Statement No. 333-62869
Registration Statement No. 333-78081
Registration Statement No. 333-95303
Registration Statement No. 333-85148
Registration Statement No. 333-85150
Registration Statement No. 333-108223

We also are aware that the aforementioned reports, pursuant to Rule 436(c) under the Securities Act of 1933, are
not considered a part of the Registration Statements prepared or certified by an accountant or reports prepared or
certified by an accountant within the meaning of Sections 7 and 11 of that Act.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
New York, New York
October 12, 2005



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements of Morgan Stanley of our
report dated February 7, 2005 (October 12, 2005 as to the effects of discontinued operations and segment
classification discussed in Note 27) (which report expresses an unqualified opinion and contains an explanatory
paragraph relating to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation-Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” in 2003), included in this
Current Report on Form 8-K of Morgan Stanley.

Filed on Form S-3:

Registration Statement No. 33-57202
Registration Statement No. 33-60734
Registration Statement No. 33-89748
Registration Statement No. 33-92172
Registration Statement No. 333-07947
Registration Statement No. 333-27881
Registration Statement No. 333-27893
Registration Statement No. 333-27919
Registration Statement No. 333-46403
Registration Statement No. 333-46935
Registration Statement No. 333-76111
Registration Statement No. 333-75289
Registration Statement No. 333-34392
Registration Statement No. 333-47576
Registration Statement No. 333-83616
Registration Statement No. 333-106789
Registration Statement No. 333-117752

Filed on Form S-4:
Registration Statement No. 333-25003

Filed on Form S-8:

Registration Statement No. 33-63024
Registration Statement No. 33-63026
Registration Statement No. 33-78038
Registration Statement No. 33-79516
Registration Statement No. 33-82240
Registration Statement No. 33-82242
Registration Statement No. 33-82244
Registration Statement No. 333-04212
Registration Statement No. 333-28141
Registration Statement No. 333-28263
Registration Statement No. 333-62869
Registration Statement No. 333-78081
Registration Statement No. 333-95303
Registration Statement No. 333-85148
Registration Statement No. 333-85150
Registration Statement No. 333-108223

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
New York, New York
October 12, 2005



Exhibit 23.2
CONSENT OF BK ASSOCIATES, INC.

We hereby consent to the reference to us appearing in: (i) Note 18 to Morgan Stanley’s consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 included as
exhibit 99.1 in the Current Report on Form 8-K of Morgan Stanley to which this consent is attached (the “Current Report”),
(ii) Note 16 to Morgan Stanley’s condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued
operations for the three months ended February 28, 2005 and February 29, 2004, included as exhibit 99.2 in the Current
Report, and (iii) Note 16 to Morgan Stanley’s condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto recast for
discontinued operations for the three and six months ended May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004, included as exhibit 99.3 in the
Current Report and to the incorporation by reference of those references in the following Registration Statements of Morgan
Stanley:

Filed on Form S-3:

Registration Statement No. 33-57202
Registration Statement No. 33-60734
Registration Statement No. 33-89748
Registration Statement No. 33-92172
Registration Statement No. 333-07947
Registration Statement No. 333-27881
Registration Statement No. 333-27893
Registration Statement No. 333-27919
Registration Statement No. 333-46403
Registration Statement No. 333-46935
Registration Statement No. 333-76111
Registration Statement No. 333-75289
Registration Statement No. 333-34392
Registration Statement No. 333-47576
Registration Statement No. 333-83616
Registration Statement No. 333-106789
Registration Statement No. 333-117752

Filed on Form S-4:
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Filed on Form S-8:

Registration Statement No. 33-63024
Registration Statement No. 33-63026
Registration Statement No. 33-78038
Registration Statement No. 33-79516
Registration Statement No. 33-82240
Registration Statement No. 33-82242
Registration Statement No. 33-82244
Registration Statement No. 333-04212
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Registration Statement No. 333-28141
Registration Statement No. 333-28263
Registration Statement No. 333-62869
Registration Statement No. 333-78081
Registration Statement No. 333-95303
Registration Statement No. 333-85148
Registration Statement No. 333-85150
Registration Statement No. 333-108223

BK ASSOCIATES, INC.

By: % F%

Name: John F. Keitz
Title: President

October 11, 2005



Exhibit 23.3

CONSENT OF MORTEN BEYER & AGNEW, INC

We hereby consent to the reference to us appearing in: (i) Note 18 to Morgan Stanley’s consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto recast for discontinued operations for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 included as exhibit 99.1 in
the Current Report on Form 8-K of Morgan Stanley to which this consent is attached (the “Current Report”), (ii) Note 16 to Morgan
Stanley’s condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the three months
ended February 28, 2005 and February 29, 2004, included as exhibit 99.2 in the Current Report, and (iii) Note 16 to Morgan
Stanley’s condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the three and six
months ended May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004, included as exhibit 99.3 in the Current Report and to the incorporation by reference
of those references in the following Registration Statements of Morgan Stanley:

Filed on Form S-3:

Registration Statement No. 33-57202
Registration Statement No. 33-60734
Registration Statement No. 33-89748
Registration Statement No. 33-92172
Registration Statement No. 333-07947
Registration Statement No. 333-27881
Registration Statement No. 333-27893
Registration Statement No. 333-27919
Registration Statement No. 333-46403
Registration Statement No. 333-46935
Registration Statement No. 333-76111
Registration Statement No. 333-75289
Registration Statement No. 333-34392
Registration Statement No. 333-47576
Registration Statement No. 333-83616
Registration Statement No. 333-106789
Registration Statement No. 333-117752

Filed on Form S-4:
Registration Statement No. 333-25003

Filed on Form S-8:

Registration Statement No. 33-63024
Registration Statement No. 33-63026
Registration Statement No. 33-78038
Registration Statement No. 33-79516
Registration Statement No. 33-82240
Registration Statement No. 33-82242
Registration Statement No. 33-82244
Registration Statement No. 333-04212
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Registration Statement No. 333-28141
Registration Statement No. 333-28263
Registration Statement No. 333-62869
Registration Statement No. 333-78081
Registration Statement No. 333-95303
Registration Statement No. 333-85148
Registration Statement No. 333-85150
Registration Statement No. 333-108223

MORTEN BEYER & AGNEW, INC

77
,-,17'_ ;ﬁﬁff _—

Name: Robert F. Agnew
Title:  President & COO
October 11, 2005



Exhibit 23.4

ATIRCLAIMS Hisw—

CONSENT OF AIRCLAIMS LIMITED

We hereby consent to the reference to us appearing in: (i) Note 18 to Morgan Stanley’s consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto recast for discontinued operations for the fiscal years ended November 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002 included as exhibit 99.1 in
the Current Report on Form 8-K of Morgan Stanley to which this consent is attached (the “Current Report™), (ii) Note 16 to Morgan
Stanley’s condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the three months
ended February 28, 2005 and February 29, 2004, included as exhibit 99.2 in the Current Report, and (iii) Note 16 to Morgan
Stanley’s condensed consolidated financial statements and notes thereto recast for discontinued operations for the three and six
months ended May 31, 2005 and May 31, 2004, included as exhibit 99.3 in the Current Report and to the incorporation by reference
of those references in the following Registration Statements of Morgan Stanley:

Filed on Form S-3:

Registration Statement No. 33-57202
Registration Statement No. 33-60734
Registration Statement No. 33-89748
Registration Statement No. 33-92172
Registration Statement No. 333-07947
Registration Statement No. 333-27881
Registration Statement No. 333-27893
Registration Statement No. 333-27919
Registration Statement No. 333-46403
Registration Statement No. 333-46935
Registration Statement No. 333-76111
Registration Statement No. 333-75289
Registration Statement No. 333-34392
Registration Statement No. 333-47576
Registration Statement No. 333-83616
Registration Statement No. 333-106789
Registration Statement No. 333-117752
Filed on Form S-4:
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Filed on Form S-8:

Registration Statement No. 33-63024
Registration Statement No. 33-63026
Registration Statement No. 33-78038
Registration Statement No. 33-79516
Registration Statement No. 33-82240
Registration Statement No. 33-82242
Registration Statement No. 33-82244
Registration Statement No. 333-04212
Registration Statement No. 333-25003
Registration Statement No. 333-28141
Registration Statement No. 333-28263
Registration Statement No. 333-62869
Registration Statement No. 333-78081
Registration Statement No. 333-95303
Registration Statement No. 333-85148
Registration Statement No. 333-85150
Registration Statement No. 333-108223

Airclaims Limited

By:

Name: Edward Pieniazek
Title: Director, Consultancy & Information Services

October 12, 2005

Telephone (44) 020 8897 1066 Facsimile (44) 20 8897 0300 Telex 934679
——— http://www .airclaims.com http://www.airclaimsstore.com
Registered Head Office as above. Registered in England No. 710284. VAT Reg. No. GB 224 1906 87

. ( - ‘} ¢ Airclaims Limited
L) ..’I - Cardinal Point, Newall Road, Heathrow Airport, London TW6 2AS
| =L w1



Exhibit 99.1

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.

Introduction.

Morgan Stanley (the “Company”) is a global financial services firm that maintains leading market positions in
each of its business segments—Institutional Securities, Retail Brokerage, Asset Management and Discover. The
Company’s Institutional Securities business includes securities underwriting and distribution; financial advisory
services, including advice on mergers and acquisitions, restructurings, real estate and project finance; sales,
trading, financing and market-making activities in equity securities and related products and fixed income
securities and related products, including foreign exchange and commodities; principal investing and real estate
investment management; providing benchmark indices and risk management analytics; and research. The
Company’s Retail Brokerage business provides comprehensive brokerage, investment and financial services
designed to accommodate individual investment goals and risk profiles. The Company’s Asset Management
business provides global asset management products and services for individual and institutional investors
through three principal distribution channels: a proprietary channel consisting of the Company’s representatives;
a non-proprietary channel consisting of third-party broker-dealers, banks, financial planners and other
intermediaries; and the Company’s institutional channel. The Company’s Discover business offers Discover®-
branded cards and other consumer finance products and services, and includes the operation of Discover
Network, a network of merchant and cash access locations primarily in the U.S. Morgan Stanley-branded credit
cards and personal loan products that are offered in the U.K. are also included in the Discover business segment.
The Company provides its products and services to a large and diversified group of clients and customers,
including corporations, governments, financial institutions and individuals.

The Company’s results of operations for the 12 months ended November 30, 2004 (“fiscal 2004”), November 30,
2003 (“fiscal 2003") and November 30, 2002 (“fiscal 2002”) are discussed below.
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Results of Operations.
Executive Summary.

Financial Information.

Fiscal Year
2004 2003(1) 2002(1)

Net revenues (dollars in millions):

Institutional SECUrities . ... ... ...ttt $13,113 $11,301 $ 9,156
Retail Brokerage . .. ...t 4,615 4,242 4,268
Asset Management . .. ...ttt e 2,738 2,276 2,506
DISCOVET . . 3,533 3,303 3,471
Intersegment Eliminations . ........... .. ...ttt (291) (305) (327)
Consolidated net revenues . ................ i, $23,708 $20,817 $19,074
Income before taxes(2) (dollars in millions):
Institutional Securities ... ......... ... ..t $ 4,281 $ 4,066 $ 2,812
Retail Brokerage . ......... ... . . 371 464 120
Asset Management . ............. .. .. 827 482 656
DiSCOVET . ..o 1,221 1,027 1,142
Intersegment Eliminations ............. ... .. ... 118 121 129
Consolidated income before taxes . ... ......uv e, $ 6,818 $ 6,160 $ 4,859
Consolidated net income (dollars inmillions) ........................... $ 4486 $ 3,787 $ 2,988
Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing Operations .....................ooveiiooo... $ 425 $ 374 $§ 284
Loss from discontinued operations . ...................ieinieaon... (0.10) (0.22) (0.08)
Basic earnings per common share .............. ... ... .. .. ...... $ 415 $ 352 $ 276
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing Operations . ................couueireinnenn... $ 415 $ 366 $ 276
Loss from discontinued operations .................c.uuiniinrenenan. (0.09) 0.21) (0.07)
Diluted earnings per common share . ............. ... ..., .. $ 406 $ 345 $ 2.69
Statistical Data.
Book value per commonshare(3) .................. ... .. ... .. $ 2595 $ 2293 $ 20.24
Return on average common equity . ............. ... ... ... .. ... 16.8% 16.5% 14.1%
Effective income taxrate . ............. ... ... . ... ... ... ... 28.5% 29.0% 34.4%
Consolidated assets under management or supervision (dollars in billions):
BQUILY . oo $ 251 $ 207 $ 172
Fixedincome . ........ ... .. i 130 123 127
Money market .. ... ... 87 64 66
Other(4) ..o 79 68 55
Total(5) . .ot $ 547 $ 462 $ 420
Worldwide employees . ............... ... .. 53,284 51,196 55,726
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Statistical Data (Continued). Fiscal Year

2004 2003(1) 2002(1)

Institutional Securities:

Mergers and acquisitions completed transactions (dollars in billions)(6):

Global market volume .. ........ ... it $ 353.0 $207.8 $ 34738
Market share . . ... ... 25.4% 19.2% 28.3%
Rank ... 2 3 2

Mergers and acquisitions announced transactions (dollars in billions)(6):

Global market volume . ......... ... ... ... i $ 3851 $ 2419 $ 193.6
Market share .. ... ... ... 21.7% 20.0% 18.3%
Rank ... 4 2 3

Global equity and equity-linked issues (dollars in billions)(6):

Global market VOIUME . ...ttt $ 543 $ 396 $ 252
Market share . . ... ... 10.7% 10.2% 7.9%
Rank ... 1 3 4

Global debt issues (dollars in billions)(6):

Global market VOIUME . ... .ottt $ 3595 $367.0 $ 2702
Market share . . ... ... 6.9% 7.4% 6.9%
Rank ... 2 3 5

Pre-tax profit margin(7) ... ..... ... 32% 35% 30%

Retail Brokerage:

Global representatives . .. ... ...ttt 10,962 11,086 12,546

Total client assets (dollars in billions) .................. ... ... ....... $ 602 $ 565 $ 516

Fee-based assets as a percentage of total client assets . ................... 26% 23% 21%

Pre-tax profit margin(7) . ...... ... 8% 11% 3%

Asset Management:

Assets under management or supervision (dollars in billions) ............. $ 424 $ 357 $ 337

Percent of fund assets in top half of Lipper rankings(8) .................. 71% 57% 62%

Pre-tax profit margin(7) .. ... 30% 21% 26%

Pre-tax profit margin(7) (excluding private equity) . ..................... 26% 22% 28%

Discover (dollars in millions, unless otherwise noted)(9):

Period-end credit card loans—Owned .. .......... ... $19,724  $18,930 $22,153

Period-end credit card loans—Managed . .......... ... . ... ... ..., $48,261  $48,358  $51,143

Average credit card loans—Owned . ......... ... $17,608  $19,531  $20,659

Average credit card loans—Managed .............. ..o $47,387  $50,864  $49,835

Net principal charge-off rate—Owned . . ...... ... .. .. .. .. ... ..... 5.53% 6.05% 6.06%

Net principal charge-off rate—Managed . .......... ... .. ... ... .. ..... 6.00% 6.60% 6.19%

Transaction volume (dollars in billions) . ...............ouuuineon. ... $ 996 $ 979 $ 973

Pre-tax profit margin(7) . ...... ... 35% 31% 33%

(l)Trtainprior-period information has been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.

(2) Amounts represent income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated investees, income taxes, dividends on preferred
securities subject to mandatory redemption and discontinued operations (see “Discontinued Operations™ herein).

(3) Book value per common share equals shareholders’ equity of $28,206 million at November 30, 2004, $24,867 million at November 30,
2003 and $21,885 million at November 30, 2002, divided by common shares outstanding of 1,087 million at November 30, 2004, 1,085
million at November 30, 2003 and 1,081 million at November 30, 2002.

(4) Amounts include alternative investment vehicles.

(5) Revenues and expenses associated with these assets are included in the Company’s Asset Management, Retail Brokerage and
Institutional Securities segments.

(6) Source: Thomson Financial, data as of January 7, 2005—The data for fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002 are for the periods from
January 1 to December 31, 2004, January 1 to December 31, 2003 and January 1 to December 31, 2002, respectively, as Thomson
Financial presents these data on a calendar-year basis.

(7) Percentages represent income before taxes and discontinued operations, excluding losses from unconsolidated investees, as a percentage
of net revenues.

(8) Source: Lipper, one-year performance as of November 30, 2004, November 30, 2003 and November 30, 2002, respectively.

(9) Managed data include owned and securitized credit card loans. For an explanation of managed data and a reconciliation of credit card

loan and asset quality data, see “Discover—Managed General Purpose Credit Card Loan Data” herein.
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Fiscal 2004 Performance.

Company Results. The Company recorded net income of $4,486 million and diluted earnings per share of $4.06
in fiscal 2004, both 18% increases from the prior year. Net revenues (total revenues less interest expense and the
provision for loan losses) rose 14% to $23.7 billion in fiscal 2004, and the return on average common equity was
16.8% compared with 16.5% in the prior year.

The Company’s net loss from discontinued operations was $103 million in fiscal 2004 as compared with a net
loss of $233 million in fiscal 2003 (see “Discontinued Operations” herein).

Non-interest expenses of $16.9 billion increased 15% from the prior year, primarily due to higher compensation
expense and professional services expense associated with increased business activity and additional legal and
regulatory costs. Compensation and benefits expense in fiscal 2004 reflected an additional year of amortization
of equity-based awards (see “Equity-Based Compensation Program” herein).

The Company’s effective tax rate was 28.5% in fiscal 2004 compared with 29.0% in fiscal 2003. The decrease
reflected higher domestic tax credits and certain miscellaneous items, partially offset by higher tax rates
applicable to non-U.S. earnings (see Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements).

At fiscal year-end, the Company had 53,284 employees worldwide, an increase of 4% from the prior year,
reflecting the recovering global economy, increased business activity, and additional personnel associated with
increased regulatory and compliance efforts that existed in fiscal 2004.

Subsequent to fiscal year-end, the Company’s Board of Directors declared a $0.27 quarterly dividend per
common share, an 8% increase from the $0.25 per common share declared the previous quarter.

Institutional Securities. The Company’s Institutional Securities business recorded income from continuing
operations before losses from unconsolidated investees, income taxes, dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption and discontinued operations of $4.3 billion, a 5% increase from a year ago. Net revenues
rose 16% to $13.1 billion, driven by record revenues in fixed income and significant increases in advisory fees and
equity underwriting revenues. Non-interest expenses rose 22% to $8.8 billion, reflecting higher incentive-based
compensation costs, professional services and other expense categories associated with increased business activity.

Advisory revenues rose 75% from last year to $1.2 billion, reflecting a significant increase in the Company’s
market share in completed merger and acquisition transactions from 19% to 25% and a 29% increase in industry-
wide completed merger and acquisition activity (according to Thomson Financial). Underwriting revenues rose
29% from last year to $1.9 billion with equity, high-yield and securitized products driving the increase in
revenues. Equity underwriting revenues rose 55% compared with the prior year.

Fixed income sales and trading revenues were $5.7 billion, up 3% from a record performance in the prior year.
The increase was driven by a record year in commodities and improved results in credit products. Commodities
benefited from tight oil supplies, growing demand and global political instability that drove energy prices and
volatilities higher. Credit products benefited from increased customer flows and favorable trading conditions.
Revenues from interest rate and currency products declined slightly from last year’s record revenues, primarily
due to lower revenues from cash and derivative products. Equity sales and trading revenues rose 13% from last
year to $4.1 billion. Prime brokerage had a record year driven by robust growth in client asset balances.
Revenues from equity cash products increased, reflecting higher market volumes, while revenues from equity
derivatives increased modestly despite continued low levels of volatility.

Retail Brokerage. Retail Brokerage recorded pre-tax income of $371 million, down 20% from the prior year,
largely driven by higher non-interest expenses. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company changed its
method of accounting to recognize certain asset management and account fees and related expenses over the
relevant contract period as compared with when billed. This change decreased net revenues by $107 million,
non-interest expenses by $27 million and pre-tax income by $80 million for both the full year and quarterly
results (see “Asset Management and Account Fees” herein).
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Net revenues for fiscal 2004 were $4.6 billion, a 9% increase over a year ago, reflecting higher asset
management, distribution and administration fees driven primarily by an increase in client assets in fee-based
accounts. Commission revenues also increased from the prior year due to higher equity market volumes. Total
non-interest expenses were $4.2 billion, a 12% increase from a year ago. The increase was driven by higher
compensation expense and higher professional services expense, including sub-advisory, consulting and legal
costs. Total client assets increased to $602 billion, up 7% from the prior fiscal year-end. In addition, client assets
in fee-based accounts increased 21% from the prior fiscal year-end to $157 billion and increased as a percentage
of total client assets to 26% from 23% a year ago. At fiscal year-end, the number of global representatives was
10,962, a decline of 124 over the past year.

Asset Management. Asset Management recorded pre-tax income of $827 million, a 72% increase from last year.
The increase reflected a 20% increase in net revenues to $2.7 billion driven by an increase in asset management
fees and higher investment gains. Non-interest expenses increased 7% from the prior year to $1.9 billion, largely
due to higher compensation expense and an increase in professional services expense driven by higher
consulting, sub-advisory and legal costs. Assets under management at fiscal year-end were $424 billion, up $67
billion, or 19% from a year ago as a result of both market appreciation and positive net flows. At fiscal year-end,
the percentage of the Company’s fund assets performing in the top half of the Lipper rankings was 71% over one
year, 75% over three years and 73% over five years. Performance for the one- and three-year time periods was
significantly better than a year ago. Principal transaction investment gains for the year were $248 million, a $229
million increase from a year ago, with the largest gains associated with the Company’s holdings in Vanguard
Health Systems, Inc. and Ping An Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd.

Discover. Discover pre-tax income was a record $1,221 million, an increase of 19% from last year. The increase
in earnings on a managed basis was driven by a decline in the provision for loan losses, reflecting improved
credit quality, which more than offset lower net interest income and merchant and cardmember fees. Non-interest
expenses were relatively flat from the prior year as higher marketing expenses were offset by lower
compensation costs. The managed credit card net charge-off rate decreased 60 basis points from a year ago to
6.00%, benefiting from the effect of the Company’s credit quality and collection initiatives and an industry-wide
improvement in credit quality. The managed over 30-day delinquency rate decreased 142 basis points to 4.55%
from a year ago, and the managed over 90-day delinquency rate was 64 basis points lower than a year ago at
2.18%. Managed credit card loans were $48.3 billion at year-end, virtually unchanged from a year ago. On a
managed basis, net interest income fell $238 million from a year ago to $4.4 billion, reflecting lower average



institutional fixed income and liquidity fund products, which generally generate lower fees than equity products.
In addition, lower principal investment gains are expected going forward as the Company reduces its private
equity business.

Discover will continue to focus on growing both profitability and customer receivable balances and creating a
competitive advantage with its proprietary network. The Company believes there is potential to capitalize on the
recent U.S. Supreme Court decision, rejecting an appeal by Visa and MasterCard in U.S. v. Visa/MasterCard,
which allows financial institutions to issue credit and debit cards on the Discover Network. In January 2005, the
Company announced that it had signed its first third-party issuance with GE Consumer Finance to issue the Wal-
Mart Discover card on the Discover Network. In addition, the Company believes that its acquisition of PULSE
EFT Association, Inc. (“PULSE®”), which was completed in January 2005, will result in a leading electronic
payments company offering a full range of products and services for financial institutions, consumers and
merchants.

Global Market and Economic Conditions in Fiscal 2004.

Global economic growth was generally favorable for most of fiscal 2004, particularly driven by the U.S. and
China. The level of activity in the global capital markets was also higher than in fiscal 2003. Significant investor
uncertainty, however, persisted throughout the fiscal year due to concerns about the pace of economic growth,
inflationary pressures, higher oil prices and higher levels of geopolitical risk. At the end of fiscal 2004, most
global financial markets rallied in response to positive economic developments, primarily in the U.S.

In the first half of fiscal 2004, the U.S. economy benefited from accommodative fiscal and monetary policies,
supported by productivity gains. Corporate earnings were generally strong, and consumer confidence rose as the
U.S. labor market strengthened due to job creation and a decline in unemployment. The second half of fiscal
2004 began with a mid-year slowdown due, in part, to soaring energy prices, the expected pace of inflation and
cautious business investment before regaining momentum at the end of fiscal 2004. Major equity market indices
had a mixed year, declining mid-year due to higher energy prices, concern over continued turmoil in Iraq and
global geopolitical tension, which depressed market sentiment and activity. The equity markets rallied at the end
of the year due to positive economic developments, a positive earnings outlook and the resolution of the U.S.
presidential election. During fiscal 2004, the unemployment rate declined to 5.4%, its lowest level since
September 2001. In response to indications of inflationary pressures, the Federal Reserve Board (the “Fed”)
raised both the overnight lending rate and the discount rate on four separate occasions by an aggregate of 1.00%
during the fiscal year. Subsequent to fiscal year-end, the Fed raised both the overnight lending rate and the
discount rate by an aggregate of 0.50%.

In Europe, the recovery of economic activity continued despite consistently higher oil prices, which had a
considerable impact on inflation rates. The recovery in Europe was led by productivity gains in France and Spain,
while economic conditions in Germany and Italy were less robust. The European Central Bank (the “ECB”) left
the benchmark interest rate unchanged during fiscal 2004 as the level of interest rates remained low by historical
standards. The ECB remains concerned about the level of inflation and the strength of the euro relative to the
U.S. dollar and its negative impact on demand for exports. In the U.K., the labor market continued to strengthen,
and business investment continued to grow. There were, however, some indications of a slowdown in the housing
market, while the growth in consumer spending moderated. During fiscal 2004, the Bank of England raised the
benchmark interest rate by an aggregate of 1.00%.

Japan’s economy demonstrated signs of recovery during the first half of fiscal 2004, primarily driven by higher
exports, consumer spending and industrial production. In the second half of fiscal 2004, the increase in exports
and production showed signs of abating, as a rising Japanese yen against the U.S. dollar and higher oil prices
diminished demand for exports. In China, there were signs that its economic growth rate may have been slowing,
though the pace of expansion nevertheless remained rapid. Economies elsewhere in Asia also generally
improved.
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As fiscal 2005 began, global economic and market conditions continued to be generally favorable, including a
strong level of announced merger and acquisition transactions. As fiscal 2005 progresses, investors will continue
to be focused on a number of important developments, such as corporate earnings, inflation and interest rates,
energy prices and geopolitical risks.

Business Segments.

The remainder of “Results of Operations” is presented on a business segment basis before discontinued
operations. Substantially all of the operating revenues and operating expenses of the Company can be directly
attributed to its business segments. Certain revenues and expenses have been allocated to each business segment,
generally in proportion to its respective revenues or other relevant measures.

As a result of treating certain intersegment transactions as transactions with external parties, the Company
includes an Intersegment Eliminations category to reconcile the segment results to the Company’s consolidated
results. Income before taxes in Intersegment Eliminations represents the effect of timing differences associated
with the revenue and expense recognition of commissions paid by Asset Management to Retail Brokerage
associated with sales of certain products and the related compensation costs paid to Retail Brokerage’s
representatives. Income before taxes recorded in Intersegment Eliminations was $118 million, $121 million and
$129 million in fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, respectively.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period segment amounts to conform to the current year’s
presentation.
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INSTITUTIONAL SECURITIES
INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2004 2003 2002
(dollars in millions)
Revenues:
Investment banking . .......... ... ... $ 3,008 $ 2,096 $ 2,179
Principal transactions:
Trading . .. ..ot 5,093 5,642 2,889
Investments . ... ..o 269 63 42
COMIMISSIONS .+« v vttt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 1,998 1,748 2,033
Asset management, distribution and administration fees .. ............... 144 92 91
Interest and dividends . . . . ... e 16,395 13,420 13,100
O her . .o 190 86 158
Total reVeNUES . .. ..ot 27,097 23,147 20,492
INEETESt EXPENSE . . o ot vttt et e e e 13,984 11,846 11,336
NELTEVENUES . . . oottt et e e e e e s 13,113 11,301 9,156
NON-INLETESE EXPEIISES .« « v v vt ettt e e e et et e e et e e et e e 8,832 7,235 6,344

Income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated investees,
income taxes, dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory

redemption and discontinued Operations . ...............c.c.iiiiiinaa... 4,281 4,066 2,812
Losses from unconsolidated inVEStEES . ... ...t vt i 328 279 77
Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption .. .......... 45 154 87

Income before taxes and discontinued operations .................. $ 3908 $ 3,633 $ 2,648

Investment Banking. Investment banking revenues are derived from the underwriting of securities offerings
and fees from advisory services. Investment banking revenues were as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2004 2003 2002

(dollars in millions)

Advisory fees from merger, acquisition and restructuring transactions ............ $1,156 $ 662 $ 961
Equity underwriting reVenues .. ... ........c.uiuniitn et 993 640 543
Fixed income underwriting TeVeNUES . ... ...ttt 859 794 675

Total investment banking revenues ... ..............veiuunernneeennan.. $3,008 $2,096 $2,179

Investment banking revenues increased 44% in fiscal 2004, primarily reflecting higher revenues from merger,
acquisition and restructuring and equity underwriting transactions. Higher revenues from fixed income
underwriting transactions also contributed to the increase. In fiscal 2003, investment banking revenues decreased
4%, reflecting lower revenues from merger, acquisition and restructuring activities, partially offset by higher
revenues from fixed income and equity underwriting transactions.

In fiscal 2004, advisory fees from merger, acquisition and restructuring transactions increased 75% to $1.2
billion, the first time advisory fees exceeded $1.0 billion since fiscal 2001. Conditions in the worldwide merger
and acquisition markets rebounded throughout fiscal 2004, reflecting improved conditions in the global equity
markets. There was $1.8 trillion of transaction activity announced during calendar-year 2004 (according to
Thomson Financial, data as of January 7, 2005) as compared with $1.2 trillion in calendar-year 2003. During
calendar-year 2004, the total amount of the Company’s announced merger and acquisition transaction volume
was approximately $385 billion as compared with approximately $242 billion in the prior calendar year. The
59% increase primarily resulted from an increase in average transaction size and higher volumes as an improved
global economy resulted in increased transaction activity. Industry-wide completion volumes also rose by 29%
vs. the prior calendar-year period, while the Company’s volume of completed transactions increased nearly 70%.
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The Company’s fiscal 2004 revenues from merger and acquisition transactions were derived from several
sectors, including financial services, technology, media and telecommunications, manufacturing and healthcare.
In fiscal 2003, conditions in the worldwide merger and acquisition markets were difficult throughout most of the
year. Such conditions included weak corporate earnings as companies began the year focusing on cost reduction
instead of business expansion. In addition, the depressed level of fiscal 2002 merger and acquisition
announcements had a direct impact on completed volumes during fiscal 2003, resulting in reduced advisory
revenues. These conditions improved during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003, when the global economy
demonstrated signs of recovery and the equity markets rallied.

The worldwide market for equity underwriting transactions in fiscal 2004 improved significantly from fiscal
2003, while the volume of fixed income underwritings continued to remain steady throughout fiscal 2004.

Equity underwriting revenues increased 55% in fiscal 2004, largely due to the resurgence of the initial public
offerings market. The global equity markets experienced renewed investor demand for initial public offerings,
particularly in the U.S., and the Company’s participation in these transactions more than outpaced the industry-wide
increase in transaction volume. The Company’s equity underwriting revenues reflected increases from the financial
services, healthcare, media and telecommunications, and technology sectors. In fiscal 2003, equity underwriting
revenues increased 18% from fiscal 2002. In the first half of fiscal 2003, equity underwriting revenues increased
from relatively depressed levels, primarily led by a high level of convertible offerings. Rising equity markets
contributed to a more favorable equity underwriting environment in the second half of fiscal 2003, with a significant
increase in global transaction activity, particularly in the technology, financial services and utility sectors.

Fixed income underwriting revenues increased 8% in fiscal 2004 and 18% in fiscal 2003, primarily reflecting
favorable conditions in the global fixed income markets throughout both fiscal years. Although the Fed increased
overnight interest rates in fiscal 2004, longer-term interest rates remained at historically low levels. The attractive
debt financing environment contributed to higher revenues as issuers continued to take advantage of low
financing costs. The Company’s revenues from global high-yield and securitized fixed income transactions were
higher in both periods. In fiscal 2003, issuers took advantage of the lowest interest rates in nearly 45 years and
relatively tight credit spreads. Fiscal 2003 also reflected higher revenues from investment grade products as
compared with the prior year.

The backlog of merger, acquisition and restructuring transactions and equity and fixed income underwriting
transactions is subject to the risk that transactions may not be completed due to unforeseen economic and market
conditions, adverse developments regarding one of the parties to the transaction, a failure to obtain required
regulatory approval, or a decision on the part of the parties involved not to pursue a transaction at the current
time. At the end of fiscal 2004, the backlog of equity and fixed income underwriting transactions was higher as
compared with the end of the prior fiscal year, generally reflecting improved global market and economic
conditions. Although the merger, acquisition and restructuring transactions backlog was slightly lower at the end
of fiscal 2004 as compared with the end of fiscal 2003, the calendar year-over-year comparison improved during
the month of December 2004, as a result of the Company’s role advising on a number of significant transactions
announced during the month.

Sales and Trading Revenues. Sales and trading revenues are composed of principal transaction trading revenues,
commissions and net interest revenues. In assessing the profitability of its sales and trading activities, the Company
views principal trading, commissions and net interest revenues in the aggregate. In addition, decisions relating to
principal transactions in securities are based on an overall review of aggregate revenues and costs associated with
each transaction or series of transactions. This review includes, among other things, an assessment of the potential
gain or loss associated with a trade, including any associated commissions, the interest income or expense
associated with financing or hedging the Company’s positions and other related expenses.

The components of the Company’s sales and trading revenues are described below:

Principal Transactions. Principal transaction trading revenues include revenues from customers’ purchases and
sales of financial instruments in which the Company acts as principal and gains and losses on the Company’s
positions. The Company also engages in proprietary trading activities for its own account.
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Principal transaction trading revenues include changes in the fair value of embedded derivatives in the
Company’s structured borrowings. Prior to fiscal 2004, such amounts were included in interest expense (see Note
8 to the consolidated financial statements). Prior period information has been reclassified to conform to the
current year’s presentation. Principal transaction trading revenues included $54 million and $749 million that
were previously recorded as decreases to interest expense in fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, respectively. These
reclassifications had no impact on net revenues.

Commissions. Commission revenues primarily arise from agency transactions in listed and over-the-counter
(“OTC”) equity securities and options.

Net Interest. Interest and dividend revenues and interest expense are a function of the level and mix of total
assets and liabilities, including financial instruments owned and financial instruments sold, not yet purchased,
reverse repurchase and repurchase agreements, trading strategies, customer activity in the Company’s prime
brokerage business, and the prevailing level, term structure and volatility of interest rates. Reverse repurchase
and repurchase agreements and securities borrowed and securities loaned transactions may be entered into with
different customers using the same underlying securities, thereby generating a spread between the interest
revenue on the reverse repurchase agreements or securities borrowed transactions and the interest expense on the
repurchase agreements or securities loaned transactions.

Total sales and trading revenues increased 6% in fiscal 2004 and 34% in fiscal 2003, reflecting higher equity and
fixed income sales and trading revenues.

Sales and trading revenues include the following:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2004 2003 2002

(dollars in millions)
EqQUities . ... $4,067 $3,591 $3,528
Fixedincome(l) ... ... .. i 5,662 5,486 3,335

(1) Amounts include interest rate and currency products, credit products and commodities. Amounts exclude revenues from corporate
lending activities.

Equity sales and trading revenues increased 13% in fiscal 2004 driven by record revenues in the prime brokerage
business and higher revenues from cash and derivative products. The prime brokerage business experienced
significant growth in global customer balances, which resulted in record-setting annual revenues. Revenues from
equity cash products rose, in part, due to increased cash flows into U.S. equity mutual funds. Revenues from
equity derivatives increased modestly despite low levels of equity market volatility. Commission revenues
increased slightly despite intense competition and a continued shift toward electronic trading.

Equity sales and trading revenues increased 2% in fiscal 2003, reflecting higher revenues from derivative
products, certain proprietary trading activities and prime brokerage services, offset by lower revenues from cash
products. Toward the end of fiscal 2003, equity sales and trading revenues benefited from rising market indices,
increased cash flows into equity mutual funds and higher equity new issue volume. For the full fiscal year,
however, U.S. market volumes and market volatility were generally lower as compared with fiscal 2002, and
commission revenues were impacted by a shift toward electronic trading.

Fixed income sales and trading revenues increased 3% to a record level in fiscal 2004 driven by higher revenues
from commodities and credit products, partially offset by lower revenues from interest rate and currency
products. Commodities revenues increased 20% to record levels, primarily associated with activities in the
energy sector where tight oil supplies, growing demand and global political instability drove energy prices and
volatilities higher. Credit product revenues, which increased 4%, reflected record revenues from securitized
products as the Company benefited from increased securitization flows in commercial and residential whole
loans and favorable trading conditions. Lower revenues from investment grade products partially offset the
increase. Interest rate and currency product revenues decreased 7% from last year’s record levels due to lower
revenues from cash and derivative products. In addition, in the second half of fiscal 2004, mixed U.S. economic
data coupled with higher global energy prices and concerns about the strength of economic growth resulted in
market conditions that the Company did not take advantage of, which adversely affected revenues from certain
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interest rate products. These decreases were partially offset by record results in foreign exchange and emerging
markets, reflecting higher levels of volatility and strong customer volume. In fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, 63%
and 54% of fixed income sales and trading revenues were recorded in the first half of each respective fiscal year.

Fixed income sales and trading revenues increased 64% in fiscal 2003, reflecting volatile markets, significant
new issue activity and higher client transaction volumes. The increase in revenues was broad-based and included
higher revenues from the Company’s credit product, interest rate and currency product, and commodities groups.
Credit product revenues increased 65%, reflecting strong capital markets activity and higher revenues from
residential and commercial mortgage loan securitization activities, investment grade corporate and global high-
yield fixed income securities. Interest rate and currency product revenues increased 39%, primarily reflecting a
generally favorable trading environment, a sharp rise in interest rates in the third quarter of fiscal 2003, higher
derivative volumes and increased interest rate volatility in both the U.S. and European markets. Higher revenues
from currency products, primarily due to higher market volatility and a declining U.S. dollar, also contributed to
the increase. Commodities revenues increased 168% to record levels. The increase was primarily associated with
activities in the energy sector, reflecting higher levels of volatility in certain energy markets, higher customer
flow activity and increased trading activity in support of client securitizations.

In addition to the equity and fixed income sales and trading revenues discussed above, sales and trading revenues
include the net revenues from the Company’s corporate lending activities. In fiscal 2004, revenues from
corporate lending activities increased by approximately $110 million, reflecting growth in the loan portfolio and
improved conditions in the commercial lending market, partially offset by mark-to-market valuations associated
with new loans made in fiscal 2004. In fiscal 2003, sales and trading revenues from corporate lending activities
increased by approximately $170 million due to lower markdowns as compared with fiscal 2002, reflecting
tighter credit spreads as conditions in the credit market improved.

Principal Transactions-Investments. Principal transaction net investment revenue aggregating $269 million
was recognized in fiscal 2004 as compared with $63 million in fiscal 2003. The increase in fiscal 2004 was
primarily related to gains associated with the Company’s real estate and principal investment activities. Fiscal
2004’s results included a gain on the sale of an investment in TradeWeb, an electronic trading platform. Fiscal
2003’s results primarily included gains on the Company’s real estate investments, partially offset by losses in
other principal investments.

Financial instruments purchased in principal investment transactions generally are held for appreciation and are
not readily marketable. It is not possible to determine when the Company will realize the value of such
investments since, among other factors, such investments generally are subject to significant sales restrictions.
Moreover, estimates of the fair value of the investments involve significant judgment and may fluctuate
significantly over time in light of business, market, economic and financial conditions generally or in relation to
specific transactions.

Asset Management, Distribution and Administration Fees. ~Asset management, distribution and administration
fees include revenues from asset management services, primarily fees associated with the Company’s real estate
fund investment activities.

Asset management, distribution and administration fees increased 57% and 1% in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003,
respectively. The increase in fiscal 2004 was due to higher fees associated with real estate investment and
advisory activities, primarily due to the acquisition of a majority of the U.S. real estate equity investment
management business of Lend Lease Corporation in November 2003 (see “Business Acquisitions and Asset
Sales” herein).
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Other. Other revenues consist primarily of revenues from providing benchmark indices and risk management
analytics associated with Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc. (“MSCI”) and Barra, Inc. (“Barra”) (see
“Business Acquisitions and Asset Sales” herein).

Other revenues increased 121% in fiscal 2004. The increase was primarily attributable to Barra, which was
acquired on June 3, 2004. Other revenues decreased 46% in fiscal 2003. The decrease primarily reflected the
inclusion of a gain in fiscal 2002 (of which $53 million was allocated to the Institutional Securities segment)
related to the Company’s sale of an office tower.

Non-Interest Expenses. Non-interest expenses increased 22% in fiscal 2004. Compensation and benefits expense
increased 22% due to higher incentive-based compensation resulting from higher net revenues and higher
amortization expense related to equity-based awards (see “Equity-Based Compensation Program” herein).
Excluding compensation and benefits expense, non-interest expenses increased 21%. Occupancy and equipment
expense increased 16%, primarily due to higher rental costs, primarily in London. Brokerage, clearing and exchange
fees increased 16%, primarily reflecting increased trading activity. Professional services expense increased 42%,
primarily due to higher consulting costs including the implementation of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002 (“SOX 404”) and the Consolidated Supervised Entities Rule (the “CSE Rule”) (see “Regulatory
Developments” herein). Legal and employee recruitment costs increased due to higher business activity. There were
also increased costs for outside legal counsel due to certain regulatory and litigation matters. Marketing and
business development expense increased 25% due to higher travel and entertainment costs. Other expenses
increased 17% and included approximately $25 million relating to Institutional Securities’ share of the costs
associated with a failure to deliver certain prospectuses pursuant to regulatory requirements and a fine associated
with a settlement with the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. (the “NYSE”) relating to the prospectus delivery
requirements, operational deficiencies, employee defalcations and other matters. In addition, other expenses
included legal accruals of approximately $110 million related to the Parmalat Matter and IPO Allocation Matters
(see “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3).

Fiscal 2003’s total non-interest expenses increased 14%. Compensation and benefits expense increased 20%.
Compensation and benefits expense included a $220 million net benefit related to the adoption of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by
SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 123.” This net benefit was composed of a $352 million benefit related to expensing equity-based
compensation awards over a longer service period, partially offset by a $132 million charge relating to expensing
stock options based on the fair value of stock options granted in fiscal 2003 (see “Equity-Based Compensation
Program” herein). Excluding this benefit, compensation and benefits expense increased 26%, primarily due to
higher incentive-based compensation, reflecting higher net revenues. Excluding compensation and benefits expense,
non-interest expenses increased 4% from fiscal 2002. Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees increased 13%,
primarily reflecting higher global securities trading volumes. Other expenses increased 75% and included accruals
of approximately $180 million for loss contingencies related to IPO Allocation Matters and the LVMH Litigation
(see “Legal Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3). The increase in non-interest expenses was partially offset by
restructuring and other charges of $117 million that were recorded in fiscal 2002 (see “Restructuring and Other
Charges” herein).
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RETAIL BROKERAGE
INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2004 2003 2002

(dollars in millions)

Revenues:
Investment banking . .............uiitn it $ 290 $ 305 $ 267
Principal transactions:
Trading . . ..ot 518 651 642
INVeStMENtS . . . . ... ®)) 4 42)
COMMUSSIONS .« & o oo e e e e e e e e e e e e e 1,327 1,231 1,278
Asset management, distribution and administration fees .. ........... ... ... .. 2,099 1,696 1,657
Interest and dividends . . .. ... .. 409 370 446
O her .« .o 133 134 214
Total TEVENUES . . . oot 4,771 4,391 4,462
INEETESt EXPEINSE . . v vt vttt et e et e e 156 149 194
NeEtrEVENUES . . . oottt e 4,615 4242 4,268
NON-INLETESt EXPEINSES .+« v v et e e ettt ettt e et e e e e e 4244 3,778 4,148
Income before taXes . ... ..ottt $ 371 $ 464 $ 120

Investment Banking. Investment banking revenues are derived from the Retail Brokerage’s distribution of
equity and fixed income securities underwritten by the Institutional Securities business, as well as underwritings
of Unit Investment Trust products. Investment banking revenues decreased 5% in fiscal 2004 and increased 14%
in fiscal 2003. The decrease in fiscal 2004 was primarily due to lower revenues from fixed income underwriting
transactions, partially offset by higher revenues from underwriting Unit Investment Trust products. The increase
in fiscal 2003 was primarily due to higher revenues from equity underwriting transactions reflecting higher
volumes and from the underwriting of Unit Investment Trust products.

Principal Transactions. Principal transactions include revenues from customers’ purchases and sales of
financial instruments in which the Company acts as principal and gains and losses on the Company’s positions.
The Company maintains certain inventory positions primarily to facilitate customer transactions. Principal
transaction trading revenues decreased 20% in fiscal 2004, primarily due to lower revenues from fixed income
products, reflecting lower customer transaction activity in corporate, municipal and government fixed income
securities. Principal transaction trading revenues increased 1% in fiscal 2003, reflecting higher revenues from
fixed income products, partially offset by lower revenues from equity products. The increase in fixed income
products reflected higher revenues from investment grade corporate fixed income securities, as individual
investor activity increased. The decrease in revenues from equity products reflected the difficult conditions that
existed in the equity markets during the first half of fiscal 2003.

Principal transaction net investment losses aggregating $5 million were recorded in fiscal 2004 as compared with
net gains of $4 million in fiscal 2003. Principal transaction net investment losses aggregating $42 million were
recorded in fiscal 2002. Fiscal 2002’s results primarily reflected the write-down of an equity investment related
to the Company’s European individual securities business.

Commissions. Commission revenues primarily arise from agency transactions in listed and OTC equity
securities and sales of mutual funds, futures, insurance products and options. Commission revenues increased 8%
in fiscal 2004 and decreased 4% in fiscal 2003. The increase in fiscal 2004 reflected higher customer trading
volumes as compared with fiscal 2003 due to improved equity market conditions. The decrease in fiscal 2003
was due to lower customer trading volumes as individual investor participation in the U.S. equity markets
declined.
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Net Interest. Interest and dividend revenues and interest expense are a function of the level and mix of total
assets and liabilities, including customer margin loans and securities borrowed and securities loaned transactions.
Net interest revenues increased 14% in fiscal 2004 and decreased 12% in fiscal 2003. The increase in fiscal 2004
was primarily due to higher net interest revenues from brokerage services provided to individual customers as a
result of an increase in the level of margin loans. The decrease in fiscal 2003 was primarily due to lower net
interest revenues as a result of a decrease in the level of margin loans, partially offset by a decline in interest
expense due to a decrease in the Company’s average cost of borrowings.

Asset Management, Distribution and Administration Fees. Asset management, distribution and administration
fees include revenues from individual investors electing a fee-based pricing arrangement. Asset management,
distribution and administration fees also include revenues from asset management services and fees for
investment management services provided to segregated customer accounts pursuant to various contractual
arrangements in connection with the Company’s Investment Consulting Services (“ICS”) business. The
Company receives fees for services it provides in distributing certain open-ended mutual funds. These fees are
based on either the average daily fund net asset balances or average daily aggregate net fund sales and are
affected by changes in the overall level and mix of assets under management or supervision.

Asset management, distribution and administration fees increased 24% in fiscal 2004 and increased 2% in fiscal
2003. In fiscal 2004, an increase in client asset balances resulted in higher fees from investors electing fee-based
pricing arrangements, including separately managed and Morgan Stanley ChoiceSM accounts. The change in the
method of accounting for certain asset management and account fees (see “Asset Management and Account
Fees” herein) partially offset the increase in fiscal 2004 by $67 million. The increase in fiscal 2003 was primarily
attributable to higher fees from investors electing fee-based pricing arrangements, reflecting an increase in client
assets toward the end of fiscal 2003. This increase was offset by lower fees from promoting and distributing
mutual funds, reflecting a decrease in individual investors’ average mutual fund asset levels and a less favorable
asset mix that generated lower fees.

In fiscal 2004, client asset balances increased to $602 billion at November 30, 2004 from $565 billion at
November 30, 2003. At November 30, 2002, client asset balances were $516 billion. The increase in client asset
balances in both periods was primarily due to market appreciation, reflecting improvement in the global financial
markets. Client assets in fee-based accounts rose 21% to $157 billion at November 30, 2004 and increased as a
percentage of total client assets to 26% from 23% in the prior year. Client assets in fee-based accounts rose 21%
to $130 billion at November 30, 2003 and increased as a percentage of total client assets to 23% from 21% in the
prior year.

Other. Other revenues primarily include customer account fees and other service fees. Other revenues
decreased 1% in fiscal 2004 and 37% in fiscal 2003. The change in the method of accounting for certain asset
management and account fees (see “Asset Management and Account Fees” herein) decreased other revenues by
$40 million in fiscal 2004, which was partially offset by higher revenues from customer service and account fees.
The decrease in fiscal 2003 was primarily due to approximately $100 million of proceeds received in connection
with the sale of the Company’s self-directed online brokerage accounts (see “Business Acquisitions and Asset
Sales” herein) in fiscal 2002. The decrease was partially offset by higher revenues from customer service and
account fees.

Non-Interest Expenses. Non-interest expenses increased 12% in fiscal 2004. The increase was primarily due to
higher compensation and benefits expense, which increased 9%. The increase reflected higher incentive-based
compensation costs due to higher net revenues and higher amortization expense related to equity-based awards
(see “Equity-Based Compensation Program” herein). This increase was partially offset by a reduction in
compensation expense of $27 million associated with the change in the method of accounting for certain asset
management and account fees (see “Asset Management and Account Fees” herein). Excluding compensation and
benefits expense, non-interest expenses increased 19%. Marketing and business development expense increased
20% due to an increase in advertising costs. Professional services expense increased 48%, largely due to higher
sub-advisory fees associated with increased asset and revenue growth, as well as higher consulting and legal fees
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resulting from the implementation of SOX 404 and the CSE Rule and an increase in costs for outside legal
counsel due to regulatory and litigation matters. Information processing and communications expense decreased
11% due to lower data processing costs. Other expenses increased 46%, primarily resulting from an increase in
legal and regulatory expenses, including approximately $25 million relating to Retail Brokerage’s share of the
costs associated with a failure to deliver certain prospectuses pursuant to regulatory requirements and a fine
associated with a settlement with the NYSE relating to the prospectus delivery requirements, operational
deficiencies, employee defalcations (including the Carlos Soto matter) and other matters (see “Legal
Proceedings” in Part I, Item 3).

Non-interest expenses decreased 9% in fiscal 2003. The decrease was attributable to lower compensation and
benefits expense, which decreased 7%, principally reflecting lower employment levels, as well as a net benefit of
$28 million related to the adoption of SFAS No. 123. This net benefit was composed of a $55 million benefit
related to expensing equity-based compensation awards over a longer service period, partially offset by $27
million related to expensing stock options based on the fair value of stock options granted in fiscal 2003 (see
“Equity-Based Compensation Program” herein). Excluding compensation and benefits expense, non-interest
expenses decreased 13%. Occupancy and equipment expense decreased 12%, reflecting the results of the
Company’s initiative to consolidate its branch locations. Information processing and communications expense
decreased 10%, reflecting lower data processing and telecommunications expenses. Marketing and business
development expense decreased 30% due to lower advertising costs. Other expenses increased 7%. Litigation
costs increased, reflecting higher costs in fiscal 2003 due to mutual fund regulatory settlements, coupled with a
benefit in fiscal 2002 from the resolution of a mutual fund litigation matter. These increases were partially offset
by costs recorded in fiscal 2002 associated with the sale of the Company’s self-directed online brokerage
accounts (see “Business Acquisitions and Asset Sales” herein). The decrease in non-interest expenses was also
due to restructuring and other charges of $112 million in fiscal 2002 (see “Restructuring and Other Charges”
herein).
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ASSET MANAGEMENT
INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2004 2003 2002

(dollars in millions)

Revenues:
Investment banking .. ... ... ...ttt $ 43 $ 39 § 32
Principal transactions:

INVEStMENTS . . . ..o e 248 19 (31)

COMMUISSIONS . o ottt ettt e e e et e et e e e 27 18 17
Asset management, distribution and administration fees ...................... 2,390 2,177 2,435
Interest and dividends . . . ... .. 8 — 14
O her .« .o 28 29 40
Total teVenUES . ... ... e 2,744 2,282 2,507
INterest EXPense . ... .. ...ttt 6 6 1
NELTEVENUES . . o oottt e e 2,738 2,276 2,506
NON-INLETESE EXPEIISES .+ v v v ot et et e et e et e e e et e e et et e e e e 1,911 1,794 1,850

Income before taxes . .. ...ttt $ 827 $ 482 $ 656

Investment Banking. Asset Management generates investment banking revenues primarily from the
underwriting of Unit Investment Trust products. Investment banking revenues increased 10% in fiscal 2004 and
22% in fiscal 2003. The increase in both periods was primarily due to a higher volume of Unit Investment Trust
sales. Unit Investment Trust sales volume increased 28% to $5.5 billion in fiscal 2004 and increased 10% to $4.3
billion in fiscal 2003.

Principal Transactions. Asset Management principal transaction revenues consist primarily of gains and losses
on investments associated with the Company’s private equity activities and net gains and losses on capital
investments in certain of the Company’s investment funds.

Principal transaction net investment gains aggregating $248 million were recognized in fiscal 2004 as compared
with gains of $19 million in fiscal 2003. Fiscal 2004’s results were primarily related to net gains on certain
investments in the Company’s private equity portfolio, including Vanguard Health Systems, Inc. and Ping An
Insurance (Group) Company of China, Ltd. Fiscal 2003’s results were primarily related to gains in the
Company’s private equity portfolio and reflected improved market conditions from the difficult market
conditions that existed in fiscal 2002.

Financial instruments purchased in principal investment transactions generally are held for appreciation and are
not readily marketable. It is not possible to determine when the Company will realize the value of such
investments since, among other factors, such investments generally are subject to significant sales restrictions.
Moreover, estimates of the fair value of the investments involve significant judgment and may fluctuate
significantly over time in light of business, market, economic and financial conditions generally or in relation to
specific transactions.

During fiscal 2004, a team of investment professionals from the private equity business established an
independent private equity firm that will manage, through a long-term sub-advisory role, the Morgan Stanley
Capital Partners (“MSCP”) funds. The Company will continue as general partner for the MSCP funds and retain
its limited partner interests. The Company will operate its other existing principal and real estate investment
vehicles (that are included in the Asset Management and Institutional Securities business segments) as before and
will actively pursue additional principal investing opportunities for its clients.
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Comimissions. Asset Management primarily generates commission revenues from dealer and distribution
concessions on sales of certain funds as well as certain allocated commission revenues. Commission revenues
increased 50% in fiscal 2004 and 6% in fiscal 2003. The increase in fiscal 2004 reflected an increase in
commissionable sales of certain fund products. In fiscal 2003, the increase was associated with a higher sales
volume of insurance products.

Asset Management, Distribution and Administration Fees. Asset management, distribution and administration
fees primarily include revenues from the management and supervision of assets, including fees for distributing
certain open-ended mutual funds and management fees associated with the Company’s private equity activities.
These fees arise from investment management services the Company provides to investment vehicles pursuant to
various contractual arrangements. The Company receives fees primarily based upon mutual fund daily average
net assets or quarterly assets for other vehicles.

Asset Management’s period-end and average customer assets under management or supervision were as follows:

At November 30, Average for

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2004  2003(1) 2002(1) 2004 2003 2002

(dollars in billions)

Assets under management or supervision by distribution channel:

Retail ... .o $202  $193  $186 $199 $186 $197
Institutional ...... ... ... ... .. 222 164 151 191 152 155

Total ... $424  $357  $337 $390 $338 $352

Assets under management or supervision by asset class:

Equity . ... $200 $167 $138 $185 $142 $150
Fixedincome ........... ... .. .. 114 111 118 114 116 119
Money market . ....... ... .. 83 60 64 68 63 67
Other(2) . ..ot 27 19 17 23 17 16

Total ... $424  $357  $337 $390 $338 $352

(1) Certain prior-year information has been reclassified to conform to the current year’s presentation.
(2) Amounts include alternative investment vehicles.

Activity in Asset Management’s customer assets under management or supervision during fiscal 2004 and fiscal
2003 were as follows (dollars in billions):

Balance at November 30,2002 .. .............. ... . . $337
Net flows excluding money markets . ......... ... ... ... .. ... . . .. )
Net flows from money markets .. .......... ... ... i (6)
Net market appreciation . ...ttt e 35
Total NEtINCTEASE . ..\ vttt ittt et ettt 20
Balance at November 30,2003 .. ...... ... ... ... . .. . . ... ... 357
Net flows excluding money markets . ........... ... .. ..., 8
Net flows from money markets . ........ ... .. .. . . . i 21
Net market appreciation ... .........o ottt 38
Total NEtINCTEASE . ..\ vt vttt e e 67
Balance at November 30,2004 . .. ........ .. ... .. ... .. . .. $424
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Asset management, distribution and administration fees increased 10% in fiscal 2004 and decreased 11% in fiscal
2003. The increase in fiscal 2004 reflected higher fund management and administration fees associated with a
15% increase in average assets under management or supervision. The increase in revenues also reflected a more
favorable average asset mix, including a greater percentage of equity assets under management, partially offset
by an increase in institutional fixed income and liquidity fund products, which generate lower fees than equity
products. In fiscal 2003, the decrease primarily reflected lower distribution, fund management, and
administration and redemption fees resulting from lower average assets under management or supervision, a less
favorable average asset mix and lower redemptions of certain open-ended funds.

Non-Interest Expenses. Fiscal 2004’s total non-interest expenses increased 7%. Compensation and benefits
expense increased 21%, primarily reflecting higher incentive-based compensation costs due to higher net
revenues and higher amortization expense related to equity-based awards (see “Equity-Based Compensation
Program” herein). Excluding compensation and benefits expense, non-interest expenses were relatively
unchanged from fiscal 2003. Professional services expense increased 45%, primarily reflecting an increase in
sub-advisory, legal and consulting fees, including costs associated with the establishment of the independent
private equity firm that will manage the MSCP funds through a long-term sub-advisory role. Marketing and
business development expense decreased 22%, primarily due to lower promotional costs. Brokerage, clearing and
exchange fees decreased 7%, reflecting lower amortization expense associated with certain open-ended funds.
The decrease in amortization expense reflected a lower level of deferred costs in recent periods due to a decrease
in sales of certain open-ended funds.

Fiscal 2003’s total non-interest expenses decreased 3%. Compensation and benefits expense decreased 4%,
principally reflecting a decrease in employment levels, as well as a net benefit of $12 million related to the
adoption of SFAS No. 123. This net benefit was composed of a $24 million benefit related to expensing equity-
based compensation awards over a longer service period, partially offset by $12 million related to expensing
stock options based on the fair value of stock options granted in fiscal 2003 (see “Equity-Based Compensation
Program” herein). Excluding compensation and benefits expense, non-interest expenses decreased 3% from fiscal
2002. Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees decreased 10%, reflecting lower amortization expense associated
with certain open-ended funds. The decrease in amortization expense reflected a lower level of deferred costs in
the current year due to a decrease in past sales. Other expenses increased 126%, primarily due to legal accruals
associated with mutual fund regulatory settlements in fiscal 2003. In addition, fiscal 2002’s other expenses
included the net benefit from certain legal matters, including the resolution of a mutual fund litigation matter.
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DISCOVER
INCOME STATEMENT INFORMATION

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2004 2003 2002

(dollars in millions)

Fees:
Merchant and cardmember . . . . ...ttt $1,317 $1,377 $1,421
SEIVICING . oottt 1,921 1,922 2,032
(011 4 1=) 10 14 23
Total NON-INLErESt TEVENUES . . . v v vttt et e e e e e e e e e et e e 3,248 3,313 3,476
Interest reVENUE . ... ... 1,859 2,046 2,366
INterest EXPENSEe . . . ..ottt 648 790 1,034
Net IntereSt iNCOME . . . . o oo e e e e e e e e e e e 1,211 1,256 1,332
Provision for consumer 10an 10SSES . .. ... ..ot 926 1,266 1,337
Net credit INCOME . . . .ottt et e e e 285 (10) 5)
Net reVeNUES . . . oot 3,533 3,303 3471
NON-INLETESt EXPENSES .« v v v et et ettt e ettt e e e e e e 2,312 2,276 2,329
Income before taXes .. .....i it $1,221 $1,027 $1,142

Merchant and Cardmember Fees. Merchant and cardmember fees include revenues from fees charged to
merchants on credit card sales, as well as charges to cardmembers for late payment fees, overlimit fees, balance
transfer fees, credit protection fees and cash advance fees, net of cardmember rewards. Cardmember rewards include
various reward programs, including the Cashback Bonus award program, pursuant to which the Company pays
certain cardmembers a percentage of their purchase amounts based upon a cardmember’s level and type of purchases.

Merchant and cardmember fees decreased 4% in fiscal 2004 and 3% in fiscal 2003. The decrease in fiscal 2004
was due to lower late payment and overlimit fees and higher cardmember rewards, net of estimated future
forfeitures, partially offset by higher balance transfer fees and merchant discount revenues. The decline in late
payment and overlimit fees reflected fewer late fee occurrences and a decline in the number of accounts charged
an overlimit fee, partially offset by lower charge-offs of such fees. Late fee occurrences were lower primarily due
to a decline during fiscal 2004 in the over 30-day delinquency rates. Overlimit fees declined due to fewer
overlimit accounts and the Company’s modification of its overlimit fee policies and procedures in response to
industry-wide regulatory guidance. The increase in net cardmember rewards reflected the impact of promotional
programs and record sales volume. Balance transfer fees increased as a result of the Company’s continued focus
on improving balance transfer profitability. The increase in merchant discount revenue was due to record sales
volume. The decrease in merchant and cardmember fees in fiscal 2003 was due to a decline in late payment fees
and higher cardmember rewards, partially offset by higher merchant discount revenue. The decline in late
payment fees reflected fewer late fee occurrences and higher charge-offs of late payment fees. The increase in
cardmember rewards reflected higher Cashback Bonus costs due to merchant partner programs and increased
sales volume. The increase in merchant discount revenue was due to increased sales volume and an increase in
the average merchant discount rate.

Servicing Fees. Servicing fees are revenues derived from consumer loans that have been sold to investors
through asset securitizations. Cash flows from the interest yield and cardmember fees generated by securitized
general purpose credit card loans are used to pay investors in these loans a predetermined fixed or floating rate of
return on their investment, to reimburse investors for losses of principal resulting from charged-off loans and to
pay the Company a fee for servicing the loans. Any excess cash flows remaining are paid to the Company. The
servicing fees and excess net cash flows paid to the Company are reported as servicing fees in the consolidated
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statements of income. The sale of general purpose credit card loans through asset securitizations, therefore, has
the effect of converting portions of net credit income and fee income to servicing fees.

The table below presents the components of servicing fees:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2004 2003 2002

(dollars in millions)

Merchant and cardmember fees ... ... . . .. $ 650 $ 727 $ 690
Other TEVENUE . . . ..\ttt e e e e e e e (8) 30 20
Total NON-INtETESt TEVENUES . . o o vttt et e e et e et e et et e 642 757 710
Interest reVeNUE . .. ... .. i 3,842 4,114 4,023
INEEIESE EXPEISE . . o et ettt e e et e e e e 692 771 867
Net IntereSt iNCOME . . . . oottt ettt e e e e ettt et et e e 3,150 3,343 3,156
Provision for consumer 10an 10SSES . . ... ..ot 1,871 2,178 1,834
Net credit iNCOME . .. oo e 1,279 1,165 1,322
Servicing fees .. ...t $1,921 $1,922 $2,032

Servicing fees are affected by the level of securitized loans, the spread between the net interest yield on the
securitized loans and the yield paid to the investors, the rate of credit losses on securitized loans and the level of
cardmember fees earned from securitized general purpose credit card loans. Servicing fees were relatively
unchanged in fiscal 2004 and decreased 5% in fiscal 2003. Fiscal 2004 reflected lower cardmember fees, net
interest cash flows and other revenue, partially offset by a lower provision for consumer loan losses.
Cardmember fees declined due to lower late payment and overlimit fees, partially offset by higher balance
transfer fees and lower fee net charge-offs. The decrease in net interest cash flows was largely attributable to a
lower level of average securitized general purpose credit card loans. The decrease in the provision for consumer
loan losses was attributable to a lower rate of net principal charge-offs related to the securitized general purpose
credit card loan portfolio and a lower level of average securitized general purpose credit card loans. In fiscal
2003, the decrease in servicing fees was due to higher credit losses associated with a higher level of average
securitized general purpose credit card loans and a higher rate of net principal charge-offs related to the
securitized general purpose credit card loan portfolio. The decrease was partially offset by higher net interest
cash flows and cardmember fees on securitized general purpose credit card loans associated with a higher level
of average securitized general purpose credit card loans and higher other revenue.

The Other revenue component of servicing fees includes net securitization gains and losses on general purpose
credit card loans. The decrease in the Other revenue component of servicing fees in fiscal 2004 was attributable
to lower levels of general purpose credit card securitization transactions and higher net gain amortization related
to prior securitization transactions. The increase in Other revenue in fiscal 2003 was attributable to higher levels
of general purpose credit card securitization transactions, offset, in part, by higher net gain amortization related
to prior securitization transactions.

The net proceeds received from general purpose credit card asset securitizations were $3,714 million in fiscal
2004 and $5,666 million in fiscal 2003. The credit card asset securitization transactions completed in fiscal 2004
have expected maturities ranging from approximately three to seven years from the date of issuance.

Net Interest Income. Net interest income represents the difference between interest revenue derived from
consumer loans and short-term investment assets and interest expense incurred to finance those loans and assets.
Assets, consisting primarily of consumer loans, currently earn interest revenue at both fixed rates and market-
indexed variable rates. The Company incurs interest expense at fixed and floating rates. Interest expense also
includes the effects of any interest rate contracts entered into by the Company as part of its interest rate risk
management program. This program is designed to reduce the volatility of earnings resulting from changes in
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interest rates by having a financing portfolio that reflects the existing repricing schedules of consumer loans as
well as the Company’s right, with notice to cardmembers, to reprice certain fixed rate consumer loans to a new
interest rate in the future.

Net interest income decreased 4% in fiscal 2004 from fiscal 2003 due to a decline in interest revenue that was
partially offset by lower interest expense. The decline in interest revenue was primarily due to a decrease in
average general purpose credit card loans. The decrease in interest expense was primarily due to a lower level of
average interest bearing liabilities and a decrease in the Company’s average cost of borrowings. The Company’s
average cost of borrowings was 4.13% for fiscal 2004 as compared with 4.49% for fiscal 2003. The decline in the
average cost of borrowings reflected the favorable impact of replacing certain maturing fixed rate debt with
lower cost financing.

Net interest income decreased 6% in fiscal 2003 from the prior-year period, as a decline in interest revenue was
partially offset by lower interest expense. The decline in interest revenue was due to a lower yield on general
purpose credit card loans and a decrease in average general purpose credit card loans. The lower yield on general
purpose credit card loans was primarily due to lower interest rates offered to new cardmembers and certain
existing cardmembers and a higher level of net interest charge-offs. The decrease in average general purpose
credit card loans was primarily due to a higher level of securitized loans and higher payments by cardmembers,
partially offset by record levels of sales volume. The decrease in interest expense was primarily due to a decrease
in the Company’s average cost of borrowings and a lower level of average interest bearing liabilities. The
Company’s average cost of borrowings was 4.49% for fiscal 2003 as compared with 5.44% for fiscal 2002. The
decline in the average cost of borrowings reflected the Fed’s aggressive easing of interest rates that began in
fiscal 2001 and the favorable impact of replacing certain maturing fixed rate debt with lower cost financing,
reflecting the lower interest rate environment in fiscal 2003.
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The following tables present analyses of Discover’s average balance sheets and interest rates in fiscal 2004, fiscal
2003 and fiscal 2002 and changes in net interest income during those fiscal years:

Average Balance Sheet Analysis.
Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2002

Average Average Average
Balance Rate Interest  Balance Rate Interest  Balance Rate Interest

(dollars in millions)
ASSETS
Interest earning assets:
General purpose credit card

loans ................. $17,608 10.05% $1,770 $19,531 10.02% $1,956 $20,659 11.03% $2,279
Other consumer loans . . . ... 427  8.14 35 457  8.29 38 306  8.59 26
Investment securities . ..... 40 192 1 23 275 1 29  3.09 1
Other................... 2,526  2.11 53 2,650 1.92 51 2,451 245 60
Total interest earning
assets . ............ 20,601 9.02 1,859 22661 9.03 2,046 23445 10.09 2,366
Allowance for loan losses .. 972) 967) (888)
Non-interest earning
assets . ... 2,343 2,317 2,381
Total assets .......... $21,972 $24,011 $24,938
LIABILITIES AND
SHAREHOLDER’S
EQUITY

Interest bearing liabilities:
Interest bearing deposits

Savings ............. $ 688 1.05%% 7 $ 810 1.01%$ 8 $ 1,018 1.56%$ 16
Brokered



Rate/Volume Analysis.

Fiscal 2004 vs. Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2003 vs. Fiscal 2002

Increase/(Decrease) due to Changes in: Volume Rate Total Volume Rate  Total
(dollars in millions)

Interest Revenue

General purpose credit card loans .. ..................... $(192) $ 6 $(186) $(125) $(198) $(323)

Other consumerloans ..................oiiiiinean... 2) @) 3) 13 @) 12

Other ..o 3) 5 2 5 (14) )
Total interest revenue . .........ovvvenr e .. (186) (1) (187) (79) (241) (320)

Interest Expense
Interest bearing deposits:

SAVINGS .« o (1 — (1) 3) 5) ®)
Brokered .. ....... ... .. (102)  (18) (120) 48 (76)  (28)
Othertime .......... ... it 23 (22) 1 20 (12) (33
Total interest bearing deposits . ..................... (74) (46) (120) 9 (78) (69)
Other bOrrowings .. ...ttt (13) 9) (22) (83) 92) (175)
Total interest eXpense . .............uoeueueenenan.. (86) (56) (142) (76) (168) (244)
Net interest iNCOME . . . oo v o et et e e e et e $(100) $55 $ 45 $ 3) $(73) $ (76)

In response to industry-wide regulatory guidance, the Company has increased minimum payment requirements
on certain general purpose credit card loans. The Company believes that the adjustments made in fiscal 2004
comply with the guidance. However, bank regulators have broad discretion on the application of the guidance,
and changes in such guidance or its application by the regulators could impact future levels of general purpose
credit card loans and related interest and fee revenue and charge-offs.

Provision for Consumer Loan Losses. The provision for consumer loan losses is the amount necessary to
establish the allowance for consumer loan losses at a level that the Company believes is adequate to absorb
estimated losses in its consumer loan portfolio at the balance sheet date. The allowance for consumer loan losses
is a significant estimate that represents management’s estimate of probable losses inherent in the consumer loan
portfolio. The allowance for consumer loan losses is primarily applicable to the owned homogeneous consumer
credit card loan portfolio that is evaluated quarterly for adequacy and is established through a charge to the
provision for consumer loan losses. In calculating the allowance for consumer loan losses, the Company uses a
systematic and consistently applied approach. The Company regularly performs a migration analysis (a technique
used to estimate the likelihood that a consumer loan will progress through the various stages of delinquency and
ultimately charge-off) of delinquent and current consumer credit card accounts in order to determine the
appropriate level of the allowance for consumer loan losses. The migration analysis considers uncollectible
principal, interest and fees reflected in consumer loans. In evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for consumer
loan losses, management also considers factors that may impact future credit loss experience, including current
economic conditions, recent trends in delinquencies and bankruptcy filings, account collection management,
policy changes, account seasoning, loan volume and amounts, payment rates and forecasting uncertainties.

The Company’s provision for consumer loan losses was $926 million and $1,266 million for fiscal 2004 and
fiscal 2003, respectively. The Company’s allowance for consumer loan losses was $943 million at November 30,
2004 and $1,002 million at November 30, 2003.

The provision for consumer loan losses decreased 27% in fiscal 2004, primarily due to lower net principal
charge-offs resulting from an improvement in credit quality, including lower bankruptcy charge-offs driven by a
decline in U.S. personal bankruptcy filings. The decrease was also due to a lower level of average general
purpose credit card loans. The Company reduced the allowance for consumer loan losses by approximately $60
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million in fiscal 2004 due to improvement in credit quality, including lower delinquency rates and dollars. In
fiscal 2003, the provision for consumer loan losses decreased 5%, primarily due to a lower level of average
general purpose credit card loans. In response to unfavorable trends in U.S. consumer bankruptcy filings and
relatively high unemployment levels, the Company recorded a provision for consumer loan losses that exceeded
the amount of net consumer loans charged off by approximately $70 million in fiscal 2003.

Delinquencies and Charge-offs. General purpose credit card loans are considered delinquent when interest or
principal payments become 30 days past due. General purpose credit card loans are charged off at the end of the
month during which an account becomes 180 days past due, except in the case of bankruptcies, deceased
cardmembers and fraudulent transactions, where loans are charged off earlier. Loan delinquencies and charge-
offs are affected by changes in economic conditions, account collection management and policy changes and
may vary throughout the year due to seasonal consumer spending and payment behaviors.

In fiscal 2004, net principal charge-off rates decreased in both the owned and managed portfolios as compared
with fiscal 2003, reflecting improvements in portfolio credit quality and a lower level of bankruptcy filings (see
“Managed General Purpose Credit Card Loan Data” herein). Delinquency rates in both the over 30- and over 90-
day categories were lower in both the owned and managed portfolios at November 30, 2004 as compared with
November 30, 2003, also reflecting improvements in portfolio credit quality.

In the second quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company changed its policy related to deceased cardmember accounts to
charge off 60 days after notification as compared with charging off 180 days past due. This change accelerated
charge-offs beginning in the third quarter of fiscal 2003 and increased charge-offs in the second half of fiscal
2003. During the second half of fiscal 2002 and the first half of fiscal 2003, the Company changed its re-age
policy in response to industry-wide regulatory guidelines. A re-age is intended to assist delinquent cardmembers
who have experienced financial difficulties by returning the account to current status. This change in the re-age
policy, along with the economic challenges as evidenced by high levels of unemployment and U.S. bankruptcy
filings, resulted in a significant decrease in the number of cardmembers eligible for re-age vs. comparable
periods in fiscal 2002. During fiscal 2003, the Company’s re-age volume decreased by approximately 40% from
fiscal 2002. The reduction in re-age volume was a contributing factor to the higher delinquencies and charge-off
levels experienced in fiscal 2003 as compared with fiscal 2002.

In fiscal 2003, net principal charge-off rates increased in the managed portfolio as compared with fiscal 2002,
reflecting the impact of lower re-age volume and the change in the Company’s deceased cardmember policy
discussed above (see “Managed General Purpose Credit Card Loan Data” herein). In the U.S., high levels of
unemployment, the seasoning of the Company’s general purpose credit card loan portfolio, a high level of
bankruptcy filings and policy changes contributed to the higher net principal charge-off rate in the managed
portfolio during fiscal 2003. In addition, these conditions impacted the Company’s delinquency rates in both the
over 30- and over 90-day categories, which were higher in both the owned and managed portfolio at November
30, 2003 as compared with November 30, 2002. A lower level of general purpose credit card loan balances also
negatively impacted delinquency and net principal charge-off rates in fiscal 2003.

The Company’s future charge-off rates and credit quality are subject to uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from what has been discussed above. Factors that influence the provision for consumer
loan losses include the level and direction of general purpose credit card loan delinquencies and charge-offs,
changes in consumer spending and payment behaviors, bankruptcy trends, the seasoning of the Company’s
general purpose credit card loan portfolio, interest rate movements and their impact on consumer behavior, and
the rate and magnitude of changes in the Company’s general purpose credit card loan portfolio, including the
overall mix of accounts, products and loan balances within the portfolio.

Non-Interest Expenses. Non-interest expenses increased 2% in fiscal 2004 from fiscal 2003. Compensation and
benefits expense decreased 5% due to lower employee benefit costs, as well as lower salaries resulting from lower
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employment levels due, in part, to workforce reductions conducted during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003.
Excluding compensation and benefits expense, non-interest expenses increased 5%. Marketing and business
development expense increased 20% due to increased marketing costs associated with account acquisition,
merchant initiatives and advertising. Other expenses decreased 8%, primarily reflecting a decrease in certain
operating expenses, including lower losses associated with cardmember fraud.

Fiscal 2003’s total non-interest expenses decreased 2% from fiscal 2002. Compensation and benefits expense
increased 6%, reflecting an increase in personnel costs, including salaries and benefits, as well as costs associated
with workforce reductions conducted during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. These costs included a charge of
$35 million (pre-tax) associated with workforce reductions and facility consolidations that were conducted
during the fourth quarter of fiscal 2003. The charge reflected several actions in response to slower industry
growth and difficult consumer credit conditions and consisted of severance-related costs of $29 million and
space-related and other costs of $6 million. The majority of these costs were paid by the end of the first quarter of
fiscal 2004. Excluding compensation and benefits expense, non-interest expenses decreased 6%. Marketing and
business development expense decreased 11% due to lower direct mail costs. Other expenses decreased 14%,
primarily reflecting a decrease in certain operating expenses, including lower costs associated with cardmember
fraud and merchant bankruptcies.

Other Matters. On October 4, 2004, the U.S. Supreme Court rejected an appeal by Visa and MasterCard in U.S.
v. Visa/MasterCard. The trial and appellate courts found that Visa and MasterCard rules and policies that
prevented virtually all U.S. financial institutions from doing business with competing networks violated the
antitrust laws. Now that these rules have been struck down as illegal, financial institutions (in addition to
Discover Bank) will be able to issue credit and debit cards on the Discover Network. Following the Supreme
Court decision, Discover filed a lawsuit in federal court in New York seeking damages for harm caused by the
anti-competitive rules. In January 2005, the Company announced that it had signed its first third-party issuance
with GE Consumer Finance to issue the Wal-Mart Discover card on the Discover Network.

On January 12, 2005, the Company completed its acquisition of PULSE (see “Business Acquisitions and Asset
Sales” herein).

Seasonal Factors. The credit card lending activities of Discover are affected by seasonal patterns of retail
purchasing. Historically, a substantial percentage of general purpose credit card loan growth occurs in the fourth
calendar quarter, followed by a flattening or decline of these loans in the following calendar quarter. Merchant
fees, therefore, historically have tended to increase in the first fiscal quarter, reflecting higher sales activity in the
month of December. Additionally, higher cardmember rewards incentives historically have been accrued for as a
reduction of merchant and cardmember fee revenues in the first fiscal quarter, reflecting seasonal growth in retail
sales volume.

Managed General Purpose Credit Card Loan Data. The Company analyzes its financial performance on both
a “managed” loan basis and as reported under U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“U.S. GAAP”)
“owned” loan basis). Managed loan data assume that the Company’s securitized loan receivables have not been
sold and present the results of the securitized loan receivables in the same manner as the Company’s owned
loans. The Company operates its Discover business and analyzes its financial performance on a managed basis.
Accordingly, underwriting and servicing standards are comparable for both owned and securitized loans. The
Company believes that managed loan information is useful to investors because it provides information regarding
the quality of loan origination and credit performance of the entire managed portfolio and allows investors to
understand the related credit risks inherent in owned loans and retained interests in securitizations. In addition,
investors often request information on a managed basis, which provides a more meaningful comparison with
industry competitors.
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The following table provides a reconciliation of owned and managed average loan balances, interest yields and
interest rate spreads for the periods indicated:

Reconciliation of General Purpose Credit Card Loan Data (dollars in millions)

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2002
Interest Interest Interest

Average Interest Rate Average Interest Rate Average Interest Rate

Balance Yield Spread  Balance Yield Spread  Balance Yield Spread
General Purpose Credit

Card Loans:

Owned............... $17,608 10.05% 5.92% $19,531 10.02% 5.53% $20,659 11.03% 5.59%
Securitized ........... 29,779  12.90% 10.56% 31,333 13.13% 10.64% 29,176 13.79% 10.78%
Managed ............. $47,387 11.84% 8.88% $50,864 11.93% 8.71% $49,835 12.64% 8.66%

The following tables present a reconciliation

delinquency and net charge-off rates:

of owned and managed general purpose credit card loans and

Reconciliation of General Purpose Credit Card Loan Asset Quality Data (dollars in millions)

General Purpose Credit Card
Loans:

Net Principal Charge-offs:
Owned
Securitized
Managed

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2002
Delinquency Delinquency Delinquency
Rates Rates Rates

Period- Over Over Period- Over Over Period- Over Over

End 30 90 End 30 90 End 30 90

Loans Days  Days Loans Days Days Loans Days Days
$19,724 4.08% 1.97% $18,930 5.36% 2.53% $22,153 5.32% 2.41%
28,537 4.87% 2.34% 29,428 6.36%3.01% 28,990 6.45% 2.85%
$48,261 4.55% 2.18% $48,358 5.97%2.82% $51,143 5.96% 2.66%

Net Total Charge-offs (inclusive of interest and fees):

Owned
Securitized
Managed
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Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2002

5.53% 6.05% 6.06%
6.28% 6.95% 6.29%
6.00% 6.60% 6.19%
Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2002
7.68% 8.33% 7.97%
9.01% 9.75% 8.51%
8.51% 9.20% 8.28%



Business Acquisitions and Asset Sales.

On January 12, 2005, the Company completed the acquisition of PULSE, an Automated Teller Machine/debit
network currently serving banks, credit unions and savings institutions in the U.S. The Company believes that the
combination of the PULSE and Discover Network will create a leading electronic payments company offering a
full range of products and services for financial institutions, consumers and merchants. As of the date of
acquisition, the results of PULSE will be included within the Discover business segment.

On June 3, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of Barra, a global leader in delivering risk management
systems and services to managers of portfolio and firm-wide investment risk. The Company believes that the
combination of MSCI, a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Barra created a leading global provider
of benchmark indices and risk management analytics. Since the date of acquisition, the results of Barra have been
included within the Institutional Securities business segment. The acquisition price was $41.00 per share in cash,
or an aggregate consideration of approximately $800 million. The Company recorded goodwill and other
intangible assets totaling $663 million in connection with the acquisition (see Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements).

In fiscal 2003, the Company acquired selected components of the U.S. real estate equity advisory businesses of
Lend Lease Corporation, an Australia-based company. The financial statement impact related to this acquisition,
which is included in the Company’s Institutional Securities segment, was not significant.

In fiscal 2002, the Company sold its self-directed online brokerage accounts to Bank of Montreal’s Harrisdirect.
The Company recorded gross proceeds of approximately $100 million (included within Other revenues) and
related costs of approximately $50 million (included within Non-interest expenses) in the Retail Brokerage
segment.

In fiscal 2002, the Company recorded a pre-tax gain of $73 million related to the sale of a 1 million square-foot
office tower in New York City. The pre-tax gain is included within the Institutional Securities ($53 million),
Retail Brokerage ($7 million) and Asset Management ($13 million) segments. The allocation was based upon
occupancy levels originally planned for the building.

Discontinued Operations.

As described in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements, on August 17, 2005, the Company announced
that its Board of Directors had approved management’s recommendation to sell the Company’s aircraft leasing
business. In connection with this action, the aircraft leasing business was classified as “held for sale” under the
provisions of SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS
No. 144”) in the third quarter of fiscal 2005. The results of the aircraft leasing business have been reported as
discontinued operations in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for all periods presented.

In the third quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company entered into agreements for the sale of certain aircraft.
Accordingly, the Company designated such aircraft as “held for sale” and recorded a $42 million loss related to
the write-down of these aircraft to fair value in accordance with SFAS No. 144. As of February 3, 2005, all of
these aircraft were sold. In addition, during fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, the Company recorded
aircraft impairment charges in accordance with SFAS No. 144 (see Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements).

The table below provides information regarding the pre-tax loss on discontinued operations and the aircraft
impairment charges that are included in these amounts (dollars in millions):

Fiscal Year
2004 2003 2002

Pre-tax loss on discontinued operations .. ............... oot $172 $393 $138
Aircraft impairment charges .. ........ ...t 109 287 74
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Prior to fiscal 2003, the service period for stock-based awards was deemed to be the year of grant. The effect of
expensing stock-based awards over a longer period of service reduced compensation expense recorded for
deferred stock awards by $438 million in fiscal 2003 as compared with fiscal 2002. In addition, in connection
with the adoption of SFAS No. 123, the Company recorded compensation expense of $176 million based on the
fair value of stock options granted in fiscal 2003. The net impact of these revisions reduced the Company’s
compensation and benefits expense by $262 million in fiscal 2003 and increased net income by $177 million (or
$0.16 per share) in fiscal 2003 as compared with fiscal 2002.

As a result of amortizing the cost of equity-based awards over their respective service periods (including the year
of grant), fiscal 2004’s compensation and benefits expense included the amortization of equity-based awards
granted in both fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003. Fiscal 2003’s compensation and benefits expense only included the
amortization of equity-based awards granted in fiscal 2003. The net amount of compensation and benefits
expense recognized by the Company related to its equity-based awards (deferred stock and stock options) was
approximately $650 million in fiscal 2004 and approximately $285 million in fiscal 2003.

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) made certain revisions to SFAS No.
123 that will impact the Company’s compensation and benefits expense in fiscal 2005 and future periods (see
“New Accounting Developments — Stock-Based Compensation” herein).

Asset Management and Account Fees.

Prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company was improperly recognizing certain management fees,
account fees and related compensation expense paid at the beginning of the relevant contract periods, which is
when such fees were billed. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company changed its method of accounting
for such fees to properly recognize such fees and related expenses over the relevant contract period, generally
quarterly or annually. As a result of the change, the Company’s results in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004
included an adjustment to reflect the cumulative impact of the deferral of certain management fees, account fees
and related compensation expense paid to representatives. The impact of this change reduced net revenues by
$107 million, non-interest expenses by $27 million and income before taxes by $80 million, at both the Company
and the Retail Brokerage segment in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Such adjustment reduced net income by
approximately $50 million and basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.05. If the above referenced fees and
expenses had been recognized over the relevant contract period in the past, pre-tax income for the Company and
the Retail Brokerage segment would have been lower by the following amounts:

Decrease in
Pre-tax Income

(dollars in

millions)
Quarter ended:

February 28,2002 ... ... ..o $ 4.1)
May 31,2002 . .ot 3.7)
August 31,2002 . ..o 2.1)
November 30,2002 . ... (0.8)
Fiscal 2002 total ....... ...ttt (10.7)
February 28,2003 . ... ... .. (5.2)
May 31,2003 . ..o (1.3)
August 31,2003 . .. 4.2)
November 30,2003 . . ... ... (2.0)
Fiscal 2003 total . ......... ... . . (12.7)
February 29,2004 . ... ... .. 3.1
May 31,2004 . ..o (2.6)
August 31,2004 . . .o 2.3)
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reflect the timing and amount of expected benefit payments. For its Qualified Plan, which comprised
approximately 94% of the total assets of the Company’s pension plans at November 30, 2004, the Company
estimates its discount rate based on both the absolute levels of and year-to-year changes in various high-quality
bond indices, including the Moody’s Aa long-term rate bond yield.

The Company uses the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets to compute the expected return on assets.
For its Qualified Plan, the Company annually reviews the expected long-term return based on changes in the
target investment mix and economic environment from the previous year. It then compares its initial estimate
(and adjusts, if necessary) with a portfolio return calculator model (the “Portfolio Model”) that produces a range
of expected returns for the portfolio. Return assumptions are forward-looking gross returns that are not developed
solely by an examination of historical returns. The Portfolio Model begins with the current U.S. Treasury yield
curve, recognizing that expected returns on bonds are heavily influenced by the current level of yields. Corporate
bond spreads and equity risk premiums, based on current market conditions, are then added to develop the return
expectations for each asset class. Expenses that are expected to be paid from the investment return are reflected
in the Portfolio Model as a percentage of plan assets. This includes investment and transaction fees that typically
are paid from plan assets, added to the cost basis or subtracted from sale proceeds, as well as administrative
expenses paid from the Qualified Plan.

The Company’s expected long-term rate of return on assets for its Qualified Plan for fiscal 2004 was based on the
following expected asset allocation:

Target Investment Expected Annual

Mix Return(1)

Domestic equity:

Large capitalization . .......... .. ...ttt 30% 8.0%

Small capitalization . ......... ... i 10% 8.6%
International equity . .. ... ..ot 15% 8.5%
Fixed income:

Intermediate government/Corporate . ................oeiniiaon... 22% 4.1%

Long-term government/Corporate . . . .........ueuvreunenenennen .. 23% 5.5%

(1) These amounts do not include the impact of diversification on the overall expected portfolio return.

For its Qualified Plan, expected returns are computed using a market-related value of assets. For the market-
related value of assets, a smoothed actuarial value of assets is used, equal to a moving average of market values
in which investment income is recognized over a five-year period. Investment income equal to the expected
return on the prior year’s market-related value of plan assets is recognized immediately. Any difference between
the actual investment income (on a market-value basis) and the expected return is recognized over a five-year
period in accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions.” In addition, the market-related
value of assets must be no greater than 120% and no less than 80% of the market value of assets.

The Company amortizes (as a component of pension expense) unrecognized net gains and losses over the
average future service (generally 11 to 18 years) of active participants in each plan to the extent that the gain/loss
exceeds 10% of the greater of the projected benefit obligation or the market-related value of plan assets. The loss
amortization component of fiscal 2004 pension expense was approximately $38 million, and future amortization
is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s pension expense.

Insurance Recovery.

On September 11, 2001, the U.S experienced terrorist attacks targeted against New York City and Washington,
D.C. The attacks in New York resulted in the destruction of the World Trade Center complex, where
approximately 3,700 of the Company’s employees were located, and the temporary closing of the debt and equity
financial markets in the U.S. Through the implementation of its business recovery plans, the Company relocated
its displaced employees to other facilities.
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The Company has recognized costs related to the terrorist attacks pertaining to write-offs of leasehold
improvements and destroyed technology and telecommunications equipment in the World Trade Center complex,
employee relocation and certain other employee-related expenditures, and other business recovery costs. The
costs were offset by estimated insurance recoveries.

The Company continues to be in negotiations with its insurance carriers related to the events of September 11,
2001. At the conclusion of these negotiations, the Company currently believes that the amounts it will recover
under its insurance policies will be in excess of costs recognized for accounting purposes related to the terrorist
attacks. As of November 30, 2004, the Company had not recorded a gain for the anticipated excess recovery.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting.

SOX 404 requires that the Company make an assertion as to the effectiveness of its internal control over financial
reporting beginning with its fiscal 2004 Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Company’s independent registered
public accounting firm must attest to management’s assertion. In order to make its assertion, the Company was
required to identify material financial and operational processes, document internal controls supporting the
financial reporting process and evaluate the design and effectiveness of these controls. See “Management’s
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” and “Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm” in Part I, Item 9A.

The Company began preparing for its SOX 404 initiative prior to fiscal 2004. The Company formed a Project
Management Office to facilitate ongoing internal control reviews, coordinate the process for these reviews,
provide direction to the business and control groups involved in the initiative and assist in the assessment of
internal control over financial reporting. The Company also formed a Steering Committee, comprised of senior
personnel from its control groups, to set uniform guiding principles and policies, review the progress of the
initiative, direct the efforts of the Project Management Office and update the Audit Committee of the Board of



Critical Accounting Policies.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP, which require the Company
to make estimates and assumptions (see Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements). The Company believes
that of its significant accounting policies (see Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements), the following may
involve a higher degree of judgment and complexity.

Fair Value. Financial instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased, which include
cash and derivative products, are recorded at fair value in the consolidated statements of financial condition, and
gains and losses are reflected in principal trading revenues in the consolidated statements of income. Fair value is
the amount at which financial instruments could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

The fair value of the Company’s Financial instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased
are generally based on observable market prices, observable market parameters or derived from such prices or
parameters based on bid prices or parameters for Financial instruments owned and ask prices or parameters for
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased. In the case of financial instruments transacted on recognized
exchanges, the observable prices represent quotations for completed transactions from the exchange on which the
financial instrument is principally traded. Bid prices represent the highest price a buyer is willing to pay for a
financial instrument at a particular time. Ask prices represent the lowest price a seller is willing to accept for a
financial instrument at a particular time.

A substantial percentage of the fair value of the Company’s Financial instruments owned and Financial
instruments sold, not yet purchased is based on observable market prices, observable market parameters, or is
derived from such prices or parameters. The availability of observable market prices and pricing parameters can
vary from product to product. Where available, observable market prices and pricing parameters in a product (or
a related product) may be used to derive a price without requiring significant judgment. In certain markets,
observable market prices or market parameters are not available for all products, and fair value is determined
using techniques appropriate for each particular product. These techniques involve some degree of judgment.

The price transparency of the particular product will determine the degree of judgment involved in determining
the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments. Price transparency is affected by a wide variety of factors,
including, for example, the type of product, whether it is a new product and not yet established in the
marketplace, and the characteristics particular to the transaction. Products for which actively quoted prices or
pricing parameters are available or for which fair value is derived from actively quoted prices or pricing
parameters will generally have a higher degree of price transparency. By contrast, products that are thinly traded
or not quoted will generally have reduced to no price transparency. Even in normally active markets, the price
transparency for actively quoted instruments may be reduced for periods of time during periods of market
dislocation. Alternatively, in thinly quoted markets, the participation of market-makers willing to purchase and
sell a product provides a source of transparency for products that otherwise are not actively quoted or during
periods of market dislocation.

The Company’s cash products include securities issued by the U.S. government and its agencies and
instrumentalities, other sovereign debt obligations, corporate and other debt securities, corporate equity
securities, exchange traded funds and physical commodities. The fair value of these products is based principally
on observable market prices or is derived using observable market parameters. These products generally do not
entail a significant degree of judgment in determining fair value. Examples of products for which actively quoted
prices or pricing parameters are available or for which fair value is derived from actively quoted prices or pricing
parameters include securities issued by the U.S. government and its agencies and instrumentalities, exchange
traded corporate equity securities, most municipal debt securities, most corporate debt securities, most high-yield
debt securities, physical commodities, certain tradable loan products and most mortgage-backed securities.

In certain circumstances, principally involving loan products and other financial instruments held for
securitization transactions, the Company determines fair value from within the range of bid and ask prices such
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that fair value indicates the value likely to be realized in a current market transaction. Bid prices reflect the price
that the Company and others pay, or stand ready to pay, to originators of such assets. Ask prices represent the
prices that the Company and others require to sell such assets to the entities that acquire the financial instruments
for purposes of completing the securitization transactions. Generally, the fair value of such acquired assets is
based upon the bid price in the market for the instrument or similar instruments. In general, the loans and similar
assets are valued at bid pricing levels until structuring of the related securitization is substantially complete and
such that the value likely to be realized in a current transaction is consistent with the price that a securitization
entity will pay to acquire the financial instruments. Factors affecting securitized value and investor demand
relating specifically to loan products include, but are not limited to, loan type, underlying property type and
geographic location, loan interest rate, loan to value ratios, debt service coverage ratio, investor demand and
credit enhancement levels.

In addition, some cash products exhibit little or no price transparency, and the determination of the fair value
requires more judgment. Examples of cash products with little or no price transparency include certain high-yield
debt, certain collateralized mortgage obligations, certain tradable loan products, distressed debt securities (i.e.,
securities of issuers encountering financial difficulties, including bankruptcy or insolvency) and equity securities
that are not publicly traded. Generally, the fair value of these types of cash products is determined using one of
several valuation techniques appropriate for the product, which can include cash flow analysis, revenue or net
income analysis, default recovery analysis (i.e., analysis of the likelihood of default and the potential for
recovery) and other analyses applied consistently.

The following table presents the valuation of the Company’s cash products by level of price transparency (dollars
in millions):

At November 30, 2004 At November 30, 2003
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Observable market prices, parameters or derived from observable

PTiCES OF PATAMELETS . . . o\ vt te ettt e et e e e e e $145.975 $66,948 $147,228 $75,058
Reduced or no price transparency ...................c........ 9,725 827 9,942 148
Total ..o $155,700 $67,775 $157,170 $75,206

The Company’s derivative products include exchange-traded and OTC derivatives. Exchange-traded derivatives
have valuation attributes similar to the cash products valued using observable market prices or market parameters
described above. OTC derivatives, whose fair value is derived using pricing models, include a wide variety of
instruments, such as interest rate swap and option contracts, foreign currency option contracts, credit and equity
swap and option contracts, and commodity swap and option contracts.

The following table presents the fair value of the Company’s exchange traded and OTC derivative assets and
liabilities (dollars in millions):

At November 30,2004 At November 30, 2003
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Exchangetraded ........... ... ... i $ 2754 $ 4815 $ 2,306 $ 3,091
OTC 64,338 51,005 42,346 33,151
TOtal . oot $67,092 $55,820 $44,652 $36,242

The fair value of OTC derivative contracts is derived primarily using pricing models, which may require multiple
market input parameters. Where appropriate, valuation adjustments are made to account for credit quality and
market liquidity. These adjustments are applied on a consistent basis and are based upon observable market data
where available. In the absence of observable market prices or parameters in an active market, observable prices
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or parameters of other comparable current market transactions, or other observable data supporting a fair value
based on a pricing model at the inception of a contract, fair value is based on the transaction price. The Company
also uses pricing models to manage the risks introduced by OTC derivatives. Depending on the product and the
terms of the transaction, the fair value of OTC derivative products can be modeled using a series of techniques,
including closed form analytic formulae, such as the Black-Scholes option pricing model, simulation models or a
combination thereof, applied consistently. In the case of more established derivative products, the pricing models
used by the Company are widely accepted by the financial services industry. Pricing models take into account the
contract terms, including the maturity, as well as market parameters such as interest rates, volatility and the
creditworthiness of the counterparty.



In connection with its Institutional Securities business, the Company engages in securitization transactions to
facilitate client needs and as a means of selling financial assets. The Company recognizes any interests in the
transferred assets and any liabilities incurred in securitization transactions in its consolidated statements of
financial condition at fair value. Subsequently, changes in the fair value of such interests are recognized in the
consolidated statements of income.

In connection with its Discover business, the Company periodically sells consumer loans through asset
securitizations and continues to service these loans. The present value of the future net servicing revenues that
the Company estimates it will receive over the term of the securitized loans is recognized in income as the loans
are securitized. A corresponding asset also is recorded and then amortized as a charge to income over the term of
the securitized loans. The securitization gain or loss involves the Company’s best estimates of key assumptions,
including forecasted credit losses, payment rates, forward yield curves and appropriate discount rates. The use of
different estimates or assumptions could produce different financial results.

Allowance for Consumer Loan Losses. The allowance for consumer loan losses in the Company’s Discover
business is established through a charge to the provision for consumer loan losses. Provisions are made to reserve
for estimated losses in outstanding loan balances. The allowance for consumer loan losses is a significant
estimate that represents management’s estimate of probable losses inherent in the consumer loan portfolio. The
allowance for consumer loan losses is primarily applicable to the owned homogeneous consumer credit card loan
portfolio that is evaluated quarterly for adequacy.

In calculating the allowance for consumer loan losses, the Company uses a systematic and consistently applied
approach. The Company regularly performs a migration analysis (a technique used to estimate the likelihood that
a consumer loan will progress through the various stages of delinquency and ultimately charge-off) of delinquent
and current consumer credit card accounts in order to determine the appropriate level of the allowance for
consumer loan losses. The migration analysis considers uncollectible principal, interest and fees reflected in
consumer loans. In evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for consumer loan losses, management also
considers factors that may impact future credit loss experience, including current economic conditions, recent
trends in delinquencies and bankruptcy filings, account collection management, policy changes, account
seasoning, loan volume and amounts, payment rates and forecasting uncertainties. A provision for consumer loan
losses is charged against earnings to maintain the allowance for consumer loan losses at an appropriate level. The
use of different estimates or assumptions could produce different provisions for consumer loan losses (see
“Discover—Provision for Consumer Loan Losses” herein).

Aircraft under Operating Leases.
Aircraft Held for Sale.

On August 17, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved management’s
recommendation to sell the Company’s aircraft leasing business. In connection with this action, the aircraft
leasing business was classified as “held for sale” under the provisions of SFAS No. 144 in the third quarter of
fiscal 2005. The results of the aircraft leasing business have been reported as discontinued operations in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements. The Company recognized a charge of approximately $1.7 billion
($1.0 billion after tax) in the quarter ended August 31, 2005 to reflect the writedown of the aircraft leasing
business to its estimated fair value. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company is required to assess the fair
value of the aircraft leasing business until its ultimate disposition. Changes in the estimated fair value may result
in additional losses (or gains) in future periods as required by SFAS No. 144 (see “Discontinued Operations”
herein). A gain would be recognized for any subsequent increase in fair value less cost to sell, but not in excess
of the cumulative loss previously recognized (for a write-down to fair value less cost to sell).
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Aircraft to be Held and Used.

Prior to the third quarter of fiscal 2005, aircraft under operating leases that were to be held and used were stated
at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges. Depreciation was calculated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of the aircraft asset, which was generally 25 years from the date of
manufacture. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company’s aircraft that were to be held and used were
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying value of the
aircraft may not be recoverable. Under SFAS No. 144, the carrying value of an aircraft may not be recoverable if
its projected undiscounted cash flows are less than its carrying value. If an aircraft’s projected undiscounted cash
flows were less than its carrying value, the Company recognized an impairment charge equal to the excess of the
carrying value over the fair value of the aircraft. The fair value of the Company’s impaired aircraft was based
upon the average market appraisal values obtained from independent appraisal companies. Estimates of future
cash flows associated with the aircraft assets as well as the appraisals of fair value are critical to the
determination of whether an impairment exists and the amount of the impairment charge, if any (see Note 18 to
the consolidated financial statements).

Certain Factors Affecting Results of Operations.

The Company’s results of operations may be materially affected by market fluctuations and by economic factors.
In addition, results of operations in the past have been, and in the future may continue to be, materially affected
by many factors of a global nature, including political, economic and market conditions; the availability and cost
of capital; the level and volatility of equity prices, commodity prices and interest rates; currency values and other
market indices; technological changes and events; the availability and cost of credit; inflation; and investor
sentiment and confidence in the financial markets. In addition, there has been a heightened level of legislative,
legal and regulatory developments related to the financial services industry that potentially could increase costs,
thereby affecting future results of operations. Such factors also may have an impact on the Company’s ability to
achieve its strategic objectives on a global basis.

The Company’s Institutional Securities business, particularly its involvement in primary and secondary markets
for all types of financial products, including derivatives, is subject to substantial positive and negative
fluctuations due to a variety of factors that the Company cannot control or predict with great certainty, including
variations in the fair value of securities and other financial products and the volatility and liquidity of global
trading markets. Fluctuations also occur due to the level of global market activity, which, among other things,
affects the size, number, and timing of investment banking client assignments and transactions and the realization
of returns from the Company’s principal investments. Such factors also affect the level of individual investor
participation in the financial markets, which impacts the results of Retail Brokerage. The level of global market
activity also could impact the flow of investment capital into or from assets under management and supervision
and the way in which such capital is allocated among money market, equity, fixed income or other investment
alternatives, which could cause fluctuations to occur in the Company’s Asset Management business. In the
Company’s Discover business, changes in economic variables, such as the number and size of personal
bankruptcy filings, the rate of unemployment, and the level of consumer confidence and consumer debt, may
substantially affect consumer loan levels and credit quality, which, in turn, could impact the results of Discover.

The Company’s results of operations also may be materially affected by competitive factors. Included among the
principal competitive factors affecting the Institutional Securities and Retail Brokerage businesses are the
Company’s reputation, the quality of its personnel, its products, services and advice, capital commitments,
relative pricing and innovation. Competition in the Company’s Asset Management business is affected by a
number of factors, including the Company’s reputation, investment objectives, quality of investment
professionals, relative performance of investment products, advertising and sales promotion efforts, fee levels,
distribution channels, and types and quality of services offered. In the Discover business, competition centers on
merchant acceptance of credit and debit cards, account acquisition and customer utilization of credit and debit
cards, all of which are impacted by the types of fees, interest rates and other features offered.
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The Company strives to increase market share in all of its businesses and evaluates the competitive position of its
businesses by, among other things, monitoring various market share data. For example, in the Institutional
Securities investment banking business, the Company monitors its market share in key areas such as announced and
completed worldwide mergers and acquisitions, worldwide equity underwritings and worldwide debt underwritings.
In the Institutional Securities sales and trading business, the Company monitors its market share via independent
client surveys as well as its market share of global exchange and non-exchange volumes. In the Retail Brokerage
business, the Company monitors its market share of client assets and the number of representatives. In the Asset
Management business, the Company monitors its market share of assets under management or supervision and
mutual fund flows among mutual fund managers. It also monitors the relative performance of its funds as
determined by organizations such as Morningstar and Lipper. In the Discover business, the Company monitors its
ranking in the number of merchant and cash access locations, the level of general purpose credit card loan balances
outstanding, transaction volume and the credit quality of its loan portfolio.

The Company competes with commercial banks, insurance companies, sponsors of mutual funds, hedge funds,
energy companies and other companies offering financial services in the U.S., globally and through the Internet.
The Company competes with some of its competitors globally and with others on a regional or product basis.
Certain sectors of the financial services industry have become considerably more concentrated, as financial
institutions involved in a broad range of financial services industries have been acquired by or merged into other
firms. Such convergence could result in the Company’s competitors gaining greater capital and other resources,
such as a broader range of products and services and geographic diversity. It is possible that competition may
become even more intense as the Company continues to compete with financial institutions that may be larger, or
better capitalized, or may have a stronger local presence in certain areas. In addition, the Company has
experienced competition for qualified employees. The Company’s ability to sustain or improve its competitive
position will substantially depend on its ability to continue to attract and retain qualified employees while
managing compensation costs.

As a result of the above economic and competitive factors, net income and revenues in any particular period may
not be representative of full-year results and may vary significantly from year to year and from quarter to quarter.
The Company intends to manage its business for the long term and to mitigate the potential effects of market
downturns by strengthening its competitive position in the global financial services industry through
diversification of its revenue sources, enhancement of its global franchise, and management of costs and its
capital structure. The Company’s overall financial results will continue to be affected by its ability and success in
addressing client goals; maintaining high levels of profitable business activities; emphasizing fee-based products
that are designed to generate a continuing stream of revenues; evaluating product pricing; managing risks, costs
and its capital position; and maintaining its strong reputation and franchise. In addition, the complementary
trends in the financial services industry of consolidation and globalization present, among other things,
technological, risk management and other infrastructure challenges that will require effective resource allocation
in order for the Company to remain competitive.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources.

The Company’s senior management establishes the overall liquidity and capital policies of the Company. Through
various risk and control committees, the Company’s senior management reviews business performance relative to
these policies, monitors the availability of alternative sources of financing, and oversees the liquidity and interest
rate and currency sensitivity of the Company’s asset and liability position. These committees, along with the
Company’s Treasury Department and other control groups, also assist in evaluating, monitoring and controlling
the impact that the Company’s business activities have on its consolidated balance sheet, liquidity and capital
structure, thereby helping to ensure that its business activities are integrated with the Company’s liquidity and
capital policies. For a description of the Company’s other principal risks and how they are monitored and
managed, see “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk—Risk Management” in Part II, Item
7A.

The Company’s liquidity and funding risk management policies are designed to mitigate the potential risk that
the Company may be unable to access adequate financing to service its financial obligations when they come due
without material, adverse franchise or business impact. The key objectives of the liquidity and funding risk
management framework are to support the successful execution of the Company’s business strategies while
ensuring ongoing and sufficient liquidity through the business cycle and during periods of financial distress. The
principal elements of the Company’s liquidity framework are the cash capital policy, the liquidity reserve and
stress testing through the contingency funding plan. Comprehensive financing guidelines (collateralized funding,
long-term funding strategy, surplus capacity, diversification, staggered maturities, committed credit facilities)
support the Company’s target liquidity profile.

The Balance Sheet.

The Company monitors and evaluates the composition and size of its balance sheet. Given the nature of the
Company’s market making and customer financing activities, the overall size of the balance sheet fluctuates from
time to time. A substantial portion of the Company’s total assets consists of highly liquid marketable securities
and short-term receivables arising principally from its Institutional Securities sales and trading activities. The
highly liquid nature of these assets provides the Company with flexibility in financing and managing its business.

The Company’s total assets increased to $775.4 billion at November 30, 2004 from $602.8 billion at November
30, 2003. The increase was primarily due to increases in securities borrowed, securities purchased under
agreements to resell, financial instruments owned (largely driven by derivative contracts), receivables from
customers and cash and securities segregated under federal and other regulations. The increase in securities
borrowed, securities purchased under agreements to resell and receivables from customers was largely due to
growth in the Company’s equity financing related activities. The increase in derivative contracts was associated
with interest rate, currency, equity and commodity derivative products due to increased customer flow and
market activity. Cash and securities segregated under federal and other regulations increased due to increased
levels of customer activity.

Balance sheet leverage ratios are one indicator of capital adequacy when viewed in the context of a company’s
overall liquidity and capital policies. The Company views the adjusted leverage ratio as a more relevant measure
of financial risk when comparing financial services firms and evaluating leverage trends. The Company has
adopted a definition of adjusted assets that excludes certain self-funded assets considered to have minimal
market, credit and/or liquidity risk. These low-risk assets generally are attributable to the Company’s matched
book and securities lending businesses. Adjusted assets are calculated by reducing gross assets by aggregate
resale agreements and securities borrowed less non-derivative short positions and assets recorded under certain
provisions of SFAS No. 140 and FASB Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN
46”), as revised. The adjusted leverage ratio reflects the deduction from shareholders’ equity of the amount of
equity used to support goodwill and intangible assets (as the Company does not view this amount of equity as
available to support its risk capital needs). In addition, the Company views junior subordinated debt issued to
capital trusts as a component of its capital base given the inherent characteristics of the securities. These
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characteristics include the long dated nature (final maturity at issuance of 30 years extendible at the Company’s
option by a further 19 years), the Company’s ability to defer coupon interest for up to 20 consecutive quarters
and the subordinated nature of the obligations in the capital structure. The Company also receives rating agency
equity credit for these securities.

The following table sets forth the Company’s total assets, adjusted assets and leverage ratios as of November 30,
2004 and November 30, 2003 and for the average month-end balances during fiscal 2004:

Average Month-End

Balance at Balance
November 30, November 30,
2004 2003 Fiscal 2004
(dollars in millions, except ratio data)

Total aSSELS . o ottt $ 775,410  $ 602,843 $ 713,992
Less: Securities purchased under agreements toresell ......... (123,041) (78,205) (98,485)
Securities borrowed . .. ... ... ... (208,349) (153,813) (191,767)

Add: Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased .......... 123,595 111,448 128,681
Less: Derivative contracts sold, not yet purchased ............ (55,820) (36,242) (43,433)

Subtotal . ........ ... ... .. 511,795 446,031 508,988
Less: Segregated customer cash and securities balances . ...... (26,534) (20,705) (25,596)

Assets recorded under certain provisions of SFAS No. 140

and FIN46,asrevised .. .......... ... ... ......... (44,895) (35,217) (39,728)
Goodwill and intangible assets . ..................... (2,199) (1,523) (1,761)

Adjusted asSets . ... $ 438,167  $ 388,586 $ 441,903

Shareholders’ equity .. ..........oiiuiiiiineneia $ 28206 $ 24,867 $ 26,718

Junior subordinated debt issued to capital trusts .. ............ 2,897 2,810 2,877

Subtotal ....... ... ... .. 31,103 27,677 29,595
Less: Goodwill and intangible assets ...................... (2,199) (1,523) (1,761)

Tangible shareholders’ equity ... ........ ... ... ... ... .... $ 28904 $ 26,154 $ 27,834
Leverage ratio(1) . ... ..ot 26.8x 23.0x 25.7x
Adjusted leverage ratio(2) . . ... .ot 15.2x 14.9x 15.9x

(1) Leverage ratio equals total assets divided by tangible shareholders’ equity.
(2) Adjusted leverage ratio equals adjusted assets divided by tangible shareholders’ equity.

The Company’s total capital consists of equity capital combined with long-term borrowings (debt obligations
scheduled to mature in more than 12 months), junior subordinated debt issued to capital trusts, and Capital Units.
At November 30, 2004, total capital was $110.8 billion, an increase of $28.0 billion from November 30, 2003.

During the 12 months ended November 30, 2004, the Company issued senior notes aggregating $38.2 billion,
including non-U.S. dollar currency notes aggregating $8.3 billion. In connection with the note issuances, the
Company has entered into certain transactions to obtain floating interest rates based primarily on short-term
London Interbank Offered Rates (“LIBOR”) trading levels. At November 30, 2004, the aggregate outstanding
principal amount of the Company’s Senior Indebtedness (as defined in the Company’s public debt shelf
registration statements) was approximately $121 billion (including guaranteed obligations of the indebtedness of
subsidiaries). The weighted average maturity of the Company’s long-term borrowings, based upon stated
maturity dates, was approximately 5.2 years at November 30, 2004. Subsequent to fiscal year-end and through
February 4, 2005, the Company’s long-term borrowings (net of repayments) increased by approximately $8.6
billion.

Equity Capital Management Policies. The Company’s senior management views equity capital as an important
source of financial strength and, therefore, pursues a strategy of ensuring that the Company’s equity base
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adequately reflects and provides protection from the economic risks inherent in its businesses. Capital is required
for, among other things, the Company’s inventories, underwritings, principal investments, consumer loans,
bridge loans and other financings, and investments in fixed assets, including aircraft assets (see “Discontinued
Operations” herein). The Company also considers return on common equity to be an important measure of its
performance, in the context of both the particular business environment in which the Company is operating and
its peer group’s results. In this regard, the Company actively manages its consolidated equity capital position
based upon, among other things, business opportunities, capital availability and rates of return together with
internal capital policies, regulatory requirements and rating agency guidelines and, therefore, in the future may
expand or contract its equity capital base to address the changing needs of its businesses. The Company attempts
to maintain total equity, on a consolidated basis, at least equal to the sum of its operating subsidiaries’ equity.

The Company uses an economic capital model to determine the amount of equity capital needed to support the
risk of the Company’s business activities and to ensure that the Company remains adequately capitalized.
Economic capital is defined as the amount of capital needed to run the business through the business cycle and
satisfy the requirements of the market, regulators and rating agencies. The Company assigns economic capital to
each business unit based primarily on regulatory capital usage and potential stress losses across various
dimensions of market, credit, business and operational risks. Additional capital is assigned for goodwill,
intangible assets, principal investment risk, and balance sheet usage as required to meet the Company’s leverage
ratio targets. The Company’s framework for allocating economic capital is intended to align equity capital with
the risks in each business, provide business managers with tools for measuring and managing risk, and allow
senior management to evaluate risk-adjusted returns to facilitate resource allocation decisions. At November 30,
2004, the Company’s equity capital (which includes shareholders’ equity and junior subordinated debt issued to
capital trusts) was $31.1 billion, an increase of $3.4 billion from November 30, 2003.

The Company returns internally generated equity capital that is in excess of the needs of its businesses to its
shareholders through common stock repurchases and dividends. The Board of Directors has authorized the
Company to purchase, subject to market conditions and certain other factors, shares of common stock for capital
management purposes. There were no repurchases made under the capital management authorization during
fiscal 2004. The unused portion of this authorization at January 31, 2005 was approximately $600 million. The
Company also has an ongoing repurchase authorization in connection with awards granted under its equity-based
compensation plans. During fiscal 2004, the Company purchased approximately $1,132 million of its common
stock (approximately 23 million shares) through open market purchases at an average cost of $50.31 (see also
“Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities” in Part II, Item 5). The Company currently anticipates that it will increase common stock repurchases
pursuant to its equity anti-dilution program and expects that these repurchases will be between 35 million and 80
million shares for fiscal 2005. The actual amount of repurchases will be subject to market conditions and certain
other factors. The Board of Directors determines the declaration and payment of dividends on a quarterly basis.
In December 2004, the Board of Directors increased the quarterly dividend per common share by 8% to $0.27.
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Liquidity Management Policies. The primary goal of the Company’s liquidity and funding activities is to
ensure adequate financing over a wide range of potential credit ratings and market environments. Given the
highly liquid nature of the Company’s balance sheet, day-to-day funding requirements are largely fulfilled
through the use of stable collateralized financing. The Company has centralized management of credit-sensitive
unsecured funding sources in the Treasury Department. In order to meet target liquidity requirements and
withstand an unforeseen contraction in credit availability, the Company has designed a liquidity management
framework.

Liquidity Management
Framework: Designed to:

Contingency Funding Plan Ascertain the Company’s ability to manage a prolonged liquidity contraction
and provide a course of action over a one-year time period to ensure orderly
functioning of the businesses. The contingency funding plan sets forth the
process and the internal and external communication flows necessary to ensure
effective management of the contingency event. Analytical processes exist to
periodically evaluate and report the liquidity risk exposures of the organization
under management-defined scenarios.

Cash Capital Ensure that the Company can fund its balance sheet while repaying its financial
obligations maturing within one year without issuing new unsecured debt. The
Company attempts to achieve this by maintaining sufficient cash capital
(long-term debt and equity capital) to finance illiquid assets and the portion of
its securities inventory that is not expected to be financed on a secured basis in a
credit-stressed environment.

Liquidity Reserve Maintain, at all times, a liquidity reserve composed of immediately available
cash and cash equivalents and a pool of unencumbered securities that can be
sold or pledged to provide same-day liquidity to the Company. The reserve is
periodically assessed and determined based on day-to-day funding requirements
and strategic liquidity targets. The liquidity reserve averaged approximately $28
billion during fiscal 2004.

Contingency Funding Plan.

The Company’s Contingency Funding Plan (“CFP”’) model incorporates a wide range of potential cash outflows
during a liquidity stress event, including, but not limited to, the following: (i) repayment of all unsecured debt
maturing within one year; (ii) maturity roll-off of outstanding letters of credit with no further issuance, and
replacement with cash collateral; (iii) return of unsecured securities borrowed and any cash raised against these
securities; (iv) additional collateral that would be required by counterparties in the event of a ratings downgrade;
(v) higher haircuts on or lower availability of secured funding; (vi) client cash withdrawals; (vii) drawdowns on
unfunded commitments provided to third parties; and (viii) discretionary unsecured debt buybacks.

The Company’s CFP is developed at the legal entity level in order to capture specific cash requirements and
availability for the parent company and each of its major operating subsidiaries. The CFP assumes that the parent
company does not have access to cash that may be trapped at subsidiaries due to regulatory, legal or tax constraints.
In addition, the CFP assumes that the parent company does not draw down on its committed credit facilities.

Bank subsidiaries that operate in a deposit-protected environment are not expected to be impacted by a
Company-specific credit event and are expected to continue to provide reliable funding for assets held in these
entities. These entities include Discover Bank, which primarily funds credit card receivables, and Morgan
Stanley Bank, which funds senior loans and certain mortgage assets. Discover Bank also accesses the asset-
backed financing market for a significant portion of its funding requirements.
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Cash Capital.

The Company maintains a cash capital model that measures long-term funding sources against requirements.
Sources of cash capital include the parent company’s equity and the non-current portion of certain long-term
borrowings. Uses of cash capital include the following: (i) illiquid assets such as buildings, aircraft (see
“Discontinued Operations” herein), equipment, goodwill and intangible assets, exchange memberships, deferred
tax assets and principal investments; (ii) a portion of securities inventory that is not expected to be financed on a
secured basis in a credit-stressed environment; i.e., stressed haircuts; and (iii) expected drawdowns on unfunded
commitments.

The Company seeks to maintain a surplus cash capital position. The Company’s equity capital of $31.1 billion
(including junior subordinated debt issued to capital trusts), long-term borrowings (debt obligations scheduled to
mature in more than 12 months) of $79.6 billion and Capital Units of $66 million comprised the Company’s total
capital of $110.8 billion as of November 30, 2004, which substantially exceeded cash capital requirements.

Liquidity Reserve.

The Company seeks to maintain a target liquidity reserve which is sized to cover daily funding needs and to meet
strategic liquidity targets, including coverage of a significant portion of expected cash outflows over a short-term
horizon in a potential liquidity crisis. Prior to fiscal 2004, this liquidity reserve was held in the form of cash
deposited with banks. Beginning in late fiscal 2004, this liquidity reserve was increased and separated into a cash
component and a pool of unencumbered securities. The pool of unencumbered securities, against which funding
can be raised, is managed on a global basis, and securities for the pool are chosen accordingly. The U.S.-held
component consists largely of U.S. government bonds and at November 30, 2004 totaled $10.0 billion. The non-
U.S. component consists of European government bonds and other high-quality collateral. The Company
believes that diversifying the form in which its liquidity reserve (cash and securities) is maintained enhances its
ability to quickly and efficiently source funding in a stressed environment. The Company’s funding requirements
and target liquidity reserve may vary based on changes in the level and composition of its balance sheet, timing
of specific transactions, client financing activity, market conditions and seasonal factors.

Committed Credit Facilities.

The maintenance of committed credit facilities serves to further diversify the Company’s funding sources. The
Company values committed credit as a secondary component of its liquidity management framework.

The Company maintains a senior revolving credit agreement with a group of banks to support general liquidity
needs, including the issuance of commercial paper, which consists of two separate tranches: a U.S. dollar tranche
with the Company as borrower and a Japanese yen tranche with Morgan Stanley Japan Limited (“MSJL”) as
borrower and the Company as guarantor. Under this combined facility (the “MS-MSJL Facility”), the banks are
committed to provide up to $5.5 billion under the U.S. dollar tranche and 70 billion Japanese yen under the
Japanese yen tranche. At November 30, 2004, the Company had a $12.0 billion surplus shareholders’ equity as
compared with the MS-MSIJL Facility’s covenant requirement.

The Company maintains a master collateral facility that enables Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated
(“MS&Co.”), one of the Company’s U.S. broker-dealer subsidiaries, to pledge certain collateral to secure loan
arrangements, letters of credit and other financial accommodations (the “MS&Co. Facility”). As part of the
MS&Co. Facility, MS&Co. also maintains a secured committed credit agreement with a group of banks that are
parties to the master collateral facility under which such banks are committed to provide up to $1.8 billion. At
November 30, 2004, MS&Co. had a $2.8 billion surplus consolidated stockholder’s equity and a $0.9 billion
surplus Net Capital, each as defined in the MS&Co. Facility and as compared with the MS&Co. Facility’s
covenant requirements.

The Company also maintains a revolving credit facility that enables Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited
(“MSIL”), the Company’s London-based broker-dealer subsidiary, to obtain committed funding from a syndicate
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of banks (the “MSIL Facility”) by providing a broad range of collateral under repurchase agreements for a
secured repo facility and a Company guarantee for an unsecured facility. The syndicate of banks is committed to
provide up to an aggregate of $1.5 billion, available in six major currencies. At November 30, 2004, MSIL had a
$1.7 billion surplus Shareholder’s Equity and a $2.0 billion surplus Financial Resources, each as defined in the
MSIL Facility and as compared with the MSIL Facility’s covenant requirements.

The Company anticipates that it may utilize the MS-MSJL Facility, the MS&Co. Facility or the MSIL Facility
(the “Credit Facilities”) for short-term funding from time to time (see Note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements). The Company does not believe that any of the covenant requirements in any of its Credit Facilities
will impair its ability to obtain funding under the Credit Facilities, to pay its current level of dividends, or to
secure loan arrangements, letters of credit or other financial accommodations. At November 30, 2004, no
borrowings were outstanding under any of the Credit Facilities.

The Company and its subsidiaries also maintain a series of committed bilateral credit facilities to support general
liquidity needs. These facilities are expected to be drawn from time to time to cover short-term funding needs.

The committed credit facilities demonstrate the diversity of lenders to the Company covering geographic regions,
including North America, Europe and Asia.

On a yearly basis, the Company’s committed credit strategy is reviewed and approved by its senior management.
This strategy takes the Company’s total liquidity sources into consideration when determining the appropriate
size and mix of committed credit.

The Company, through one of its subsidiaries, maintains several funded committed credit facilities to support the
collateralized commercial and residential mortgage whole loan business. Lenders to these facilities provided an
aggregate of $10.7 billion in financing at November 30, 2004.

Funding Management Policies.

The Company funds its balance sheet on a global basis through diverse sources. These sources include the
Company’s equity capital; long-term debt; repurchase agreements; U.S., Canadian, Euro, Japanese and
Australian commercial paper; asset-backed securitizations; letters of credit; unsecured bond borrowings;
securities lending; buy/sell agreements; municipal reinvestments; promissory notes; master notes; and committed
and uncommitted lines of credit. Repurchase agreement transactions, securities lending and a portion of the
Company’s bank borrowings are made on a collateralized basis and, therefore, provide a more stable source of
funding than short-term unsecured borrowings. The Company has active financing programs for both standard
and structured products in the U.S., European and Asian markets, targeting global investors and currencies such
as the U.S. dollar, euro, British pound, Australian dollar and Japanese yen.

The Company’s bank subsidiaries solicit deposits from consumers, purchase Federal Funds, issue short-term
institutional certificates of deposits and issue bank notes. Interest bearing deposits are classified by type as
savings, brokered and other time deposits. Savings deposits consist primarily of money market deposit accounts
sold nationally and savings deposits from individual securities clients. Brokered deposits consist primarily of
certificates of deposits issued by the Company’s bank subsidiaries. Other time deposits include individual and
institutional certificates of deposits.

The Company’s funding management policies are designed to provide for financings that are executed in a
manner that reduces the risk of disruption to the Company’s operations that would result from an interruption in
the availability of the Company’s funding sources. The Company pursues a strategy of diversification of funding
sources (by product, by investor and by region) and attempts to ensure that the tenor of the Company’s liabilities
equals or exceeds the expected holding period of the assets being financed. Maturities of financings are designed
to manage exposure to refinancing risk in any one period. The Company maintains a surplus of unused short-
term funding sources at all times to withstand any unforeseen contraction in credit capacity. In addition, the
Company attempts to maintain cash and unhypothecated marketable securities equal to at least 110% of its
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outstanding short-term unsecured borrowings. The Company also maintains committed credit facilities
(described above) to support its ongoing borrowing programs.

Secured Financing. A substantial portion of the Company’s total assets consists of highly liquid marketable
securities and short-term receivables arising principally from its Institutional Securities sales and trading
activities. The highly liquid nature of these assets provides the Company with flexibility in financing these assets
with stable collateralized borrowing, while the securitization market allows for the securitization of the credit
card receivables arising from the Company’s Discover business.

The Company’s goal is to maximize funding through less credit sensitive collateralized borrowings and asset
securitizations in order to reduce reliance on unsecured financing. The Institutional Securities business
emphasizes the use of collateralized short-term borrowings to limit the growth of short-term unsecured funding
which is more typically subject to disruption during periods of financial stress. As part of this effort, the
Institutional Securities business continually seeks to expand its global secured borrowing capacity. Similarly,
Discover, through its use of the securitization market, reduces the need for other unsecured parent company
financing.

Unsecured Financing. The Company views long-term debt as a stable source of funding for core inventories,
consumer loans and illiquid assets. In general, securities inventories not financed by secured funding sources and
the majority of current assets are financed with a combination of short-term funding, floating rate long-term debt
or fixed rate long-term debt swapped to a floating rate. Fixed assets are financed with fixed rate long-term debt.
Both fixed rate and floating rate long-term debt (in addition to sources of funds accessed directly by the
Company’s Discover business) are used to finance the Company’s consumer loan portfolio. Consumer loan
financing is targeted to match the repricing and duration characteristics of the loans financed. The Company uses
derivative products (primarily interest rate, currency and equity swaps) to assist in asset and liability
management, reduce borrowing costs and hedge interest rate risk (see Note 8 to the consolidated financial
statements).

The Company issues long-term debt in excess of the amount necessary to meet the needs of its securities
inventory and less liquid assets as determined by its Cash Capital Policy. In addition to these needs, long-term
debt funding is employed to enhance the Company’s liquidity position by reducing reliance on short-term credit
sensitive instruments (e.g., commercial paper and other unsecured short-term borrowings). Availability and cost
of financing to the Company can vary depending on market conditions, the volume of certain trading and lending
activities, the Company’s credit ratings and the overall availability of credit.

The Company has a portfolio approach for managing the unsecured debt issued by the parent company. This
approach gives the Company flexibility to manage the unsecured debt portfolio across maturities, currencies,
investors, and regions, taking into account market capacity and pricing. Down-lending to subsidiaries is managed
to ensure that inter-company borrowings mature before those of the parent company. Liquidity and funding
policies recognize potential constraints on the Company’s ability to transfer funds between regulated entities and
the parent company.

During fiscal 2004, the Company’s long-term financing strategy was driven, in part, by its continued focus on
improved balance sheet strength (evaluated through enhanced capital and liquidity positions), a significant factor
in the maintenance of strong credit ratings. As a result, for fiscal 2004, $38.2 billion of unsecured debt was
issued (excluding certain equity and credit-linked products not considered to be a component of the Company’s
cash capital). Financing transactions were structured to ensure staggered maturities, thereby mitigating
refinancing risk, and a diversified investor base was targeted through sales to domestic as well as international
institutional and retail clients. Unsecured debt issuance activity resulted in a net increase in the long-term debt
component of the cash capital portfolio of approximately $24 billion.
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Credit Ratings.

The Company’s reliance on external sources to finance a significant portion of its day-to-day operations makes
access to global sources of financing important. The cost and availability of unsecured financing generally are
dependent on the Company’s short-term and long-term credit ratings. Factors that are significant to the
determination of the Company’s credit ratings or otherwise affect the ability of the Company to raise short-term
and long-term financing include its: level and volatility of earnings, relative positions in the markets in which it
operates, geographic and product diversification, risk management policies, cash liquidity, capital structure,
corporate lending credit risk, and legal and regulatory developments. A deterioration in any of the previously
mentioned factors or combination of these factors may lead rating agencies to downgrade the credit ratings of the
Company, thereby increasing the cost to the Company in obtaining unsecured funding. In addition, the
Company’s debt ratings can have a significant impact on certain trading revenues, particularly in those
businesses where longer term counterparty performance is critical, such as OTC derivative transactions,
including credit derivatives and interest rate swaps.

In connection with certain OTC trading agreements and certain other agreements associated with the Institutional
Securities business, the Company would be required to provide additional collateral to certain counterparties in
the event of a downgrade by either Moody’s Investors Service or Standard & Poor’s. At November 30, 2004, the
amount of additional collateral that would be required in the event of a one-notch downgrade of the Company’s
senior debt credit rating was approximately $860 million. Of this amount, $367 million (approximately 43%)
relates to bilateral arrangements between the Company and other parties where upon the downgrade of one party,
the downgraded party must deliver incremental collateral to the other. These bilateral downgrade arrangements
are a risk management tool used extensively by the Company as credit exposures are reduced if counterparties
are downgraded.

As of January 31, 2005, the Company’s credit ratings were as follows:

Commercial Senior
Paper Debt
Dominion Bond Rating Service Limited ........... .. ... ... ... ... . ..., R-1 (middle) AA (low)
Fitch Ratings . . ... o Fl+ AA-
Moody’s INVEStOrs SErviCe ... .. .. ...ttt P-1 Aa3
Rating and Investment Information, Inc. . ........ ... ... .. .. . . .. ... a-1+ AA
Standard & Poor’s(1) . ... e A-1 A+

(1) On September 29, 2004, Standard & Poor’s placed the Company’s senior debt ratings on Positive Outlook.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.

The Company enters into various arrangements with unconsolidated entities, including variable interest entities,
primarily in connection with its Institutional Securities and Discover businesses.

Institutional Securities Activities. The Company utilizes special purpose entities (“SPE”) primarily in
connection with securitization activities. The Company engages in securitization activities related to commercial
and residential mortgage loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations, corporate bonds and loans,
municipal bonds and other types of financial assets. The Company may retain interests in the securitized
financial assets as one or more tranches of the securitization. These retained interests are included in the
consolidated statements of financial condition at fair value. Any changes in the fair value of such retained
interests are recognized in the consolidated statements of income. Retained interests in securitized financial
assets associated with the Company’s Institutional Securities business were approximately $3.9 billion at
November 30, 2004, the majority of which were related to residential mortgage loan, U.S. agency collateralized
mortgage obligation and commercial mortgage loan securitization transactions. For further information about the
Company’s Institutional Securities securitization activities, see Notes 2 and 4 to the consolidated financial
statements. In addition, see Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements for information about variable
interest entities, the Company’s arrangements with these entities and its adoption of FIN 46, as revised.
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The Company has entered into liquidity facilities with SPEs and other counterparties, whereby the Company is
required to make certain payments if losses or defaults occur. The Company often may have recourse to the
underlying assets held by the SPEs in the event payments are required under such liquidity facilities (see Note 20
to the consolidated financial statements).

Discover Activities. The asset securitization market is a significant source of funding for the Company’s
Discover business. By utilizing this market, the Company further diversifies its funding sources, realizes cost-
effective funding and reduces reliance on the Company’s other funding sources, including unsecured debt. The
securitization transaction structures utilized for the Discover business are accounted for as sales; i.e., off-balance
sheet transactions in accordance with U.S. GAAP (see Notes 2 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements). In
connection with its credit card securitization program, the Company transfers credit card receivables, on a
revolving basis, to the trusts, which issue asset-backed securities that are registered with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), are used to support the issuance of publicly listed notes or are privately
placed. This structure includes certain features designed to protect the investors that could result in earlier-than-
expected amortization of the transactions, potentially resulting in the need for the Company to obtain alternative
funding arrangements. The primary feature relates to the availability and adequacy of cash flows in the
securitized pool of receivables to meet contractual requirements (“economic early amortization™).

Economic early amortization risk reflects the possibility of negative net securitization cash flows (which would
occur if the coupon, contractual servicing fee and net charge-offs exceeded the collections of finance charges and
cardmember fees on securitized credit card receivables) and is driven primarily by the trusts’ credit card
receivables performance (in particular, receivables yield, cardmember fees and credit losses incurred) as well as
the contractual rate of return of the asset-backed securities. In the event of an economic early amortization,
receivables that otherwise would have been subsequently purchased by the trusts from the Company would
instead continue to be recognized on the Company’s consolidated statements of financial condition since the cash
flows generated in the trusts would instead be used to repay investors in the asset-backed securities. These
recognized receivables would require the Company to obtain alternative funding. Although the Company
believes that the combination of factors that would result in an economic early amortization event is remote, the
Company also believes its access to alternative funding sources would mitigate this potential liquidity risk.

A group of banks is committed to provide up to $1.3 billion under a credit facility that supports the short-term
extendible asset-backed certificate program issued by the Discover Card Master Trust I. Such credit facility was
renewed in the first quarter of fiscal 2005.

Guarantees. FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 457), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements
for Guarantees, Including Indirect of Indebtedness of Others,” requires the Company to disclose information
about its obligations under certain guarantee arrangements. FIN 45 defines guarantees as contracts and
indemnification agreements that contingently require a guarantor to make payments to the guaranteed party based
on changes in an underlying (such as an interest or foreign exchange rate, security or commodity price, an index
or the occurrence or non-occurrence of a specified event) related to an asset, liability or equity security of a
guaranteed party. FIN 45 also defines guarantees as contracts that contingently require the guarantor to make
payments to the guaranteed party based on another entity’s failure to perform under an agreement as well as
indirect guarantees of the indebtedness of others.

The table below summarizes certain information regarding derivative contracts, financial guarantees to third
parties, market value guarantees and liquidity facilities at November 30, 2004:

Maximum Potential Payout/Notional

Years to Maturity Carrying Collateral/
Type of Guarantee Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Total Amount  Recourse
(dollars in millions)

Derivative contracts .............. $473,598  $281,033 $294,873 $254,354 $1,303,858 $16,970 $120
Standby letters of credit and other

financial guarantees .. ........... 337 196 95 27 655 7 161
Market value guarantees ........... 51 17 286 536 890 46 57
Liquidity facilities ................ 922 889 — 176 1,987 — —
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See Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements for information on indemnities, exchange/clearinghouse
member guarantees, general partner guarantees, securitized asset guarantees, merchant chargeback guarantees
and other guarantees.

Contractual Obligations and Contingent Liabilities and Commitments.

In connection with its operating activities, the Company enters into certain contractual obligations, as well as
commitments to fund certain fixed assets and other less liquid investments.

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various contractual obligations that may require future
cash payments. Contractual obligations at November 30, 2004, include long-term borrowings, operating leases
and purchase obligations. The Company’s future cash payments associated with its contractual obligations as of
November 30, 2004 are summarized below:

Payments due in:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2006-2007 2008-2009 Thereafter Total

(dollars in millions)

Long-term borrowings(1) ............ ... ... ...... $12,764 $33,283 $14,866 $34,373 $ 95,286
Operating leases(2) ..., 500 870 698 2,209 4,277
Purchase obligations(3) ............ ... ... .. ..... 707 466 173 62 1,408

Total ... $13,971 $34,619 $15,737 $36,644 $100,971

(1) See Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

(2) See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

(3) Purchase obligations for goods and services include payments for, among other things, consulting, outsourcing, advertising, sponsorship,
business acquisitions, and computer and telecommunications maintenance agreements. Purchase obligations at November 30, 2004
reflect the minimum contractual obligation under legally enforceable contracts with contract terms that are both fixed and determinable.
These amounts exclude obligations for goods and services that already have been incurred and are reflected on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet.

The Company’s commitments associated with outstanding letters of credit, principal investments and private
equity activities, and lending and financing commitments as of November 30, 2004 are summarized below by
period of expiration. Since commitments associated with letters of credit and lending and financing arrangements
may expire unused, the amounts shown do not necessarily reflect the actual future cash funding requirements:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2005 2006-2007 2008-2009 Thereafter Total

(dollars in millions)

Letters of credit(2) . ... $8433 $ 8 $ — $ — $ 8,518
Principal investment and private equity activities ....... 89 10 79 7 185
Investment grade lending commitments(3)(5) .......... 6,281 3,536 7,943 1,229 18,989
Non-investment grade lending commitments(3)(5) ...... 240 550 336 283 1,409
Commitments for secured lending transactions(4) .. ... .. 7,273 673 136 176 8,258
Commitments to purchase mortgage loans(6) .......... 5,957 — — — 5,957

Total(1) ..o $28,273 $4,854  $8,494 $1,695  $43,316

(1) See Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

(2) This amount represents the Company’s outstanding letters of credit, which are primarily used to satisfy various collateral requirements.

(3) The Company’s investment grade and non-investment grade lending commitments are made in connection with its corporate lending
activities. See “Less Liquid Assets—Lending Activities” herein.

(4) This amount represents lending commitments extended by the Company to companies that are secured by assets of the borrower. Loans
made under these arrangements typically are at variable rates and generally provide for over-collateralization based upon the
creditworthiness of the borrower.

(5) Credit ratings are determined by the Company’s Institutional Credit Department using methodologies generally consistent with those
employed by external rating agencies. Credit ratings of BB+ or lower are considered non-investment grade.

(6) This amount represents the Company’s forward purchase contracts involving mortgage loans.
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The table above does not include commitments to extend credit for consumer loans of approximately $259
billion. Such commitments arise primarily from agreements with customers for unused lines of credit on certain
credit cards, provided there is no violation of conditions established in the related agreement. These
commitments, substantially all of which the Company can terminate at any time and which do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements, are periodically reviewed based on account usage and customer
creditworthiness (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements). In addition, in the ordinary course of
business, the Company guarantees the debt and/or certain trading obligations (including obligations associated
with derivatives, foreign exchange contracts and the settlement of physical commodities) of certain subsidiaries.
These guarantees generally are entity or product specific and are required by investors or trading counterparties.
The activities of the subsidiaries covered by these guarantees (including any related debt or trading obligations)
are included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

At November 30, 2004, the Company had commitments to enter into reverse repurchase and repurchase
agreements of approximately $75 billion and $60 billion, respectively.

Less Liquid Assets.

At November 30, 2004, certain assets of the Company, such as real property, equipment and leasehold
improvements of $2.6 billion, aircraft assets of $3.9 billion (see “Discontinued Operations” herein), and goodwill
and intangible assets of $2.2 billion, were illiquid. Certain equity investments made in connection with the
Company’s private equity and other principal investment activities, certain high-yield debt securities, certain
collateralized mortgage obligations and mortgage-related loan products, bridge financings, and certain senior
secured loans and positions also are not highly liquid.

At November 30, 2004, the Company had aggregate principal investments associated with its private equity and
other principal investment activities (including direct investments and partnership interests) with a carrying value
of approximately $910 million, of which approximately $300 million represented the Company’s investments in
its real estate funds.

High-Yield Instruments. In connection with the Company’s fixed income securities activities, the Company
underwrites, trades, invests and makes markets in non-investment grade instruments (‘“high-yield instruments”).
For purposes of this discussion, high-yield instruments are defined as fixed income, emerging market, preferred
equity securities and distressed debt rated BB+ or lower (or equivalent ratings by recognized credit rating
agencies) as well as non-rated securities which, in the opinion of the Company, contain credit risks associated
with non-investment grade instruments. For purposes of this discussion, positions associated with the Company’s
credit derivatives business are not included because reporting gross market value exposures would not accurately
reflect the risks associated with these positions due to the manner in which they are risk-managed. High-yield
instruments generally involve greater risk than investment grade securities due to the lower credit ratings of the
issuers, which typically have relatively high levels of indebtedness and, therefore, are more sensitive to adverse
economic conditions. In addition, the market for high-yield instruments can be characterized as having periods of
higher volatility and reduced liquidity. The Company monitors total inventory positions and risk concentrations
for high-yield instruments in a manner consistent with the Company’s market risk management policies and
control structure. The Company manages its aggregate and single-issuer net exposure through the use of
derivatives and other financial instruments. The Company records high-yield instruments at fair value.
Unrealized gains and losses are recognized currently in the consolidated statements of income.

The market value of the Company’s high-yield instruments owned and high-yield instruments sold, not yet
purchased are shown below:

At At
November 30, November 30,
2004 2003
(dollars in billions)
High-yield instruments owned . ........... ...t $7.2 $3.7
High-yield instruments sold, not yet purchased ................. ... ... .. .... 24 0.8
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Lending Activities. In connection with certain of its Institutional business activities, the Company provides
loans or lending commitments (including bridge financing) to selected clients. The borrowers may be rated
investment grade or non-investment grade. These loans and commitments have varying terms, may be senior or
subordinated, are generally contingent upon representations, warranties and contractual conditions applicable to
the borrower, and may be syndicated or traded by the Company. For further information on these activities, see
“Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk—Credit Risk™ in Part II, Item 7A.

Regulatory Developments.

In April 2004, the SEC approved the CSE Rule that establishes a voluntary framework for comprehensive,
group-wide risk management procedures and consolidated supervision of certain financial services holding
companies by the SEC. The framework is designed to minimize the duplicative regulatory requirements on U.S.
securities firms resulting from the European Union (“EU”) Directive (2002/87/EC) concerning the
supplementary supervision of financial conglomerates active in the EU. The CSE Rule also would allow
MS&Co., one of the Company’s U.S. broker-dealers, to use an alternative method, based on mathematical
models, to calculate net capital charges for market and derivatives-related credit risk. Under the CSE Rule, the
SEC will regulate the holding company and any unregulated affiliate of a registered broker-dealer, including
subjecting the holding company to capital requirements generally consistent with the standards of the Basel
Committee on Banking Supervision (“Basel II’). In December 2004, the Company applied to the SEC for
permission to operate under the CSE Rule and expects to be approved in fiscal 2005.

The Company continues to work with its regulators to understand and assess the impact of the CSE Rule and
Basel II capital standards. The Company cannot fully predict the impact that these changes will have on its
businesses; however, compliance with consolidated supervision and the imposition of revised capital standards
are likely to impose additional costs and may affect capital raising and allocation decisions.

Regulatory Capital Requirements.

MS&Co. and Morgan Stanley DW Inc. (“MSDWI”) are registered broker-dealers and registered futures
commission merchants and, accordingly, are subject to the minimum net capital requirements of the SEC, the
New York Stock Exchange and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission. MSIL, a London-based broker-
dealer subsidiary, is subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority, and MSJL, a Tokyo-
based broker-dealer subsidiary, is subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Agency. MS&Co.,
MSDWI, MSIL and MSJL have consistently operated in excess of their respective regulatory capital
requirements (see Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements).

Under regulatory capital requirements adopted by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”) and
other bank regulatory agencies, FDIC-insured financial institutions must maintain (a) 3% to 5% of Tier 1 capital,
as defined, to average assets (“leverage ratio”), (b) 4% of Tier 1 capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“Tier
1 risk-weighted capital ratio”) and (c) 8% of total capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“total risk-weighted
capital ratio”). At November 30, 2004, the leverage ratio, Tier 1 risk-weighted capital ratio and total
risk-weighted capital ratio of each of the Company’s FDIC-insured financial institutions exceeded these
regulatory minimums.

Certain other U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries are subject to various securities, commodities and banking
regulations and capital adequacy requirements promulgated by the regulatory and exchange authorities of the
countries in which they operate. These subsidiaries have consistently operated in excess of their local capital
adequacy requirements. Morgan Stanley Derivative Products Inc., the Company’s triple-A rated derivative
products subsidiary, maintains certain operating restrictions that have been reviewed by various rating agencies.

Effects of Inflation and Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.

The Company’s assets to a large extent are liquid in nature, and, therefore, not significantly affected by inflation,
although inflation may result in increases in the Company’s expenses, which may not be readily recoverable in

MorganStanley 50



the price of services offered. To the extent inflation results in rising interest rates and has other adverse effects
upon the securities markets, upon the value of financial instruments and upon the markets for consumer credit
services, it may adversely affect the Company’s financial position and profitability.

A significant portion of the Company’s business is conducted in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, and
changes in foreign exchange rates relative to the U.S. dollar can therefore affect the value of non-U.S. dollar net
assets, revenues and expenses. Potential exposures as a result of these fluctuations in currencies are closely
monitored, and, where cost-justified, strategies are adopted that are designed to reduce the impact of these
fluctuations on the Company’s financial performance. These strategies may include the financing of non-U.S.
dollar assets with direct or swap-based borrowings in the same currency and the use of currency forward
contracts or the spot market in various hedging transactions related to net assets, revenues, expenses or cash
flows.

New Accounting Developments.

Variable Interest Entities. In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, which clarified the application of
Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” to certain entities in which equity
investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk
for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties
(“variable interest entities”). Variable interest entities (“VIE”) are required to be consolidated by their primary
beneficiaries if they do not effectively disperse risks among parties involved. Under FIN 46, the primary
beneficiary of a VIE is the party that absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of its
expected residual returns, or both, as a result of holding variable interests. FIN 46 also requires disclosures about
VIEs (see Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements).

The Company is involved with various entities in the normal course of business that may be deemed to be VIEs
and may hold interests therein, including debt securities, interest-only strip investments and derivative
instruments that may be considered variable interests. Transactions associated with these entities include asset-
and mortgage-backed securitizations and structured financings (including collateralized debt, bond or loan
obligations and credit-linked notes). The Company engages in these transactions principally to facilitate client
needs and as a means of selling financial assets. The Company consolidates entities in which it has a controlling
financial interest in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. For those entities
deemed to be qualifying special purpose entities (as defined in SFAS No. 140), which includes the credit card
asset securitization master trusts (see Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements), the Company does not
consolidate the entity.

On February 1, 2003, the Company adopted FIN 46 for VIEs created after January 31, 2003 and for VIEs in
which the Company obtains an interest after January 31, 2003. In October 2003, the FASB deferred the effective
date of FIN 46 for arrangements with VIEs existing prior to February 1, 2003 to fiscal periods ending after
December 15, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB issued a revision of FIN 46 (“FIN 46R”) to address certain
technical corrections and implementation issues that have arisen. As of February 29, 2004, the Company adopted
FIN 46 or FIN 46R for all of its variable interests. For these variable interests, the Company consolidated those
VIEs (including financial asset-backed securitization, mortgage-backed securitization, collateral debt obligation,
credit-linked note, structured note, municipal bond trust, equity-linked note and exchangeable trust entities) in
which the Company was the primary beneficiary. In limited instances, the Company deconsolidated VIEs for
which it was not the primary beneficiary as a result of the adoption of FIN 46R. This is further discussed in Note
12 to the consolidated financial statements with respect to the statutory trusts that had issued preferred securities
subject to mandatory redemption. As of May 31, 2004, the Company adopted FIN 46R for those variable
interests that were previously accounted for under FIN 46. The effect of adopting FIN 46 and FIN 46R as of
February 29, 2004 and May 31, 2004 did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated results of
operations or consolidated financial position.
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American Jobs Creation Act of 2004. In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position (“FSP”) No. 109-2,
“Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004”. The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”), signed into law on October 22,
2004, provides for a special one-time tax deduction, or dividend received deduction (“DRD”), of 85% of
qualifying foreign earnings that are repatriated in either a company’s last tax year that began before the
enactment date or the first tax year that begins during the one-year period beginning on the enactment date. FSP
109-2 provides entities additional time to assess the effect of repatriating foreign earnings under the Act for
purposes of applying SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” which typically requires the effect of a
new tax law to be recorded in the period of enactment. The Company will elect, if applicable, to apply the DRD
to qualifying dividends of foreign earnings repatriated in its fiscal year ending November 30, 2005.

The Company is awaiting further clarifying guidance from the U.S. Treasury Department on certain provisions of
the Act. Once this guidance is received, the Company expects to complete its evaluation of the effects of the Act
during fiscal 2005. Under the limitations on the amount of dividends qualifying for the DRD of the Act, the
maximum repatriation of the Company’s foreign earnings that may qualify for the special one-time DRD is
approximately $4.0 billion. Therefore, the range of possible amounts of qualifying dividends of foreign earnings
is between zero and approximately $4.0 billion. Because the evaluation is ongoing, it is not yet practical to
estimate a range of possible income tax effects of potential repatriations.

Stock-Based Compensation. Effective December 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123, as amended
by SFAS No. 148, using the prospective adoption method. The Company currently records compensation
expense based upon the fair value of stock-based awards (both deferred stock and stock options) in accordance
with SFAS No. 123. Prior to fiscal 2003, the Company accounted for its stock-based awards under the intrinsic
value approach in accordance with APB 25 (see “Equity-Based Compensation Program” herein and Notes 2 and
14 to the consolidated financial statements).

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised) (“SFAS No. 123R”), “Share-Based Payment”.
SFAS No. 123R eliminates the intrinsic value method under APB 25 as an alternative method of accounting for
stock-based awards. SFAS No. 123R also revises the fair value-based method of accounting for share-based
payment liabilities, forfeitures and modifications of stock-based awards and clarifies SFAS No. 123’s guidance
in several areas, including measuring fair value, classifying an award as equity or as a liability and attributing
compensation cost to reporting periods. In addition, SFAS No. 123R amends SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash
Flows,” to require that excess tax benefits be reported as a financing cash inflow rather than as a reduction of
taxes paid, which is included within operating cash flows.

The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 123R for the interim period beginning September 1, 2005 using a
modified version of prospective application or may elect to apply a modified version of retrospective application.
The Company currently expects to early adopt SFAS No. 123R using the modified prospective method with an
effective date of December 1, 2004. The Company’s past practice for recognizing compensation expense for
equity-based awards included the recognition of a portion of the award in the year of grant. Based upon the terms
of the Company’s equity-based compensation program, the Company will no longer be able to recognize a
portion of the award in the grant year under SFAS No. 123R. This will have the effect of reducing compensation
expense in fiscal 2005. As a result, fiscal 2005 compensation expense will include the amortization of fiscal 2003
and fiscal 2004 awards but will not include any amortization for fiscal 2005 awards. If SFAS No. 123R was not
in effect, fiscal 2005’s compensation expense would have included three years of amortization (i.e., for awards
granted in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005). In addition, the fiscal 2005 awards, which will begin to be
amortized in fiscal 2006, will be amortized over a shorter period (2 and 3 years) as compared with awards
granted in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 (3 and 4 years).
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Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of
Morgan Stanley:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial condition of Morgan Stanley and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of November 30, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of
income, comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in shareholders’ equity for each of the three years in the
period ended November 30, 2004. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Morgan Stanley and subsidiaries as of November 30, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended November 30, 2004, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

As discussed in Note 14, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation—Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123,” in 2003.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of November 30,
2004, based on the criteria established in “Internal Control—Integrated Framework™ issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 7, 2005 expressed an
unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting and an unqualified opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

O £ ol .

New York, New York
February 7, 2005 (October 12, 2005 as to the effects of discontinued operations and segment classification
discussed in Note 27)
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MORGAN STANLEY

Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition
(dollars in millions, except share data)

November 30,

November 30,

2004 2003
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents . ........... ..ttt $ 32,811 $ 29,692
Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under
federal and other regulations (including securities at fair value of $27,219 in 2004
and $18,957 10 2003) . . ..ot 36,742 28,526
Financial instruments owned (approximately $91 billion and $73 billion were
pledged to various parties at November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003,
respectively):
U.S. government and agency SECUrities . ..............ouuuerenenennennnn 26,201 24,133
Other sovereign government obligations ...................c..o.ouvno... 19,782 21,592
Corporate and otherdebt . ...... ... ... .. . 80,336 80,594
COrporate EQUILIES . . . oot vttt ettt e e e e 28,157 30,180
Derivative CONTIACES . . ..t e e e e e e e e e 67,092 44,652
Physical commodities .. ........... .. e 1,224 671
Total financial instruments owned ... ......... ...ttt 222,792 201,822
Securities purchased under agreements toresell .. ............................ 123,041 78,205
Securities received as collateral . ........... . ... 37,848 27,278
Securities DOITOWEd . . . ... oo 208,349 153,813
Receivables:
Consumer loans (net of allowances of $943 in 2004 and $1,002 in 2003) ... ... 20,226 19,382
CUSTOMETS, NEL . . o o vt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 57,841 37,321
Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations . ............................ 12,707 5,563
Fees, interestand other . ........... .. . . . . 5,801 4,349
Office facilities, at cost (less accumulated depreciation of $2,780 in 2004 and $2,506
N 2003) .. e 2,605 2,433
Aircraft under operating leases (less accumulated depreciation of $1,174 in 2004 and
$O84 10 2003) .. 3,926 4,407
Goodwill and intangible assets ... ......... ..t 2,199 1,523
Other ASSELS . o v vttt 8,522 8,529
TOtal @SSELS .« - o v e e e e e e e e e $775,410 $602,843
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MORGAN STANLEY

Consolidated Statements of Financial Condition—(Continued)
(dollars in millions, except share data)

November 30, November 30,

2004 2003

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Commercial paper and other short-term borrowings ............... .. .. ... .. ... $ 36,303 $ 28,386
DEPOSILS . ottt 13,777 12,839
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased:

U.S. government and agency SeCUurities .....................ouueninn... 12,664 17,072

Other sovereign government obligations . ..................cooveuien.... 14,787 17,505

Corporate and otherdebt . . . ... .. . . 9,641 10,141

COrporate EqUILIES . . .. oo vv ettt et et e e 27,332 25,615

Derivative CONIACES . . . . . oottt et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 55,820 36,242

Physical commodities ... ........ ... i 3,351 4,873
Total financial instruments sold, not yet purchased ............. .. ... .. ... ... 123,595 111,448
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase .. ........... ... .. ..., 188,645 147,618
Obligation to return securities received as collateral ........................... 37,848 27,278
Securities loaned . . ... .. . 97,146 64,375
Payables:

CUSTOMETS & o oo e e e e e e e e e e e e 133,270 96,794

Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations . ................c..oueuenen... 4,550 5,706

Interest and dividends . .. ... . 3,068 2,138
Other liabilities and accrued €XPenses . . ... ....vut vt 13,650 12,918
Long-term borrowings .. ... ...ttt e 95,286 65,600

747,138 575,100

Capital UNits . ..ot e e e e 66 66
Preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption ............ ... ... ... .... — 2,810
Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:

Common stock, $0.01 par value;

Shares authorized: 3,500,000,000 in 2004 and 2003;

Shares issued: 1,211,701,552 in 2004 and 1,211,699,552 in 2003;

Shares outstanding: 1,087,087,116 in 2004 and 1,084,696,446 in 2003 ...... 12 12
Paid-incapital .. ... ... e 3,696 4,028
Retained earnings ... ...ttt e 31,426 28,038
Employee StoCK trust . . . ..o e 3,824 3,008
Accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss) ......................... (56) (156)

Subtotal .. ... 38,902 34,930
Note receivable related to ESOP .. ...... ... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... ...... — @)
Common stock held in treasury, at cost, $0.01 par value;

124,614,436 shares in 2004 and 127,003,106 shares in 2003 .............. (6,614) (6,766)
Common stock issued to employee trust . ..., (2,474) (2,420)
Unearned stock-based compensation . ..................oiiuiiiininan... (1,608) (873)

Total shareholders’ equity . ........ ...t 28,206 24,867
Total liabilities and shareholders” equity . ..............coovrieinnernn... $775,410  $602,843

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY

Consolidated Statements of Income
(dollars in millions, except share and per share data)

Fiscal Year

2004 2003 2002
Revenues:
Investment banking . .. ....... ... ... $ 3,341 $ 2,440 $ 2,478
Principal transactions:
Trading .. ..ot 5,605 6,286 3,527
Investments ... ..... ... .ttt 512 86 31
COMMUSSIONS .« . ottt et et e e e e 3,264 2,887 3,191
Fees:
Asset management, distribution and administration . .. ........ 4,473 3,814 4,033
Merchant and cardmember . ......... .. ... ... .. .. ... 1,317 1,377 1,421
SEIVICING . oottt e 1,921 1,922 2,032
Interest and dividends . ......... ... ... ... i 18,584 15,738 15,876
OtheT . ..ottt 324 226 399
Total TEVENUES . . . .ot e 39,341 34,776 32,926
INterest EXPense . . ...ttt t e 14,707 12,693 12,515
Provision for consumer loanlosses ................. ... ...... 926 1,266 1,337
NELTEVEINUES . . vttt ettt e et e et e et et e e 23,708 20,817 19,074
Non-interest expenses:
Compensation and benefits .. ........ .. .. .. .. .. ... 9,853 8,522 7,910
Occupancy and equipment ... .........c.veueunennenneneen .. 846 791 822
Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees ........... ... ... ... .... 932 838 779
Information processing and communications ... ................. 1,309 1,287 1,374
Marketing and business development . . ........................ 1,123 962 1,102
Professional Services . . ..........oiiiii i 1,542 1,129 1,086
OthCT . ..ttt 1,285 1,128 907
Restructuring and other charges ............... ... ... ....... — — 235
Total non-interest eXPenses .. ...........oeueunennenaen . 16,890 14,657 14,215
Income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated
investees, income taxes and dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption ... ........... i 6,818 6,160 4,859
Losses from unconsolidated investees . ................c..cvenaon.. 328 279 77
Provision for inCome taxes . ... .........iiuiiin i 1,856 1,707 1,625
Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption . . . . .. 45 154 87
Income from continuing operations .............. ... ... ... 4,589 4,020 3,070
Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations (including loss on disposal of $42
million in fiscal 2004) . .. ... .. (172) (393) (138)
Income tax benefit ........... .. ... .. 69 160 56
Loss on discontinued operations . . .. ............c..o.oo... (103) (233) (82)
NELINCOME ..ottt ettt et e et e et $ 4,486 $ 3,787 $ 2,988
Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations ........................... $ 425 $ 374 $ 2.84
Loss from discontinued operations .. ...............c..o.ven.... (0.10) (0.22) (0.08)
Basic earnings per common share ........................ $ 415 $ 352 % 2.76
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations . .......................... $ 415 $ 3.66 $ 2.76
Loss from discontinued operations .. ................c.coouo.... (0.09) (0.21) (0.07)
Diluted earnings per common share . .......................... $ 4.06 $ 345 % 2.69
Average common shares outstanding:
BasiC .. 1,080,121,708 1,076,754,740  1,083,270,783
Diluted .. ... 1,105,185,480 1,099,117,972  1,109,637,953

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(dollars in millions)

Fiscal Year
2004 2003 2002

NELINCOIME . o . vttt e e et e e e e e e e e e $4,486 $3,787 $2,988
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment .............. .. ... ..., 76 78 30
Net change in cash flow hedges .......... ... .. i ... 26 26 —
Minimum pension liability adjustment ............... ... ... ... . ..., .. 2) ©) (19)
Comprehensive INCOME . . ..t v vttt ettt et et et e e e et $4,586 $3,882 $2,999

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(dollars in millions)

Fiscal Year

2004 2003 2002
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NELINCOME . . o v oe et et et e e e e e e e e e e $ 4486 $ 3,787 $ 2988
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash (used for) provided by operating
activities:
Non-cash charges (credits) included in net income:
Aircraft-related charges . ... ... ... 109 323 74
Gain on sale of building and sale of self-directed online brokerage accounts . .. ... — — (125)
Deferred INCOME taAXES . . . . oottt e et e e e (261) 221 (17)
Compensation payable in common stock and options . ....................... 663 309 400
Depreciation and amortization . ................iiui it 805 637 787
Provision for consumer loan losses . ......... .. .. i i i 925 1,267 1,336
Restructuring and other charges ........... ... ... . ... ... ... — — 235
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under
federal and other regulations . ............ .. .. i (8,216) 9,885 7,915
Financial instruments owned, net of financial instruments sold, not yet
purchased . . ... .. (11,522) (4,452)  (15,528)
Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned ............... ... ... ... .. ..... (21,765) (2,263) (3,193)
Receivables and other assets .. ...ttt (26,876)  (16,151) 5,469
Payables and other liabilities . . ......... ... . 37,110 8,793 (5,354)
Net cash (used for) provided by operating activities . . .. ... aon.. (24,542) 2,356 (5,013)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net (payments for) proceeds from:
Office facilities and aircraft under operating leases ............ ... ... .. ...... (533) (604) (1,124)
Purchase of Barra, Inc., net of cash acquired ............. ... ... ... .. ... ..... (758) — —
Net principal disbursed on consumerloans . .......... ... .. .. ... (9,359) (8,498) (11,447)
Sale of self-directed online brokerage accounts .............. ... ... . ... ... — — 98
Sales of consumer 10ans . ......... ... 7,590 10,864 6,777
Net cash (used for) provided by investing activities . ... ............uuiiunennenaen.. (3,060) 1,762 (5,696)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net proceeds from (payments for):
Short-term bOrTOWINGS . . ..ottt e e 7917  (22,403) 17,947
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, net of securities purchased under
agreements to resell and certain derivatives financing activities ................ (1,914) 10,360 (8,524)
DIEPOSIES .« . o ettt e 938 (918) 1,481
Net proceeds from:
Issuance of common stock . ... ... ... 322 222 179
Issuance of put OPHONS . . .. oottt e e — — 6
Issuance of long-term borrowings . ... ...ttt 37,601 21,486 11,043
Issuance of preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption ................. — 2,000 —
Payments for:
Repayments of long-term borrowings . ... ...ttt (11,915)  (12,641) (6,472)
Redemption of preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption .............. — (400) —
Redemption of cumulative preferred stock . .......... ... .. ... . L. — — (345)
Repurchases of common Stock .. ...t e (1,132) (350) (990)
Cashdividends ....... ... ... (1,096) (994) (1,000)
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities . . .. ........ ... ... .. 30,721 (3,638) 13,325
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents . ......... ... .. . .. 3,119 480 2,616
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of period . ........... ... ... .. .. .. ... . ... 29,692 29,212 26,596
Cash and cash equivalents, atend of period .. .......... .. .. .. . i $32,811 $29,692 $297212

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

MorganStanley 58



BALANCE AT
NOVEMBER 30,2001 . .....
Netincome ..................
Dividends ...................
Redemption of Cumulative
Preferred Stock
Issuance of common stock . . . ...
Issuance of put options
Exercise of put options
Repurchases of common stock . .
Compensation payable in
common stock
Tax benefits associated with
stock-based awards
Employee tax withholdings and
other .................. ...
Minimum pension liability
adjustment ................
Translation adjustments .. ......

BALANCE AT

NOVEMBER 30,2002 ... ...
Netincome ..................
Dividends ...................
Issuance of common stock . . . ...
Repurchases of common stock . .
Compensation payable in

common stock and options . ..
Tax benefits associated with

stock-based awards
Employee tax withholdings and

other .....................
Net change in cash flow

hedges
Minimum pension liability

adjustment ................
Translation adjustments .. ......

BALANCE AT

NOVEMBER 30,2003 .. ....
Netincome ..................
Dividends ...................
Issuance of common stock . . . ...
Repurchases of common stock . .
Compensation payable in

common stock and options . ..
Tax benefits associated with

stock-based awards
Employee tax withholdings and

other .....................
Net change in cash flow

hedges
Minimum pension liability

adjustment ................
Translation adjustments .. ......

BALANCE AT
NOVEMBER 30,2004 . . . ...

MORGAN STANLEY

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

Preferred Common Paid-in Retained Stock Comprehensive Related to Treasury Employee Stock-Based

(dollars in millions)

Accumulated

Employee Other

Common Common
Note Stock Stock
Receivable Held in Issued to

Unearned

Stock Stock Capital Earnings Trust Income (Loss) ESOP at Cost Trust Compensation Total
$ 345 $ 12 $3,745 $23270 $3,086 $(262) $ (Bl)  $(6,935) $(2,514) $ — $20,716
_ _ _ , — — — — — — 2,988
— — — 008)  — — — — — — (1.008)
(345) — — — — — — — — — (345)
— — (868) — — — — 1,047 — — 179
— — 6 — — — — — — — 6

_ _ 5) _ _ _ _ 35 _ _ _
— — — — — — — (990) — — (990)
— — 486 — (83) — 18 83 (104) — 400
_ — 282 — — — — — — — 282
— — 32 — — — — (386) — — (354)
— — — — — (19) — — — — (19)
— — — — — 30 — — — — 30
— 12 3,678 25,250 3,003 (251) (13) (7,176)  (2,618) — 21,885
— — — 3,787 — — — — — — 3,787
— — — (999) — — — — — — (999)
— — o — — — — 1,199 — — 222
— — — — — — — (350) — — (350)
— — 923 — 5 — 16 40 198 (873) 309
— — 333 — — — — — — — 333
— — 71 — — — (7) (479) — — (415)
— — — — — 26 — — — — 26
— — - - = ©) — — — — ©)
_ _ _ — — 78 — — — — 78
— 12 4,028 28,038 3,008 (156) 4 (6,766)  (2,420) (873) 24,867
— — — 4,486 — — — — — — 4,486
— — —1098)  — — — — — — (1.098)
— — (1,304) — — — — 1,626 — — 322
— — — — — — — (1,132) — — (1,132)
— — 563 — 816 — 4 69 (54) (735) 663
— — 331 — — — — — — — 331
— — 78 — — — — (411) — — (333)
— — — — — 26 — — — — 26
— — - - = 2) — — — — 2)
— — — — — 76 — — — — 76
$— $ 12 $3,696 $31,426 $3,824 $ (56) $ — $(6,614) $(2,474) $(1,608)  $28,206

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
N
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MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Introduction and Basis of Presentation.

The Company. Morgan Stanley (the “Company”) is a global financial services firm that maintains leading
market positions in each of its business segments—Institutional Securities, Retail Brokerage, Asset Management
and Discover. The Company’s Institutional Securities business includes securities underwriting and distribution;
financial advisory services, including advice on mergers and acquisitions, restructurings, real estate and project
finance; sales, trading, financing and market-making activities in equity securities and related products and fixed
income securities and related products, including foreign exchange and commodities; principal investing and real
estate investment management; providing benchmark indices and risk management analytics; and research. The
Company’s Retail Brokerage business provides comprehensive brokerage, investment and financial services
designed to accommodate individual investment goals and risk profiles. The Company’s Asset Management
business provides global asset management products and services for individual and institutional investors
through three principal distribution channels: a proprietary channel consisting of the Company’s representatives;
a non-proprietary channel consisting of third-party broker-dealers, banks, financial planners and other
intermediaries; and the Company’s institutional channel. The Company’s Discover business offers Discover®-
branded cards and other consumer finance products and services, and includes the operation of Discover
Network, a network of merchant and cash access locations primarily in the U.S. Morgan Stanley-branded credit
cards and personal loan products that are offered in the U.K. are also included in the Discover business segment.
The Company provides its products and services to a large and diversified group of clients and customers,
including corporations, governments, financial institutions and individuals.

Basis of Financial Information. The consolidated financial statements for the 12 months ended November 30,
2004 (“fiscal 2004”), November 30, 2003 (“fiscal 2003’) and November 30, 2002 (“fiscal 2002”) are prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., which require the Company to make
estimates and assumptions regarding the valuations of certain financial instruments, consumer loan loss levels,
the outcome of litigation, and other matters that affect the consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures. The Company believes that the estimates utilized in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements are prudent and reasonable. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly owned subsidiaries and
other entities in which the Company has a controlling financial interest. The Company’s policy is to consolidate
all entities in which it owns more than 50% of the outstanding voting stock unless it does not control the entity.
In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46 (“FIN 46”),
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” as revised, the Company also consolidates any variable interest
entities for which it is the primary beneficiary (see Note 19). For investments in companies in which the
Company has significant influence over operating and financial decisions (generally defined as owning a voting
or economic interest of 20% to 50%), the Company applies the equity method of accounting. In those cases
where the Company’s investment is less than 20% and significant influence does not exist, such investments are
carried at cost.

The Company’s U.S. and international subsidiaries include Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (“MS&Co.”),
Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited (“MSIL”), Morgan Stanley Japan Limited (“MSJL”), Morgan
Stanley DW Inc. (“MSDWTI”), Morgan Stanley Investment Advisors Inc. and NOVUS Credit Services Inc.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-year amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation. All
material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.

Discontinued Operations. Results of the Company’s aircraft leasing business have been reported as




MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

reclassified as discontinued operations, the results of the Company’s aircraft leasing business were included in
the Institutional Securities business segment. See Note 27 for additional information on discontinued operations.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
Revenue Recognition.

Investment Banking. Underwriting revenues and fees for mergers, acquisitions and advisory assignments are
recorded when services for the transactions are determined to be completed, generally as set forth under the terms
of the engagement. Transaction-related expenses, primarily consisting of legal, travel and other costs directly
associated with the transaction, are deferred to match revenue recognition. Underwriting revenues are presented
net of related expenses. Non-reimbursed expenses associated with advisory transactions are recorded within Non-
interest expenses.

Commissions. The Company generates commissions from executing and clearing client transactions on stock,
options and futures markets. Commission revenues are recorded in the accounts on trade date.

Asset Management, Distribution and Administration Fees. Asset management, distribution and administration
fees are recognized over the relevant contract period, generally quarterly or annually. In certain management fee
arrangements, the Company is entitled to receive performance fees when the return on assets under management
exceeds certain benchmark returns or other performance targets. Performance fee revenue is accrued quarterly
based on measuring account/fund performance to date vs. the performance benchmark stated in the investment
management agreement.

Merchant and Cardmember Fees. Merchant and cardmember fees include revenues from fees charged to
merchants on credit card sales, as well as charges to cardmembers for late payment fees, overlimit fees, balance
transfer fees, credit protection fees and cash advance fees, net of cardmember rewards. Merchant and
cardmember fees are recognized as earned. Cardmember rewards include various reward programs, including the
Cashback Bonus award program, pursuant to which the Company pays certain cardmembers a percentage of their
purchase amounts based upon a cardmember’s level and type of purchases. The liability for cardmember rewards,
included in Other liabilities and accrued expenses, is accrued at the time that qualified cardmember transactions
occur and is calculated on an individual cardmember basis. In determining the liability for cardmember rewards,
the Company considers estimated forfeitures based on historical account closure, charge-off and transaction
activity. The Company records its Cashback Bonus award program as a reduction of Merchant and cardmember
fees.

Consumer Loans. Consumer loans, which consist primarily of general purpose credit card, mortgage and
consumer installment loans, are reported at their principal amounts outstanding less applicable allowances.
Interest on consumer loans is recorded to income as earned. Interest is accrued on credit card loans until the date
of charge-off, which generally occurs at the end of the month during which an account becomes 180 days past
due, except in the case of bankruptcies, deceased cardmembers and fraudulent transactions, where loans are
charged off earlier. The interest portion of charged-off credit card loans is written off against interest revenue.
Origination costs related to the issuance of credit cards are charged to earnings over periods not exceeding 12
months.

Financial Instruments Used for Trading and Investment. Financial instruments owned and Financial
instruments sold, not yet purchased, which include cash and derivative products, are recorded at fair value in the
consolidated statements of financial condition, and gains and losses are reflected in principal trading revenues in
the consolidated statements of income. Loans and lending commitments associated with the Company’s lending
activities also are recorded at fair value. Fair value is the amount at which financial instruments could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.
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The fair value of the Company’s Financial instruments owned and Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased
are generally based on observable market prices, observable market parameters or derived from such prices or
parameters based on bid prices or parameters for Financial instruments owned and ask prices or parameters for
Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased. In the case of financial instruments transacted on recognized
exchanges the observable prices represent quotations for completed transactions from the exchange on which the
financial instrument is principally traded. Bid prices represent the highest price a buyer is willing to pay for a
financial instrument at a particular time. Ask prices represent the lowest price a seller is willing to accept for a
financial instrument at a particular time.

A substantial percentage of the fair value of the Company’s Financial instruments owned and Financial
instruments sold, not yet purchased is based on observable market prices, observable market parameters, or is
derived from such prices or parameters. The availability of observable market prices and pricing parameters can
vary from product to product. Where available, observable market prices and pricing parameters in a product (or
a related product) may be used to derive a price without requiring significant judgment. In certain markets,
observable market prices or market parameters are not available for all products, and fair value is determined
using techniques appropriate for each particular product. These techniques involve some degree of judgment.

The price transparency of the particular product will determine the degree of judgment involved in determining
the fair value of the Company’s financial instruments. Price transparency is affected by a wide variety of factors,
including, for example, the type of product, whether it is a new product and not yet established in the
marketplace, and the characteristics particular to the transaction. Products for which actively quoted prices or
pricing parameters are available or for which fair value is derived from actively quoted prices or pricing
parameters will generally have a higher degree of price transparency. By contrast, products that are thinly traded
or not quoted will generally have reduced to no price transparency.

The fair value of over-the-counter (“OTC”) derivative contracts is derived primarily using pricing models, which
may require multiple market input parameters. Where appropriate, valuation adjustments are made to account for
credit quality and market liquidity. These adjustments are applied on a consistent basis and are based upon
observable market data where available. In the absence of observable market prices or parameters in an active
market, observable prices or parameters of other comparable current market transactions, or other observable
data supporting a fair value based on a pricing model at the inception of a contract, fair value is based on the
transaction price. The Company also uses pricing models to manage the risks introduced by OTC derivatives.
Depending on the product and the terms of the transaction, the fair value of OTC derivative products can be
modeled using a series of techniques, including closed form analytic formulae, such as the Black-Scholes option
pricing model, simulation models or a combination thereof, applied consistently. In the case of more established
derivative products, the pricing models used by the Company are widely accepted by the financial services
industry. Pricing models take into account the contract terms, including the maturity, as well as market
parameters such as interest rates, volatility and the creditworthiness of the counterparty.

Interest and dividend revenue and interest expense arising from financial instruments used in trading activities
are reflected in the consolidated statements of income as interest and dividend revenue or interest expense.
Purchases and sales of financial instruments and related expenses are recorded in the accounts on trade date.
Unrealized gains and losses arising from the Company’s dealings in OTC financial instruments, including
derivative contracts related to financial instruments and commodities, are presented in the accompanying
consolidated statements of financial condition on a net-by-counterparty basis, when appropriate.

Equity securities purchased in connection with private equity and other principal investment activities initially
are carried in the consolidated financial statements at their original costs, which approximate fair value. The
carrying value of such equity securities is adjusted when changes in the underlying fair values are readily
ascertainable, generally as evidenced by observable market prices or transactions that directly affect the value of

Morgan Stanley 62



swaps and foreign exchange forwards. The Company uses interest rate and currency swaps an d
to|manage interest rate, currency and equity price risk arising from certain liabilities. The Company alg
inferest rate swaps to match the repricing characteristics of consumer loans with those of the borro

MORGAN STANLEY
!\\ NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
[{[that the
nterests,
]n Other
qnges in
Fihancial Instruments Used for Asset and Liability Manage The Company enters into various ¢frivative
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— 1 anf cash flow hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Aftivities,” as amended.

lhe Company’s designated fair value hedges consist primarily of hedges of fixed rate borrgsings,
flixed rate borrowings that fund consumer loans. The Company’s designated cash flow hedges consist

fupd these loans. Certain of these derivative financial instruments are designated and qualify as fair Vallwlf
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retain interests in the securitized financial assets as one or more tranches of the securitization, undivided seller’s
interests, accrued interest receivable subordinate to investors’ interests (see Note 5), cash collateral accounts,
servicing rights, and rights to any excess cash flows remaining after payments to investors in the securitization
trusts of their contractual rate of return and reimbursement of credit losses. The exposure to credit losses from
securitized loans is limited to the Company’s retained contingent risk, which represents the Company’s retained
interest in securitized loans, including any credit enhancement provided. The gain or loss on the sale of financial
assets depends in part on the previous carrying amount of the assets involved in the transfer, and each subsequent
transfer in revolving structures, allocated between the assets sold and the retained interests based upon their
respective fair values at the date of sale. To obtain fair values, observable market prices are used if available.
However, observable market prices are generally not available for retained interests, so the Company estimates
fair value based on the present value of expected future cash flows using its best estimates of the key
assumptions, including forecasted credit losses, payment rates, forward yield curves and discount rates
commensurate with the risks involved. The present value of future net servicing revenues that the Company
estimates it will receive over the term of the securitized loans is recognized in income as the loans are
securitized. A corresponding asset also is recorded and then amortized as a charge to income over the term of the
securitized loans, with actual net servicing revenues continuing to be recognized in income as they are earned.

Aircraft under Operating Leases. Revenue from aircraft under operating leases is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Certain lease contracts may require the lessee to make separate payments for flight
hours and passenger miles flown. In such instances, the Company recognizes these other revenues as they are
earned in accordance with the terms of the applicable lease contract.

Aircraft Held for Sale. On August 17, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved
management’s recommendation to sell the Company’s aircraft leasing business (see Note 27). In connection with
this action, the aircraft leasing business was classified as “held for sale” under the provisions of SFAS No. 144 in
the third quarter of fiscal 2005. Results of the aircraft leasing business have been reported as discontinued
operations in the Company’s consolidated financial statements. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company
is required to assess the fair value of the aircraft leasing business until its ultimate disposition. Changes in the
estimated fair value may result in additional losses (or gains) in future periods as required by SFAS No. 144. A
gain would be recognized for any subsequent increase in fair value less cost to sell, but not in excess of the
cumulative loss previously recognized (for a write-down to fair value less cost to sell).

Aircraft to be Held and Used. Prior to the third quarter of fiscal 2005, aircraft under operating leases that were
to be held and used were stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges. Depreciation was
calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the aircraft asset, which was generally 25 years
from the date of manufacture. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company’s aircraft that were to be held and
used were reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying
value of the aircraft may not be recoverable (see Note 18).

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. For purposes of these statements, cash and cash equivalents consist
of cash and highly liquid investments not held for resale with maturities, when purchased, of three months or
less.

During fiscal 2003, in accordance with SFAS No. 149, “Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments
and Hedging Activities,” the Company modified its classification within the consolidated statement of cash flows
of the activity associated with certain derivative financial instruments. The activity related to derivative financial
instruments entered into or modified after June 30, 2003 and that have been determined to contain a financing
element at inception where the Company is deemed the borrower is included within Cash flows from financing
activities. Prior to July 1, 2003, the activity associated with such derivative financial instruments is included
within Cash flows from operating activities.
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Allowance for Consumer Loan Losses. The allowance for consumer loan losses is a significant estimate that
represents management’s estimate of probable losses inherent in the consumer loan portfolio. The allowance for
consumer loan losses is primarily applicable to the owned homogeneous consumer credit card loan portfolio that
is evaluated quarterly for adequacy and is established through a charge to the provision for consumer loan losses.

In calculating the allowance for consumer loan losses, the Company uses a systematic and consistently applied
approach. The Company regularly performs a migration analysis (a technique used to estimate the likelihood that
a consumer loan will progress through the various stages of delinquency and ultimately charge-off) of delinquent
and current consumer credit card accounts in order to determine the appropriate level of the allowance for
consumer loan losses. The migration analysis considers uncollectible principal, interest and fees reflected in
consumer loans. In evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for consumer loan losses, management also
considers factors that may impact future credit loss experience, including current economic conditions, recent
trends in delinquencies and bankruptcy filings, account collection management, policy changes, account
seasoning, loan volume and amounts, payment rates and forecasting uncertainties. A provision for consumer loan
losses is charged against earnings to maintain the allowance for consumer loan losses at an appropriate level.

Office Facilities. Office facilities are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.
Depreciation and amortization of buildings, leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment are
provided principally by the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the asset. Estimates of useful
lives are as follows: buildings—39 years; furniture and fixtures—7 years; and computer and communications
equipment—3 to 5 years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of the estimated useful life of
the asset or, where applicable, the remaining term of the lease, but generally not exceeding 15 years.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense is provided for using the asset and liability method, under which deferred
tax assets and liabilities are determined based upon the temporary differences between the financial statement
and income tax bases of assets and liabilities using currently enacted tax rates.

Earnings per Share. The Company computes earnings per share (“EPS”) in accordance with SFAS No. 128,
“Earnings per Share.” “Basic EPS” is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period. “Diluted EPS” reflects the assumed
conversion of all dilutive securities (see Note 10).

Stock-Based Compensation. Effective December 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—
Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No. 123, using the prospective adoption method.
The Company currently records compensation expense based upon the fair value of stock-based awards (both
deferred stock and stock options). In prior years, the Company accounted for its stock-based awards under the
intrinsic value approach in accordance with Accounting Principles Board (“APB’’) Opinion No. 25 (“APB 25%),
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” Under the approach in APB 25 and the terms of the Company’s
plans in prior years, the Company recognized compensation expense for deferred stock awards in the year of
grant; however, no compensation expense was generally recognized for stock option grants.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123 (revised) (“SFAS No. 123R”), “Share-Based Payment”.
SFAS No. 123R eliminates the intrinsic value method under APB 25 as an alternative method of accounting for
stock-based awards. SFAS No. 123R also revises the fair value-based method of accounting for share-based
payment liabilities, forfeitures and modifications of stock-based awards and clarifies SFAS No. 123’s guidance
in several areas, including measuring fair value, classifying an award as equity or as a liability and attributing
compensation cost to reporting periods. In addition, SFAS No. 123R amends SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash
Flows,” to require that excess tax benefits be reported as a financing cash inflow rather than as a reduction of
taxes paid, which is included within operating cash flows.
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The Company is required to adopt SFAS No. 123R for the interim period beginning September 1, 2005 using a
modified version of prospective application or may elect to apply a modified version of retrospective application.

The Company currently expects to early adopt SFAS No. 123R using the modified prospective method with an
effective date of December 1, 2004. The Company’s past practice for recognizing compensation expense for
equity-based awards included the recognition of a portion of the award in the year of grant. Based upon the terms
of the Company’s equity-based compensation program, the Company will no longer be able to recognize a
portion of the award in the grant year under SFAS No. 123R. This will have the effect of reducing compensation
expense in fiscal 2005. As a result, fiscal 2005 compensation expense will include the amortization of fiscal 2003
and fiscal 2004 awards but will not include any amortization for fiscal 2005 awards. If SFAS No. 123R was not
in effect, fiscal 2005’s compensation expense would have included three years of amortization (i.e., for awards
granted in fiscal 2003, fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005). In addition, the fiscal 2005 awards, which will begin to be
amortized in fiscal 2006, will be amortized over a shorter period (2 and 3 years) as compared with awards
granted in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 (3 and 4 years).

Translation of Foreign Currencies. Assets and liabilities of operations having non-U.S. dollar functional
currencies are translated at year-end rates of exchange, and income statement accounts are translated at weighted
average rates of exchange for the year. In accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign Currency Translation,” gains
or losses resulting from translating foreign currency financial statements, net of hedge gains or losses and related
tax effects, are reflected in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a separate component of
Shareholders’ equity. Gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are included in net income.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets. SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” does not permit the
amortization of goodwill and indefinite-lived assets. Instead, these assets must be reviewed annually (or more
frequently under certain conditions) for impairment. Other intangible assets are amortized over their useful lives.

Investments in Unconsolidated Investees. The Company invests in unconsolidated investees that own
synthetic fuel production plants. The Company accounts for these investments under the equity method. The
Company’s share of the operating losses generated by these investments is recorded within Losses from
unconsolidated investees, and the tax credits and the tax benefits associated with these operating losses are
recorded within the Provision for income taxes.

Deferred Compensation Arrangements. In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”)
Issue No. 97-14, “Accounting for Deferred Compensation Arrangements Where Amounts Earned Are Held in a
Rabbi Trust and Invested,” assets of rabbi trusts are to be consolidated with those of the employer, and the value
of the employer’s stock held in rabbi trusts should be classified in Shareholders’ equity and generally accounted
for in a manner similar to treasury stock. The Company, therefore, has included its obligations under certain
deferred compensation plans in Employee stock trust. Shares that the Company has issued to its rabbi trusts are
recorded in Common stock issued to employee trust. Both Employee stock trust and Common stock issued to
employee trust are components of Shareholders’ equity. The Company recognizes the original amount of
deferred compensation (fair value of the deferred stock award at the date of grant—see Note 14) as the basis for
recognition in Employee stock trust and Common stock issued to employee trust. Consistent with EITF
Issue No. 97-14, changes in the fair value of amounts owed to employees are not recognized as the Company’s
deferred compensation plans do not permit diversification and must be settled by the delivery of a fixed number
of shares of the Company’s common stock. The amount recorded in Employee stock trust is only higher than the
amount in Common stock issued to employee trust at fiscal year-end because the transfer of the shares to the
rabbi trusts occurs subsequent to fiscal year-end.

Software Costs. In accordance with American Institute of Certified Public Accountants Statement of Position
98-1, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use,” certain costs
incurred in connection with internal-use software projects are capitalized and amortized over the expected useful
life of the asset.
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3. Goodwill and Intangible Assets.

During fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, the Company completed the annual goodwill impairment test (as of
December 1 in each fiscal year) that is required by SFAS No. 142. The Company’s testing did not indicate any
goodwill impairment.

Changes in the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill for fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 were as follows:

Institutional Retail Asset
Securities Brokerage Management Total
(dollars in millions)
Balance as of November 30,2002(1) .......... $ 2 $481 $966 $1,449
Translation adjustments ..................... — 61 — 61
Other ........ .. . . i 4 — — 4
Balance as of November 30, 2003(1) .......... 6 542 966 1,514
Translation adjustments ..................... — 41 — 41
Goodwill acquired during theyear ............. 313 — — 313
Balance as of November 30,2004 ............ $319 $583 $966 $1,868

(1) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.

Acquired intangible assets, which are included in the Institutional Securities business segment, were as follows:

At November 30, 2004

Gross Carrying Accumulated
Amount Amortization

(dollars in millions)
Amortizable intangible assets:

Trademarks .. ...t $102 $ 2
Technology-related ........... .. .. .. . ... 222 16
Customer relationships ........ .. ... ... . i 26 2
Other . ... 1 —
Total amortizable intangible assets ..................... $351 $ 20

Amortization expense associated with intangible assets is estimated to be approximately $40 million per year
over the next five fiscal years.

For additional information on goodwill and intangible assets acquired in connection with the acquisition of Barra,
Inc. (“Barra”), see Note 24.

4. Securities Financing and Securitization Transactions.

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repurchase agreements”) and Securities sold under
agreements to repurchase (“repurchase agreements”), principally government and agency securities, are treated
as financing transactions and are carried at the amounts at which the securities subsequently will be resold or
reacquired as specified in the respective agreements; such amounts include accrued interest. Reverse repurchase
agreements and repurchase agreements are presented on a net-by-counterparty basis, when appropriate. The
Company’s policy is to take possession of securities purchased under agreements to resell. Securities borrowed
and Securities loaned also are treated as financing transactions and are carried at the amounts of cash collateral
advanced and received in connection with the transactions.
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The Company pledges its financial instruments owned to collateralize repurchase agreements and other securities
financings. Pledged securities that can be sold or repledged by the secured party are identified as Financial
instruments owned (pledged to various parties) on the consolidated statements of financial condition. The
carrying value and classification of securities owned by the Company that have been loaned or pledged to
counterparties where those counterparties do not have the right to sell or repledge the collateral were as follows:

At At
November 30, November 30,
2004 2003

(dollars in millions)
Financial instruments owned:

U.S. government and agency securities .......................... $ 6,283 $ 5,233
Other sovereign government obligations ......................... 249 164
Corporate and otherdebt ... ...... .. .. . .. .. . . i 15,564 7,802
COrporate EqUItIeS . ...« v vttt et 2,754 3,477

Total ..o $24,850 $16,676

The Company enters into reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements, securities borrowed and
securities loaned transactions to, among other things, finance the Company’s inventory positions, acquire
securities to cover short positions and settle other securities obligations and to accommodate customers’ needs.
The Company also engages in securities financing transactions for customers through margin lending. Under
these agreements and transactions, the Company either receives or provides collateral, including U.S.
government and agency securities, other sovereign government obligations, corporate and other debt, and
corporate equities. The Company receives collateral in the form of securities in connection with reverse
repurchase agreements, securities borrowed transactions and customer margin loans. In many cases, the
Company is permitted to sell or repledge these securities held as collateral and use the securities to secure
repurchase agreements, to enter into securities lending transactions or for delivery to counterparties to cover short
positions. At November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003, the fair value of securities received as collateral where
the Company is permitted to sell or repledge the securities was $750 billion and $511 billion, respectively, and
the fair value of the portion that has been sold or repledged was $679 billion and $462 billion, respectively.

The Company manages credit exposure arising from reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements,
securities borrowed and securities loaned transactions by, in appropriate circumstances, entering into master
netting agreements and collateral arrangements with counterparties that provide the Company, in the event of a
customer default, the right to liquidate collateral and the right to offset a counterparty’s rights and obligations.
The Company also monitors the fair value of the underlying securities as compared with the related receivable or
payable, including accrued interest, and, as necessary, requests additional collateral to ensure such transactions
are adequately collateralized. Where deemed appropriate, the Company’s agreements with third parties specify
its rights to request additional collateral. Customer receivables generated from margin lending activity are
collateralized by customer-owned securities held by the Company. For these transactions, adherence to the
Company’s collateral policies significantly limits the Company’s credit exposure in the event of customer
default. The Company may request additional margin collateral from customers, if appropriate, and if necessary
may sell securities that have not been paid for or purchase securities sold but not delivered from customers.

In connection with its Institutional Securities business, the Company engages in securitization activities related to
commercial and residential mortgage loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations, corporate bonds
and loans, municipal bonds and other types of financial assets. These assets are carried at fair value, and any
changes in fair value are recognized in the consolidated statements of income. The Company may act as
underwriter of the beneficial interests issued by securitization vehicles. Underwriting net revenues are recognized
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in connection with these transactions. The Company may retain interests in the securitized financial assets as one
or more tranches of the securitization. These retained interests are included in the consolidated statements of
financial condition at fair value. Any changes in the fair value of such retained interests are recognized in the
consolidated statements of income. Retained interests in securitized financial assets associated with the
Institutional Securities business were approximately $3.9 billion at November 30, 2004, the majority of which
were related to U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligation, residential mortgage loan and commercial
mortgage loan securitization transactions. Net gains at the time of securitization were not material in fiscal 2004.
The assumptions that the Company used to determine the fair value of its retained interests at the time of
securitization related to those transactions that occurred during fiscal 2004 were not materially different from the
assumptions included in the table below. Additionally, as indicated in the table below, the Company’s exposure
to credit losses related to these retained interests was not material to the Company’s results of operations.

The following table presents information on the Company’s U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligation,
residential mortgage loan and commercial mortgage loan securitization transactions. Key economic assumptions
and the sensitivity of the current fair value of the retained interests to immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes
in those assumptions at November 30, 2004 were as follows (dollars in millions):

U.S. Agency
Collateralized Residential Commercial
Mortgage Mortgage Mortgage
Obligations Loans Loans
Retained interests (carrying amount/fair value) ........ $ 1,721 $ 1,682 $ 349
Weighted average life (inmonths) .................. 79 31 88
Credit losses (rate per annum)(1) ................... — 0.00-4.00% 0.23-7.82%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ...... $  — $ (61) $ —
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ...... $ — $ (114) $ —

Weighted average discount rate (rate per annum) . . . . . .. 5.54% 9.59% 5.94%

Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change . ..... $ (45) $ (20) $ (11)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change . ..... $ (87) $ (40) $ (20)
Prepayment speed assumption(2)(3) ................. 149-480PSA 307-2833PSA —
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ... ... $ (11) $ (12) $ —
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ... ... $ (21) $ ) $ —

(1) Commercial mortgage loans credit losses round to less than $1 million.

(2) Amounts for residential mortgage loans exclude positive valuation effects from immediate 10% and 20% changes.

(3) Commercial mortgage loans typically contain provisions that either prohibit or economically penalize the borrower from prepaying the
loan for a specified period of time.

The table above does not include the offsetting benefit of any financial instruments that the Company may utilize
to hedge risks inherent in its retained interests. In addition, the sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should be
used with caution. Changes in fair value based on a 10% or 20% variation in an assumption generally cannot be
extrapolated because the relationship of the change in the assumption to the change in fair value may not be
linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value of the retained interests is
calculated independent of changes in any other assumption; in practice, changes in one factor may result in
changes in another, which might magnify or counteract the sensitivities. In addition, the sensitivity analysis does
not consider any corrective action that the Company may take to mitigate the impact of any adverse changes in
the key assumptions.

In connection with its Institutional Securities business, during fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, the
Company received proceeds from new securitization transactions of $72 billion, $70 billion and $43 billion,
respectively, and cash flows from retained interests in securitization transactions of $6.1 billion, $4.3 billion and
$0.9 billion, respectively.
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5. Consumer Loans.

Consumer loans were as follows:

At At
November 30, November 30,
2004 2003
(dollars in millions)
General purpose credit card, mortgage and consumer installment . ............... $21,169 $20,384
Less:

Allowance for consumer loan losses .. ... 943 1,002
Consumer 10ans, NEL . .. ...ttt $20,226 $19,382
Activity in the allowance for consumer loan losses was as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal

2004 2003 2002
(dollars in millions)

Balance at beginning of period . . . ... ... . $1,002 $ 928 $ 847
Additions:

Provision for consumer loan 10SSes .. ....... ... 926 1,266 1,337
Deductions:

Charge-offs . .. ... 1,120 1,304 1,355

ReCOVEIIES ...t (135) (112) 99)
Net charge-offs . . ... ... 985 1,192 1,256
Balance atend of period . . ... ... $ 943 $1,002 $ 928

Information on net charge-offs of interest and cardmember fees was as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2004 2003 2002

(dollars in millions)

Interest accrued on general purpose credit card loans subsequently charged off, net of
recoveries (recorded as a reduction of Interest revenue) .......................... $233  $269 $229

Cardmember fees accrued on general purpose credit card loans subsequently charged off,
net of recoveries (recorded as a reduction to Merchant and cardmember fee revenue) ... $145 $176 $165

At November 30, 2004, the Company had commitments to extend credit for consumer loans of approximately
$259 billion. Such commitments arise primarily from agreements with customers for unused lines of credit on
certain credit cards, provided there is no violation of conditions established in the related agreement. These
commitments, substantially all of which the Company can terminate at any time and which do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements, are periodically reviewed based on account usage and customer
creditworthiness.

At November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003, $4,312 million and $4,170 million, respectively, of the
Company’s consumer loans had minimum contractual maturities of less than one year. Because of the uncertainty
regarding consumer loan repayment patterns, which historically have been higher than contractually required
minimum payments, this amount may not necessarily be indicative of the Company’s actual consumer loan
repayments.
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The Company received net proceeds from consumer loan sales of $7,590 million, $10,864 million and $6,777
million in fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, respectively.

The Company’s U.S. consumer loan portfolio, including securitized loans, is geographically diverse, with a
distribution approximating that of the population of the U.S.

Credit Card Securitization Activities. The Company’s retained interests in credit card asset securitizations
include undivided seller’s interests, accrued interest receivable on securitized credit card receivables, cash
collateral accounts, servicing rights and rights to any excess cash flows (“Residual Interests”) remaining after
payments to investors in the securitization trusts of their contractual rate of return and reimbursement of credit
losses. The undivided seller’s interests less an applicable allowance for loan losses is recorded in Consumer
loans. The Company’s undivided seller’s interests rank pari passu with investors’ interests in the securitization
trusts, and the remaining retained interests are subordinate to investors’ interests. Accrued interest receivable and
cash collateral accounts are recorded in Other assets at amounts that approximate fair value. The Company
receives annual servicing fees of 2% of the investor principal balance outstanding. The Company does not
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Key economic assumptions and the sensitivity of the current fair value of the Residual Interests to immediate
10% and 20% adverse changes in those assumptions were as follows (dollars in millions):

At
November 30,
2004
Residual Interests (carrying amount/fair value) ................ ... ... ... $ 249
Weighted average life (inmonths) .......... ... .. .. ... . 5.2
Weighted average payment rate (rate permonth) ....................... 18.50%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ....................... $ (16)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ....................... $ 3D
Weighted average credit losses (rate per annum) . ...................... 5.98%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ....................... $ (60)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ....................... $ (119)
Weighted average discount rate (rate per annum) . ...................... 12.00%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ....................... $ @
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ....................... $ @

The sensitivity analysis in the table above is hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in fair value
based on a 10% or 20% variation in an assumption generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of
the change in the assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a
particular assumption on the fair value of the Residual Interests is calculated independent of changes in any other
assumption; in practice, changes in one factor may result in changes in another (for example, increases in market
interest rates may result in lower payments and increased credit losses), which might magnify or counteract the
sensitivities. In addition, the sensitivity analysis does not consider any corrective action that the Company may
take to mitigate the impact of any adverse changes in the key assumptions.

The table below summarizes certain cash flows received from the securitization master trusts (dollars in billions):

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2002

Proceeds from new credit card asset securitizations ..................... $ 3.7 $ 5.7 $ 3.6
Proceeds from collections reinvested in previous credit card asset

SECUMItIZAtIONS . . ..o\ttt et e e e $61.6 $60.3 $53.3
Contractual servicing feesreceived .. ... $ 0.6 $ 0.6 $ 0.6
Cash flows received from retained interests . .......................... $ 1.8 $ 1.7 $19

The table below presents quantitative information about delinquencies, net principal credit losses and
components of managed general purpose credit card loans, including securitized loans (dollars in millions):

At November 30, 2004 Fiscal 2004
Net
Principal
Loans Loans Average Credit
Outstanding Delinquent Loans Losses
Managed general purpose credit card loans ................... $48,261 $2,196  $47,387 $2,845
Less: Securitized general purpose credit card loans ............. 28,537
Owned general purpose credit card loans ..................... $19,724
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6. Deposits.

Deposits were as follows:

At At
November 30, November 30,
2004 2003

(dollars in millions)
Demand, passbook and money market accounts . ................... $ 1,117 $ 1,264
Consumer certificate acCoOuNts . ..., 1,021 1,192
$100,000 minimum certificate accounts . ......................... 11,639 10,383
Total ... $13,777 $12,839

The weighted average interest rates of interest-bearing deposits outstanding during fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003
were 4.5% and 4.9%, respectively.

At November 30, 2004, interest-bearing deposits maturing over the next five years were as follows:

Fiscal Year (dollars in millions)
200 $7,939
2000 2,406
2007 o 1,210
2008 305
2000 194

7. Short-Term Borrowings.

The table below summarizes certain information regarding short-term borrowings for the fiscal years 2004 and
2003 (dollars in millions):

At November 30,
2004 2003
Commercial paper:
Balance at year-end . .. ... ... $28,543  $20,608
Average amount outstanding . . . ... ... ... $22,781 $28,246
Weighted average interest rate on year-end balance .. ................ .. .. ... .. .. ... 2.1% 1.2%
Other short-term borrowings(1):
Balance at year-end . .. ....... .. $ 7,760 $ 7,778
Average amount outstanding . . .. ... ... $ 7,625 $11,127

(1) These borrowings included bank loans, Federal Funds and bank notes.

The Company, through one of its subsidiaries, maintains several funded committed credit facilities to support the
collateralized commercial and residential mortgage whole loan business. Lenders to these facilities provided an
aggregate of $10.7 billion in financing at November 30, 2004.

The Company maintains a senior revolving credit agreement with a group of banks to support general liquidity
needs, including the issuance of commercial paper, which consists of two separate tranches: a U.S. dollar tranche
with the Company as borrower and a Japanese yen tranche with MSJL as borrower and the Company as
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guarantor. Under this combined facility (the “MS-MSJL Facility”), the banks are committed to provide up to
$5.5 billion under the U.S. dollar tranche and 70 billion Japanese yen under the Japanese yen tranche. At

November 30, 2004, the Company had a $12.0 billion surplus shareholders’ equity as compared with the
MS-MSIL Facility’s covenant requirement.

The Company maintains a master collateral facility that enables MS&Co., one of the Company’s U.S. broker-
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8. Long-Term Borrowings.

Maturities and Terms. Long-term borrowings at fiscal year-end consisted of the following:

U.S. Dollar Non-U.S. Dollar(1) At November 30,
Index/ Index/
Fixed Floating Equity Fixed Floating  Equity 2004 2003
Rate Rate(2) Linked Rate Rate(2) Linked Total(3) Total(3)
(dollars in millions)
Due in fiscal 2004 ........... $  — $ - $8 - 8 — $ - $— $ — $10574
Due in fiscal 2005 ........... 2,830 5,647 887 2,780 348 272 12,764 11,892
Due in fiscal 2006 ........... 3,978 14,080 577 3,160 115 204 22,114 9,910
Due in fiscal 2007 ........... 4,027 5,446 409 392 774 121 11,169 5,451
Due in fiscal 2008 ........... 1,586 749 229 1,214 2,315 301 6,394 4,185
Due in fiscal 2009 ........... 1,985 1,126 684 3,151 299 1,227 8,472 3,232
Thereafter ................. 23,327 1,805 1,057 5,381 1,486 1,317 34373 20,356
Total ................. $37,733  $28,853 $3,843 $16,078 $5,337 $3,442 $95,286 $65,600
Weighted average coupon at
fiscal year-end . ........... 6.0% 22%  nla 41% 24% nla 4.2% 4.6%

(1) Weighted average coupon was calculated utilizing non-U.S. dollar interest rates.

(2) U.S. dollar contractual floating rate borrowings bear interest based on a variety of money market indices, including London Interbank
Offered Rates (“LIBOR”) and Federal Funds rates. Non-U.S. dollar contractual floating rate borrowings bear interest based on euro
floating rates.

(3) Amounts include an increase of approximately $1,267 million at November 30, 2004 and $1,442 million at November 30, 2003 to the
carrying amount of certain of the Company’s long-term borrowings associated with fair value hedges under SFAS No. 133.

The Company’s long-term borrowings included the following components:

At November 30,
2004 2003
(dollars in millions)
SENIOT AEDL . . o . oottt $88,275 $65,014
Subordinated debt . ... ... . 4,114 586
Junior subordinated debentures . . ... ... . 2,897 —
Total .. $95,286  $65,600

Senior debt securities often are denominated in various non-U.S. dollar currencies and may be structured to
provide a return that is equity-linked, credit-linked or linked to some other index (e.g., the consumer price index).
Senior debt also may be structured to be callable by the Company or extendible at the option of holders of the
senior debt securities. Debt containing provisions which effectively allow the holders to put or extend the notes
aggregated $15,138 million at November 30, 2004 and $4,527 million at November 30, 2003. Subordinated debt
and junior subordinated debentures typically are issued to meet the capital requirements of the Company or its
regulated subsidiaries, and primarily are U.S. dollar denominated.

Senior Debt—Structured Borrowings. The Company’s index/equity-linked borrowings include various
structured instruments whose payments and redemption values are linked to the performance of a specific index
(e.g., Standard & Poor’s 500), a basket of stocks, a specific equity security, a credit exposure or basket of credit
exposures. To minimize the exposure resulting from movements in the underlying equity, credit, or other position
or index, the Company has entered into various swap contracts and purchased options that effectively convert the
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borrowing costs into floating rates based upon LIBOR. These instruments are included in the preceding table at
their redemption values based on the performance of the underlying indices, baskets of stocks or specific equity
securities, credit or other position or index. The Company accounts for its structured borrowings as having an
embedded derivative. The changes in the fair value of the embedded derivatives in the Company’s structured
borrowings are included in principal transaction trading revenue. Prior to fiscal 2004, such amounts were
included in interest expense. Prior period information has been reclassified to conform to the current year’s
presentation. Principal transaction trading revenues included $54 million and $749 million that were previously
recorded as decreases to interest expense in fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, respectively. These reclassifications are
recorded within the Company’s Institutional Securities business segment and had no impact on net revenues. The
swaps and purchased options are derivatives and are accounted for at fair value in accordance with SFAS No.
133 with changes in fair value also included in principal transaction trading revenue.

Subordinated Debt and Junior Subordinated Debentures. Included in the Company’s long-term borrowings
are subordinated notes (including the notes issued by MS&Co. discussed below) of $4,114 million having a
contractual weighted average coupon of 4.87% at November 30, 2004 and $586 million having a weighted
average coupon of 7.3% at November 30, 2003. Junior subordinated debentures issued by the Company were
$2,897 million having a contractual weighted average coupon of 6.45% at November 30, 2004 (see Note 12).
Maturities of the subordinated and junior subordinated notes range from fiscal 2005 to fiscal 2033. Maturities of
certain junior subordinated debentures can be extended to 2052 at the Company’s option.

At November 30, 2004, MS&Co. had $82 million of 7.28% fixed rate subordinated Series E notes and $25
million of 7.82% fixed rate subordinated Series F notes. These notes had maturities from fiscal 2006 to fiscal
2016. The terms of such notes contain restrictive covenants that require, among other things, that MS&Co.
maintain specified levels of Consolidated Tangible Net Worth and Net Capital, each as defined.

Asset and Liability Management. In general, securities inventories not financed by secured funding sources
and the majority of current assets are financed with a combination of short-term funding, floating rate long-term
debt or fixed rate long-term debt swapped to a floating rate. Fixed assets are financed with fixed rate long-term
debt. Both fixed rate and floating rate long-term debt (in addition to sources of funds accessed directly by the
Company’s Discover business) are used to finance the Company’s consumer loan portfolio. The Company uses
interest rate swaps to more closely match these borrowings to the duration, holding period and interest rate
characteristics of the assets being funded and to manage interest rate risk. These swaps effectively convert certain
of the Company’s fixed rate borrowings into floating rate obligations. In addition, for non-U.S. dollar currency
borrowings that are not used to fund assets in the same currency, the Company has entered into currency swaps
that effectively convert the borrowings into U.S. dollar obligations. The Company’s use of swaps for asset and
liability management affected its effective average borrowing rate as follows:

Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
2004 2003 2002

Weighted average coupon of long-term borrowings at fiscal year-end(1) ............... 42% 4.6% 4.9%

Effective average borrowing rate for long-term borrowings after swaps at fiscal
year-end(1) ..o 29% 24% 2.9%

(1) Included in the weighted average and effective average calculations are non-U.S. dollar interest rates.

Cash paid for interest for the Company’s borrowings and deposits approximated the related interest expense in
fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002.

Subsequent to fiscal year-end and through February 4, 2005, the Company’s long-term borrowings (net of
repayments) increased by approximately $8.6 billion.
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9. Commitments and Contingencies.

Office Facilities. The Company has non-cancelable operating leases covering office space and equipment. At
November 30, 2004, future minimum rental commitments under such leases (net of subleases, principally on
office rentals) were as follows:

Fiscal Year (dollars in millions)
200 L $ 500
2000 . 462
2007 408
2008 L 374
2000 L 324
Thereafter . .. ... 2,209

Occupancy lease agreements, in addition to base rentals, generally provide for rent and operating expense
escalations resulting from increased assessments for real estate taxes and other charges. Total rent expense, net of
sublease rental income, was $444 million, $437 million and $461 million in fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal
2002, respectively.

In December 2004, the Company reached an agreement to lease, beginning in January 2005, approximately
445,000 square feet at One New York Plaza in New York, New York under a lease expiring in 2014.

Letters of Credit. At November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003, the Company had approximately $8.5 billion
and $7.7 billion, respectively, of letters of credit outstanding to satisfy various collateral requirements.

Aircraft. At November 30, 2004, the Company had contracted to receive the following minimum rentals under
non-cancelable operating leases in connection with its aircraft financing activities:

Fiscal Year (dollars in millions)
2005 $350
2000 . 261
2007 o 181
2008 115
2000 L 101
Thereafter .. ... ... . e 584

As discussed in Note 27, on August 17, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved
management’s recommendation to sell the Company’s aircraft leasing business.

Securities Activities. In connection with certain of its Institutional Securities business activities, the Company
provides loans or lending commitments (including bridge financing) to selected clients. The borrowers may be
rated investment grade or non-investment grade. These loans and commitments have varying terms, may be
senior or subordinated, are generally contingent upon representations, warranties and contractual conditions
applicable to the borrower, and may be syndicated or traded by the Company.

The aggregate value of the investment grade and non-investment grade lending commitments are shown below:
At At

November 30, November 30,
2004 2003
(dollars in millions)
Investment grade lending commitments . ............. ... ... $18,989 $14,244
Non-investment grade lending commitments ................ .. .. ... .. ...... 1,409 1,869
Total .. $20,398 $16,113
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Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased represent obligations of the Company to deliver specified financial
instruments at contracted prices, thereby creating commitments to purchase the financial instruments in the
market at prevailing prices. Consequently, the Company’s ultimate obligation to satisfy the sale of financial
instruments sold, not yet purchased may exceed the amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of
financial condition.

The Company has commitments to fund other less liquid investments, including at November 30, 2004, $185
million in connection with principal investment and private equity activities. Additionally, the Company has
provided and will continue to provide financing, including margin lending and other extensions of credit to
clients that may subject the Company to increased credit and liquidity risks.

At November 30, 2004, the Company had commitments to enter into reverse repurchase and repurchase
agreements of approximately $75 billion and $60 billion, respectively.

Insurance Recovery. On September 11, 2001, the U.S experienced terrorist attacks targeted against New York
City and Washington, D.C. The attacks in New York resulted in the destruction of the World Trade Center
complex, where approximately 3,700 of the Company’s employees were located, and the temporary closing of
the debt and equity financial markets in the U.S. Through the implementation of its business recovery plans, the
Company relocated its displaced employees to other facilities.

The Company has recognized costs related to the terrorist attacks pertaining to write-offs of leasehold
improvements and destroyed technology and telecommunications equipment in the World Trade Center complex,
employee relocation and certain other employee-related expenditures, and other business recovery costs. The
costs were offset by estimated insurance recoveries.

The Company continues to be in negotiations with its insurance carriers related to the events of September 11,
2001. At the conclusion of these negotiations, the Company currently believes that the amounts it will recover
under its insurance policies will be in excess of costs recognized for accounting purposes related to the terrorist
attacks. As of November 30, 2004, the Company had not recorded a gain for the anticipated excess recovery.

Legal. In the normal course of business, the Company has been named, from time to time, as a defendant in
various legal actions, including arbitrations, class actions and other litigation, arising in connection with its
activities as a global diversified financial services institution. Certain of the legal actions include claims for
substantial compensatory and/or punitive damages or claims for indeterminate amounts of damages. In some
cases, the issuers that would otherwise be the primary defendants in such cases are bankrupt or in financial
distress. The Company is also involved, from time to time, in other reviews, investigations and proceedings by
governmental and self-regulatory agencies (both formal and informal) regarding the Company’s business,
including, among other matters, accounting and operational matters, certain of which may result in adverse
judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. The number of these investigations and
proceedings has increased in recent years with regard to many firms in the financial services industry, including
the Company.

The Company contests liability and/or the amount of damages in each pending matter. In view of the inherent
difficulty of predicting the outcome of such matters, particularly in cases where claimants seek substantial or
indeterminate damages or where investigations and proceedings are in the early stages, the Company cannot
predict with certainty the loss or range of loss related to such matters, how such matters will be resolved, when
they will ultimately be resolved, or what the eventual settlement, fine, penalty or other relief might be. Subject to
the foregoing, the Company believes, based on current knowledge and after consultation with counsel, that the
outcome of each such pending matter will not have a material adverse effect on the consolidated financial
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condition of the Company, although the outcome could be material to the Company’s or a business segment’s
operating results for a particular future period, depending on, among other things, the level of the Company’s or
a business segment’s income for such period.

Legal reserves have been established in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” Once
established, reserves are adjusted when there is more information available or when an event occurs requiring a
change. The most significant matters include the following:

IPO Allocation Matters. In connection with the Company’s role as either lead or co-lead underwriter in several
initial public offerings (“IPO”), the Company has been exposed to both regulatory and civil proceedings. On
January 25, 2005, the Company announced a settlement with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”) regarding allegations that it violated Rule 101 of Regulation M by attempting to induce certain customers
that received shares in IPOs to place purchase orders for additional shares in the aftermarket. Under the terms of
the settlement, the Company agreed, without admitting or denying the allegations, to the entry of a judgment
enjoining it from violating Rule 101 of Regulation M and the payment of a $40 million civil penalty. The
settlement terms are subject to court approval.

In addition to the regulatory matter with the SEC, numerous class actions have been filed against certain issuers
of IPO securities, certain individual officers of those issuers, the Company and other underwriters of those IPOs
on behalf of purchasers of stock in the IPOs or the aftermarket. These complaints allege that the Company
engaged in “laddering”, defined as inducing customers to bid up stock in exchange for “hot” IPO allocations, and
also allege that underwriters received excess compensation from IPO allocations and that continuous “buy”
recommendations by the defendants’ research analysts improperly increased or sustained the prices at which the
securities traded after the IPOs.

Parmalat Matter. From 2001 through 2003, the Company entered into interest rate and currency derivative
transactions with Parmalat, an Italian publicly-listed company. In 2002 and 2003, the Company also was
involved in two public and one private bond offerings for Parmalat outside the U.S.

In fiscal 2004, the Company and several other financial institutions were requested to provide documents and other
information to Italian and U.K. authorities conducting criminal and regulatory investigations relating to Parmalat,
which was declared insolvent on December 27, 2003. The Company and several other financial institutions,
together with employees of those institutions involved in Parmalat-related matters, are under investigation in Italy.
The Company is cooperating with these various investigations. During the year, the Company also voluntarily
provided the SEC information concerning its dealings with Parmalat. On January 27, 2005, the administrator of
Parmalat filed an insolvency clawback claim against the Company in the civil court of Parma, Italy seeking
repayment of approximately €136 million. The basis of this claim is that the Company allegedly knew that Parmalat
was insolvent at the time the monies were paid by Parmalat.
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10. Earnings per Share.

Earnings per share were calculated as follows (in millions, except for per share data):
Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2002

Basic EPS:
Income from continuing operations . ... ............oiieiinnan.... $4,589 $4,020 $3,070
Loss on discontinued Operations . .................oueueneenen .. (103) (233) (82)
Net income applicable to common shareholders .. .................. $4.486 $3,787 $2,988
Weighted average common shares outstanding . .. .................. 1,080 1,077 1,083
Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations . . ...............c.viiiiaen... $ 4.25 $ 3.74 $ 2.84
Loss from discontinued operations . ....................c......... (0.10) (0.22) (0.08)
Basic EPS ... $ 4.15 $ 3.52 $ 2.76

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2002

Diluted EPS:
Net income applicable to common shareholders .. .................. $4.,486 $3,787 $2,988
Weighted average common shares outstanding . . ................... 1,080 1,077 1,083
Effect of dilutive securities:
Stock OptiONS . . ..ot 25 21 26
Convertibledebt . . ....... ... .. — 1 1
Weighted average common shares outstanding and common stock
qQUIVAIENLS . . .t 1,105 1,099 1,110
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing Operations . .. ............c.oueireernenn.. $ 4.15 $ 3.66 $ 2.76
Loss from discontinued operations . ................c..ooiuenen.n. (0.09) 0.21) (0.07)
Diluted EPS .. ... $ 4.06 $ 3.45 $ 2.69
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The following securities were considered antidilutive and therefore were excluded from the computation of
diluted EPS:

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2002

(shares in millions)

Number of antidilutive securities (including stock options and restricted stock
units) outstanding at end of period . ......... ... . i 95 60 65

11. Sales and Trading Activities.

The Company’s institutional sales and trading activities are conducted through the integrated management of its
client-driven and proprietary transactions along with the hedging and financing of these positions. While sales
and trading activities are generated by client order flow, the Company also takes proprietary positions based on
expectations of future market movements and conditions.

The Company’s trading portfolios are managed with a view toward the risk and profitability of the portfolios.
The following discussions of risk management, market risk, credit risk, concentration risk and customer activities
relate to the Company’s sales and trading activities.

Risk Management. The cornerstone of the Company’s risk management philosophy is protection of the
Company’s franchise and reputation. Guardianship is based on three key principles: accountability, transparency
and independent oversight. Given the importance of effective risk management to the Company’s reputation,
senior management requires thorough and frequent communication and appropriate escalation of risk matters.

Risk management at the Company requires independent Company-level oversight, accountability of the
Company’s business segments, constant communication, judgment, and knowledge of specialized products and
markets. The Company’s senior management takes an active role in the identification, assessment and
management of various risks at both the Company and business segment level. In recognition of the increasingly
varied and complex nature of the global financial services business, the Company’s risk management philosophy,



MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The Internal Audit Department provides independent risk and control assessment and reports to the Audit
Committee and administratively to the Chief Legal Officer. The Internal Audit Department periodically examines
the Company’s operational and control environment and conducts audits designed to cover all major risk
categories.

The Market Risk, Credit, Financial Control, Treasury and Law Departments (collectively, the “Company Control
Groups”), which are all independent of the Company’s business units, assist senior management and the Firm
Risk Committee in monitoring and controlling the Company’s risk through a number of control processes. The
Company is committed to employing qualified personnel with appropriate expertise in each of its various
administrative and business areas to implement effectively the Company’s risk management and monitoring
systems and processes.

Each business segment has a Risk Committee that is responsible for ensuring that the business segment, as
applicable: adheres to established limits for market, credit and other risks; implements risk measurement,
monitoring, and management policies and procedures that are consistent with the risk framework established by
the Firm Risk Committee; and reviews, on a periodic basis, its aggregate risk exposures, risk exception
experience, and the efficacy of its risk identification, measurement, monitoring, and management policies and
procedures, and related controls.

Each of the Company’s business segments also has designated risk managers, committees and groups, including
operations and information technology groups (collectively, “Segment Control Groups” and, together with the
Company Control Groups, the “Control Groups”) to manage and monitor specific risks and report to the business
segment Risk Committee. The Control Groups work together to review the risk monitoring and risk management
policies and procedures relating to, among other things, the segment’s market and credit risk profile, sales
practices, reputation, legal enforceability, and operational and technological risks. Participation by the senior
officers of the Control Groups helps ensure that risk policies and procedures, exceptions to risk limits, new
products and business ventures, and transactions with risk elements undergo a thorough review that is overseen
by the business segment Risk Committees and ultimately by the Firm Risk Committee.

Market Risk. Market risk refers to the risk that a change in the level of one or more market prices, rates,
indices, implied volatilities (the price volatility of the underlying instrument imputed from option prices),
correlations or other market factors, such as liquidity, will result in losses for a position or portfolio.

The Company manages the market risk associated with its trading activities on a Company-wide basis, on a
worldwide trading division level and on an individual product basis. Aggregate market risk limits have been
approved for the Company and for its major trading divisions worldwide (equity and fixed income, which
includes interest rate products, credit products, foreign exchange and commodities). Additional market risk limits
are assigned to trading desks and, as appropriate, products and regions. Trading division risk managers, desk risk
managers, traders and the Market Risk Department monitor market risk measures against limits in accordance
with policies set by senior management.

The Market Risk Department independently reviews the Company’s trading portfolios on a regular basis from a
market risk perspective utilizing Value-at-Risk and other quantitative and qualitative risk measures and analyses.
The Company’s trading businesses and the Market Risk Department also use, as appropriate, measures such as
sensitivity to changes in interest rates, prices, implied volatilities and time decay to monitor and report market
risk exposures. Stress testing, which measures the impact on the value of existing portfolios of specified changes
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Credit Risk. Credit risk refers to the risk of loss arising from borrower or counterparty default when a
borrower, counterparty or obligor is unable to meet its financial obligations. The Company incurs significant
“single name” credit risk exposure through the Institutional Securities business. This type of risk requires
significant credit analysis of specific counterparties, both initially and on an ongoing basis.

The Institutional Credit Department (“Institutional Credit”) manages credit risk exposure for the Institutional
Securities business. Institutional Credit is responsible for ensuring transparency of material credit risks, ensuring
compliance with established limits, approving material extensions of credit, and escalating risk concentrations to
appropriate senior management.

Concentration Risk. The Company is subject to concentration risk by holding large positions in certain types
of securities or commitments to purchase securities of a single issuer, including sovereign governments and other
entities, issuers located in a particular country or geographic area, public and private issuers involving
developing countries, or issuers engaged in a particular industry. Financial instruments owned by the Company
include U.S. government and agency securities and securities issued by other sovereign governments (principally
Japan, United Kingdom, Italy and Germany), which, in the aggregate, represented approximately 6% of the
Company’s total assets at November 30, 2004. In addition, substantially all of the collateral held by the Company
for resale agreements or bonds borrowed, which together represented approximately 25% of the Company’s total
assets at November 30, 2004, consist of securities issued by the U.S. government, federal agencies or other
sovereign government obligations. Positions taken and commitments made by the Company, including positions
taken and underwriting and financing commitments made in connection with its private equity, principal
investment and lending activities, often involve substantial amounts and significant exposure to individual issuers
and businesses, including non-investment grade issuers. The Company seeks to limit concentration risk through
the use of the systems and procedures described in the preceding discussions of risk management, market risk
and credit risk.

Customer Activities. The Company’s customer activities involve the execution, settlement and financing of
various securities and commodities transactions on behalf of customers. Customer securities activities are
transacted on either a cash or margin basis. Customer commodities activities, which include the execution of
customer transactions in commodity futures transactions (including options on futures), are transacted on a
margin basis.

The Company’s customer activities may expose it to off-balance sheet credit risk. The Company may have to
purchase or sell financial instruments at prevailing market prices in the event of the failure of a customer to settle
a trade on its original terms or in the event cash and securities in customer margin accounts are not sufficient to
fully cover customer losses. The Company seeks to control the risks associated with customer activities by
requiring customers to maintain margin collateral in compliance with various regulations and Company policies.

Derivative Contracts. The amounts in the following table represent unrealized gains and losses on exchange
traded and OTC options and other contracts (including interest rate, foreign exchange, and other forward
contracts and swaps) for derivatives for trading and investment and for asset and liability management, net of
offsetting positions in situations where netting is appropriate. The asset amounts are not reported net of collateral,
which the Company obtains with respect to certain of these transactions to reduce its exposure to credit losses.

Credit risk with respect to derivative instruments arises from the failure of a counterparty to perform according to
the terms of the contract. The Company’s exposure to credit risk at any point in time is represented by the fair
value of the contracts reported as assets. The Company monitors the creditworthiness of counterparties to these
transactions on an ongoing basis and requests additional collateral when deemed necessary. The Company
believes the ultimate settlement of the transactions outstanding at November 30, 2004 will not have a material
effect on the Company’s financial condition.
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The Company’s derivatives (both listed and OTC) at November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003 are
summarized in the table below, showing the fair value of the related assets and liabilities by product:

At November 30,2004 At November 30, 2003
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

(dollars in millions)

Interest rate and currency swaps and options, credit derivatives and

other fixed income securities contracts . ...................... $38,172  $28,100 $27,280 $18,950
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options ................. 9,521 9,249 5,964 5,561
Equity securities contracts (including equity swaps, warrants and

OPLIONS) o ottt e et e e e e e 6,587 7,549 4,503 5,781
Commodity forwards, options and swaps . ...................... 12,812 10,922 6,905 5,950
Total ..o $67,092  $55,820 $44,652 $36,242

12. Capital Units, Capital Securities and Junior Subordinated Deferrable Interest Debentures.

The Company has Capital Units outstanding that were issued by the Company and Morgan Stanley Finance plc
(“MSF”), a U.K. subsidiary. A Capital Unit consists of (a) a Subordinated Debenture of MSF guaranteed by the
Company and maturing in 2017 and (b) a related Purchase Contract issued by the Company, which may be
accelerated by the Company, requiring the holder to purchase one Depositary Share representing shares of the
Company’s Cumulative Preferred Stock. The aggregate amount of Capital Units outstanding was $66 million at
both November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003.

Prior to February 29, 2004, Preferred Securities Subject to Mandatory Redemption (also referred to as “Capital
Securities” herein) represented preferred minority interests in certain of the Company’s subsidiaries.
Accordingly, dividends paid on Preferred Securities Subject to Mandatory Redemption were presented as a
deduction to after-tax income (similar to minority interests in the income of subsidiaries) in the consolidated
statements of income.

In December 2003, the FASB issued certain revisions to FIN 46 to clarify and expand on the accounting
guidance for variable interest entities. In accordance with this revised guidance, the Company deconsolidated all
of its statutory trusts that had issued Capital Securities as of February 29, 2004. As a result, the junior
subordinated deferrable interest debentures issued by the Company to the statutory trusts are included within
Long-term borrowings, and the common securities issued by the statutory trusts and owned by the Company are
recorded in Other assets. In addition, the Capital Securities issued by the statutory trusts are no longer included in
the consolidated statement of financial condition. Subsequent to February 29, 2004, dividends on the junior
subordinated deferrable interest debentures have been recorded within interest expense. The impact of the
deconsolidation of the statutory trusts did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial
position or results of operations.

13. Shareholders’ Equity.

Common Stock. Changes in shares of common stock outstanding for fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 were as
follows (share data in millions):

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003

Shares outstanding at beginning of period . ........... .. .. .. .. . L L. 1,085 1,081
Net impact of stock option exercises and other share issuances ..................... 25 13
Treasury stock purchases . ......... ... . (23) ©)]
Shares outstanding at end of period ......... ... .. .. .. 1,087 1,085
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Treasury Shares. During fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003, the Company purchased $1,132 million and $350 million
of its common stock, respectively, through open market purchases at an average cost of $50.31 and $39.12 per
share, respectively. The Board of Directors has authorized the Company to purchase, subject to market
conditions and certain other factors, shares of common stock for capital management purposes. There were no
repurchases made under the capital management authorization during fiscal 2004. The unused portion of this
authorization at January 31, 2005 was approximately $600 million. The Company also has an ongoing repurchase
authorization in connection with awards granted under its equity-based compensation plans.

Rabbi Trusts. The Company has established rabbi trusts (the “Trusts”) to provide common stock voting rights
to employees who hold outstanding restricted stock units. The number of shares of common stock outstanding in
the Trusts was 78 million at November 30, 2004 and 65 million at November 30, 2003. The assets of the Trusts
are consolidated with those of the Company, and the value of the Company’s stock held in the Trusts is classified
in Shareholders’ equity and generally accounted for in a manner similar to treasury stock.

Regulatory Requirements. MS&Co. and MSDWI are registered broker-dealers and registered futures
commission merchants and, accordingly, are subject to the minimum net capital requirements of the SEC, the
NYSE and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission. MS&Co. and MSDWTI have consistently operated in
excess of these requirements. MS&Co.’s net capital totaled $3,295 million at November 30, 2004, which
exceeded the amount required by $2,481 million. MSDWTI’s net capital totaled $1,130 million at November 30,
2004, which exceeded the amount required by $1,038 million. MSIL, a London-based broker-dealer subsidiary,
is subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority, and MSJL, a Tokyo-based broker-
dealer subsidiary, is subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Agency. MSIL and MSJL have
consistently operated in excess of their respective regulatory capital requirements.

Under regulatory capital requirements adopted by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”) and
other bank regulatory agencies, FDIC-insured financial institutions must maintain (a) 3% to 5% of Tier 1 capital,
as defined, to average assets (“leverage ratio”), (b) 4% of Tier 1 capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“Tier
1 risk-weighted capital ratio”) and (c) 8% of total capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“total risk-weighted
capital ratio”). At November 30, 2004, the leverage ratio, Tier 1 risk-weighted capital ratio and total risk-
weighted capital ratio of each of the Company’s FDIC-insured financial institutions exceeded these regulatory
minimums.

Certain other U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries are subject to various securities, commodities and banking
regulations, and capital adequacy requirements promulgated by the regulatory and exchange authorities of the
countries in which they operate. These subsidiaries have consistently operated in excess of their local capital
adequacy requirements. Morgan Stanley Derivative Products Inc., the Company’s triple-A rated derivative
products subsidiary, maintains certain operating restrictions that have been reviewed by various rating agencies.

The regulatory capital requirements referred to above, and certain covenants contained in various agreements
governing indebtedness of the Company, may restrict the Company’s ability to withdraw capital from its
subsidiaries. At November 30, 2004, approximately $9.8 billion of net assets of consolidated subsidiaries may be
restricted as to the payment of cash dividends and advances to the Company.

Regulatory Developments. In April 2004, the SEC approved the Consolidated Supervised Entities Rule (the
“CSE Rule”) that establishes a voluntary framework for comprehensive, group-wide risk management procedures
and consolidated supervision of certain financial services holding companies by the SEC. The framework is
designed to minimize the duplicative regulatory requirements on U.S. securities firms resulting from the
European Union (“EU”) Directive (2002/87/EC) concerning the supplementary supervision of financial
conglomerates active in the EU. The CSE Rule also would allow MS&Co., one of the Company’s U.S. broker-
dealers, to use an alternative method, based on mathematical models, to calculate net capital charges for market
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and derivatives-related credit risk. Under the CSE Rule, the SEC will regulate the holding company and any
unregulated affiliate of a registered broker-dealer, including subjecting the holding company to capital
requirements generally consistent with the standards of the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (“Basel
II”). In December 2004, the Company applied to the SEC for permission to operate under the CSE Rule and
expects to be approved in fiscal 2005.

The Company continues to work with its regulators to understand and assess the impact of the CSE Rule and
Basel II capital standards. The Company cannot fully predict the impact that these changes will have on its
businesses; however, compliance with consolidated supervision and the imposition of revised capital standards
are likely to impose additional costs and may affect capital raising and allocation decisions.

Cumulative Translation Adjustments. Cumulative translation adjustments include gains or losses resulting
from translating foreign currency financial statements from their respective functional currencies to U.S. dollars,
net of hedge gains or losses and related tax effects. The Company uses foreign currency contracts and designates
certain non-U.S. dollar currency debt as hedges to manage the currency exposure relating to its net monetary
investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries. Increases or decreases in the value of the
Company’s net foreign investments generally are tax deferred for U.S. purposes, but the related hedge gains and
losses are taxable currently. The Company attempts to protect its net book value from the effects of fluctuations
in currency exchange rates on its net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar subsidiaries by selling the
appropriate non-U.S. dollar currency in the forward market. However, under some circumstances, the Company
may elect not to hedge its net monetary investments in certain foreign operations due to market conditions,
including the availability of various currency contracts at acceptable costs. Information relating to the hedging of
the Company’s net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries and their effects on
cumulative translation adjustments is summarized below:

At November 30,
2004 2003
(dollars in millions)
Net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency subsidiaries .. ............ $4.812 $3,603
Cumulative translation adjustments resulting from net investments in subsidiaries with a
non-U.S. dollar functional CUITENCY . . ... ...ttt $ 747 $ 282
Cumulative translation adjustments resulting from realized or unrealized (losses) gains on
hedges, net Of taX . . .. ..ot (713)  (324)
Total cumulative translation adjustments . .............. .ttt $ 34 $ 42

14. Employee Compensation Plans.

Effective December 1, 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, using the
prospective adoption method (see Note 2).

The Company now records compensation expense based upon the fair value of stock-based awards (both deferred
stock and stock options) granted in fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 over service periods of three and four years,
including the year of grant. As a result of amortizing the cost of equity-based awards over their respective service
periods (including the year of grant), fiscal 2004’s compensation and benefits expense included the amortization
of equity-based awards granted in both fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003. Fiscal 2003’s compensation and benefits
expense included only the amortization of equity-based awards granted in fiscal 2003. Prior to fiscal 2003, under
the approach in APB 25 and the terms of the Company’s plans in prior years, the Company recognized
compensation expense for deferred stock awards in the year of grant; however, no compensation expense was
generally recognized for stock option grants.
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In fiscal 2004, eligible employees could elect to receive stock options as a portion of their annual year-end
equity-based award as compared with prior years where one-half of the award was automatically granted in

options. In fiscal 2005, the Company will not award stock options in connection with its annual year-end equity-
based awards.

The components of the Company’s stock-based compensation expense (net of cancellations) are presented below:

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2002
(dollars in millions)

Deferred stock ....... ... $487 $109 $382
StoCK OPtioNS . ..o v i 163 176 —
Employee Stock Purchase Plan .......................... 9 8
Employee Stock OwnershipPlan ........................ 4 16

Total ..o $663 $309 $400

The Company is authorized to issue shares of its common stock in connection with awards under its equity-based
compensation and benefit plans. At November 30, 2004, approximately 170 million shares were available for
future grant under these plans.

Deferred Stock Awards. The Company has made deferred stock awards pursuant to several equity-based
compensation plans. The plans provide for the deferral of a portion of certain key employees’ discretionary
compensation with awards made in the form of restricted common stock or in the right to receive unrestricted
shares of common stock in the future (“restricted stock units”). Awards under these plans are generally subject to
vesting over time and to restrictions on sale, transfer or assignment until the end of a specified period, generally
five years from date of grant. All or a portion of an award may be canceled if employment is terminated before
the end of the relevant vesting period. All or a portion of a vested award also may be canceled in certain limited
situations, including termination for cause during the relevant restriction period.

The following table sets forth activity relating to the Company’s restricted stock units (share data in millions):

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2002

Restricted stock units at beginning of year ................. 65 80 96
Granted . ... 29 11 10
Conversions to common Stock . . ............ ... ... (14) 24) 24)
Canceled ........ ... E) ﬁ) ﬁ)
Restricted stock unitsatendof year ...................... 78 65 80

Stock Option Awards. The Company has made stock option awards pursuant to several equity-based
compensation plans. The plans provide for the deferral of a portion of certain key employees’ discretionary
compensation with awards made in the form of stock options generally having an exercise price not less than the
fair value of the Company’s common stock on the date of grant. Such options generally become exercisable over
a one- to five-year period and expire 10 years from the date of grant, subject to accelerated expiration upon
termination of employment. Option awards have vesting, restriction and cancellation provisions that are similar
to those in deferred stock awards.
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The following table presents the effect on net income and earnings per share if the fair value based method had
been applied to all option awards in each period:

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2002
(dollars in millions)

Netincome,asreported . ............... ... iriiiriinninnann .. $4,486 $3,787 $2,988
Add: Employee stock-based compensation expense included in reported
net income, net of related tax effects . ....... ... .. .. ... ... ... ... 106 117 —

Deduct: Employee stock-based compensation expense determined under
the fair value based method for all awards, net of related tax
] T 1 (106) (117) (250)

Proformanetincome ............ ... .. ... . ... ... ... ... ... ... $4,486 $3,787 $2,738

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2002

Earnings per share:

Basic—asreported . .. ... $4.15 $3.52 $2.76
Basic—proforma . .......... ... $4.15 $3.52 $2.53
Diluted—as reported . ........ ...t $4.06 $3.45 $2.69
Diluted—proforma .......... ... ... . i $4.06 $3.45 $2.45

In fiscal 2002 and prior years, no compensation expense was recorded for stock options because the Company
utilized the intrinsic value method and granted options with an exercise price equal to the current stock price.
With its adoption of SFAS No. 123 in fiscal 2003, the Company began to recognize compensation based on the
fair value of the options at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes model. The weighted average fair values of
options granted during fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 were $16.67 and $19.75, respectively, and for fiscal 2002 pro
forma purposes was $19.42, utilizing the following weighted average assumptions:

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2002

Risk-free interestrate . . ...ttt 3.5% 3.6% 3.8%
Expected option lifeinyears ............. ... ... .. ...... 5.3 5.8 6.2

Expected stock price volatility .......................... 34.6% 39.4% 50.7%
Expected dividend yield ........... .. ... ... ... .. .. ..., 1.9% 1.7% 1.9%

The following table sets forth activity relating to the Company’s stock option awards (share data in millions):

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2002

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Number Average Number Average Number Average

of Exercise of Exercise of Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price

Options outstanding at beginning of period ....... 1755 $43.66 163.7 $40.11 1514  $38.88
Granted . ......... . 4.2 51.83 31.0 54.69 22.8 43.66
Exercised ......... ... i (21.0) 16.71 (12.9) 17.61 (7.6) 19.40
Canceled ......... ... ... (6.5) 55.55 (6.3) 59.24 2.9 57.94
Options outstanding at end of period .. ........... 1522 $47.09 1755 $43.66 163.7 $40.11
Options exercisable at end of period ............. 95.9  $44.57 96.2  $37.13 91.2  $30.02
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The following table presents information relating to the Company’s stock options outstanding at November 30,
2004 (share data in millions):

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Average
Number Weighted Average = Remaining Number Weighted Average

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Exercise Price Life (Years) Exercisable Exercise Price
$400-$1999 ................. 12.8 $ 9.27 0.2 12.8 $ 9.27
$20.00-$ 2999 ................. 15.2 26.95 2.7 15.2 26.95
$30.00-$ 3999 ................. 14.0 35.64 4.0 14.0 35.64
$40.00-$ 4999 ................. 22.6 42.95 7.1 4.3 44.25
$50.00-$ 5999 ................. 54.2 55.42 8.1 20.4 56.45
$60.00-$ 6999 ................. 30.8 63.14 5.5 26.7 63.23
$70.00-$107.99 ................. 2.6 84.95 4.2 2.5 85.01
Total ... 152.2 95.9

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) allows employees to
purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a 15% discount from market value. Since adopting SFAS
No. 123, the Company has expensed the 15% discount associated with the ESPP.

Morgan Stanley 401(k) and Profit Sharing Plans. Eligible U.S. employees receive 401(k) matching
contributions which are invested in the Company’s common stock. The Company also provides discretionary
profit sharing to certain employees. The pre-tax expense associated with the 401(k) match and profit sharing for
fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002 was $118 million, $96 million and $104 million, respectively.

15. Employee Benefit Plans.

The Company sponsors various pension plans for the majority of its worldwide employees. The Company
provides certain other postretirement benefits, primarily health care and life insurance, to eligible employees. The
Company also provides certain benefits to former employees or inactive employees prior to retirement. The
following summarizes these plans:

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. Substantially all of the U.S. employees of the Company and its U.S.
affiliates are covered by a non-contributory pension plan that is qualified under Section 401(a) of the Internal
Revenue Code (the “Qualified Plan”). Unfunded supplementary plans (the “Supplemental Plans”) cover certain
executives. In addition to the Qualified Plan and the Supplemental Plans, certain of the Company’s non-U.S.
subsidiaries also have pension plans covering substantially all of their employees. These pension plans generally
provide pension benefits that are based on each employee’s years of credited service and on compensation levels
specified in the plans. For the Qualified Plan and the non-U.S. plans, the Company’s policy is to fund at least the
amounts sufficient to meet minimum funding requirements under applicable employee benefit and tax
regulations. Liabilities for benefits payable under the Supplemental Plans are accrued by the Company and are
funded when paid to the beneficiaries.

The Company also has unfunded postretirement benefit plans that provide medical and life insurance for eligible
retirees and dependents.

The Company uses a measurement date of September 30 for its pension and postretirement plans.
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The following tables present information for the Company’s pension and postretirement plans on an aggregate
basis:

Net Periodic Benefit Expense.

Net periodic benefit expense included the following components:

Pension Postretirement
Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2002 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2002
(dollars in millions)

Service cost, benefits earned during the period ... $ 114 $ 109 $ 82 $ 9 $ 8 $ 5
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation .. ... 120 116 112 10 9 8
Expected return on plan assets ................ (129) (118) (111) — — —
Net amortization . ...............uuuueenenn.. 26 19 9 — — (1)
Net settlements and curtailments .............. — 2 24 — — —
Special termination benefits .................. — 6 5 — — 3
Net periodic benefit expense ................. $ 131 $ 134 $ 121 $ 19 $ 17 $ 15
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Benefit Obligations and Funded Status.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets
for fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2003 as well as a summary of the funded status at November 30, 2004 and November
30, 2003:

Pension Postretirement
Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003
(dollars in millions)

Reconciliation of benefit obligation:

Benefit obligation at beginning of year ................. $2,010 $1,859 $ 171 $ 147
SeIVICE COSt . oottt e e 114 109 9 8
INterest COSt . . oot e 120 116 10 9
Plan amendments ............... .. ... ... 1 (186) — —
Actuarial 10Ss .. ... . 108 225 2 14
Benefits paid and settlements . ........................ (154) (123) 9) (7)
Curtaillments . ........... . i — (15) — —
Special termination benefits . ............. ... . ....... — 6 — —
Other, including foreign currency exchange rate changes . . . 56 19 — —
Benefit obligation atend of year .................. $2,255 $2,010 $ 183 $ 171
Reconciliation of fair value of plan assets:
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year ............ $1,701 $1,351 $ — $ —
Actual return on plan assets ............... .. .. ..., .. 183 227 — —
Employer contributions . ........... ... ... ... .. ... 120 239 9 7
Benefits paid and settlements ......................... (154) (125) ©)] @)
Other, including foreign currency exchange rate changes . . . 18 9 — —
Fair value of plan assets atend of year.............. $1,868 $1,701 $— $ —
Funded status:
Funded status ...............coiiniririinanann... $ (387) $(309) $(183) $(171)
Amount contributed to plan after measurement date . . ... .. 2 3 — —
Unrecognized prior-service cost ... ...........c......... (141) (153) ©) (11)
Unrecognized 10ss .. ... ..ot 827 804 50 49
Net amount recognized .. ............cooveinn.... $ 301 $ 345 $(142) $(133)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of financial
condition consist of:

Prepaid benefit coSt . .............. i $ 530 $ 524 $— $—
Accrued benefit liability . ........... ... ... .. .. ... (270) 217) (142) (133)
Intangible asset . ..........o i — 2 — —
Accumulated other comprehensive income .............. 41 36 — —
Net amount recognized ... ....................... $ 301 $ 345 $(142) $(133)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defined benefit pension plans was $2,089 million and $1,855 million
at November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003, respectively.
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The following table contains information for pension plans with an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of
plan assets as of fiscal year-end:

November 30, November 30,

2004 2003

(dollars in millions)
Projected benefit obligation ............. ... ... .. .. $435 $321
Accumulated benefit obligation ............. ... .. . oL 372 273
Fair value of plan assets ............. ... iiiiiiiiininnna.. 114 65

In accordance with SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,” the Company recorded an additional
minimum pension liability of $41 million at November 30, 2004 and $38 million at November 30, 2003 for
defined benefit pension plans whose accumulated benefits exceeded plan assets. A corresponding amount was
recognized as an intangible asset, to the extent of unrecognized prior-service cost. The remaining balance of $41
million ($30 million, net of income taxes) in fiscal 2004 and $36 million ($28 million, net of income taxes) in
fiscal 2003 was recorded as a reduction of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), a component of
Shareholders’ equity.

Assumptions.

The following table presents the weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations for the
Qualified Plan at fiscal year-end:

Pension Postretirement
Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003
Discountrate .. ............oiiiiinn... 6.05% 6.20% 6.05% 6.20%
Rate of future compensation increases . ......... 4.70 5.00 n/a n/a

The following table presents the weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit costs for
the Qualified Plan for fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002:

Pension Postretirement
Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003 Fiscal 2002 Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2002
Discountrate ...................... 6.20% 6.75% 7.55% 6.20% 6.75% 7.55%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan
ASSELS  © vt 7.25 7.50 8.50 n/a n/a n/a
Rate of future compensation increases . . . 5.00 5.00 5.00 n/a n/a n/a

The Company uses the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets to compute the expected return on assets.
For its Qualified Plan, which comprised approximately 94% of the total assets of the Company’s pension plans at
November 30, 2004, the Company annually reviews the expected long-term return based on changes in the target
investment mix and economic environment from the previous year. It then compares its initial estimate (and
adjusts, if necessary) with a portfolio return calculator model (the “Portfolio Model”) that produces a range of
expected returns for the portfolio. Return assumptions are forward-looking gross returns that are not developed
solely by an examination of historical returns. The Portfolio Model begins with the current U.S. Treasury yield
curve, recognizing that expected returns on bonds are heavily influenced by the current level of yields. Corporate
bond spreads and equity risk premiums, based on current market conditions, are then added to develop the return
expectations for each asset class. Expenses that are expected to be paid from the investment return are reflected
in the Portfolio Model as a percentage of plan assets. This includes investment and transaction fees that typically
are paid from plan assets, added to the cost basis or subtracted from sale proceeds, as well as administrative
expenses paid from the Qualified Plan.
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The following table presents assumed health care cost trend rates:

November 30, November 30,

2004 2003
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year:
Medical . ... e 10.30-10.80% 11.00-11.50%
Prescription . .. ... 14.80% 16.00%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (ultimate trend rate) ....... 5.00% 5.00%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trendrate ............................. 2012 2012

Assumed health care cost trend rates can have a significant effect on the amounts reported for the Company’s
postretirement benefit plans. A one-percentage point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have
the following effects:

One-Percentage One-Percentage
Point Increase Point Decrease

(dollars in millions)

Effect on total of service and interest COSt . .. ...ttt $3 $ (2
Effect on postretirement benefit obligation . ........... ... ... ... ... ... ... 23 (18)
Plan Assets.

The weighted average asset allocations for the Company’s Qualified Plan at November 30, 2004 and
November 30, 2003 and the targeted asset allocation for fiscal 2005 by asset class were as follows:

November 30, November 30, Fiscal 2005

2004 2003 Targeted

Equity SECUTities . . .. ..ot 51% 58% 50%
Fixed income securities . .............c..uuiuininnnnenenen.. 43 28 50
Other—primarily cash .......... ... ... . . . . i .. 6 14 —

Total .. 100% 100% 100%

Pension Plan Asset Allocation. The Company’s asset allocation targets for its Qualified Plan assets are based
on its assessment of business and financial conditions, demographic and actuarial data, funding characteristics
and related risk factors. Other relevant factors as well as equity and fixed income market sensitivity analysis also
were considered in determining this asset mix. The overall allocation is expected to help protect the plan’s
funded status while generating sufficiently stable real returns (i.e., net of inflation) to help cover current and
future pension benefit payments.

The equity portion of the asset allocation utilizes a combination of active and passive investment strategies as
well as different investment styles, while a portion of the fixed income asset allocation utilizes longer duration
fixed income securities to help reduce plan exposure to interest rate variation and to correlate assets with
obligations. The longer duration fixed income allocation also is expected to further stabilize plan contributions
over the long run. Additionally, potential allocations to other asset classes are intended to provide attractive
diversification benefits, absolute return enhancement and/or other potential benefits to the pension plans.

The asset mix of the Company’s Qualified Plan is reviewed quarterly by the Morgan Stanley Retirement Plan
Investment Committee. When asset class exposure reaches a minimum or maximum level, the plan asset
allocation mix is rebalanced back to target allocation levels.

93 Morgan Stanley



MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The Qualified Plan’s return objectives provide long-term measures for monitoring the investment performance
against growth in the pension liabilities. Total Qualified Plan portfolio performance is assessed by comparing
actual returns with relevant benchmarks, such as the S&P 500 Index, the Russell 1000 Index and the Lehman
Brothers Aggregate Index.

The Company’s Qualified Plan may invest in derivative instruments only to the extent that they comply with all
of the pension plan’s policy guidelines and are consistent with the pension plan’s risk and return objectives. In
addition, any investment in derivatives must meet the following conditions:

e Derivatives may be used to manage risk of the portfolio or if they are deemed to be more attractive than a
similar direct investment in the underlying cash market.

* Derivatives may not be used in a speculative manner or to leverage the portfolio or for short-term trading.

e Derivatives may be used only in the management of the pension plans’ portfolio when their possible
effects can be: quantified; shown to enhance the risk-return profile of the portfolio; and reported in a
meaningful and understandable manner.

Cash Flows.

The Company expects to contribute approximately $130 million to its pension and postretirement benefit plans
(U.S. and non-U.S.) in fiscal 2005 based upon their current funded status and expected asset return assumptions
for fiscal 2005, as applicable.

Expected benefit payments associated with the Company’s pension and postretirement benefit plans for the next
five fiscal years and in aggregate for the five fiscal years thereafter are as follows:

Pension Postretirement

(dollars in millions)

Fiscal 2005 . ... $ 91 $9
Fiscal 2000 . ... ... 95 9
Fiscal 2007 . ... 102 10
Fiscal 2008 . ... .. 109 10
Fiscal 2000 . ... .. 113 10
Fiscal 2010-2014 . . ... 686 59

Defined Contribution Pension Plans.

The Company maintains separate defined contribution pension plans that cover substantially all employees of
certain non-U.S. subsidiaries. Under such plans, benefits are determined by the purchasing power of the
accumulated value of contributions paid. In fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, the Company’s expense
related to these plans was $58 million, $56 million and $62 million, respectively.

Postemployment Benefits. Postemployment benefits include, but are not limited to, salary continuation,
severance benefits, disability-related benefits, and continuation of health care and life insurance coverage
provided to former employees or inactive employees after employment but before retirement. These benefits
were not material to the consolidated financial statements in fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002.

New Medicare Legislation. The Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003
(“the Act”), which was enacted in December 2003, will likely reduce the Company’s accumulated postretirement
benefit obligation. The Medicare prescription drug plan will take effect in 2006 and is not expected to have a
material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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16. Income Taxes.

The provision for income taxes from continuing operations consisted of:

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2002

(dollars in millions)

Current:
U.S. federal .. ..., $1,191 $ 897 $1,223
US.stateandlocal ........... ... . ... . i 217 122 150
NOn-U. S, o 709 467 269
2,117 1,486 1,642
Deferred:
US. federal . ........ . (152) 150 (39)
US.stateandlocal ........... ... . ... . . . . i (22) 48 2
NON-U. S, o 87) 23 20
(261) 221 17
Provision for income taxes from continuing operations .................. $1,856 $1,707 $1,625
Income tax benefit from discontinued operations ....................... $ 69 $ 160 $ 56

The following table reconciles the provision for income taxes (including both continuing and discontinued
operations) to the U.S. federal statutory income tax rate:

Fiscal 2004 Fiscal 2003  Fiscal 2002

U.S. federal statutory income taX rate . ..............c.oeumirnennenn .. 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
U.S. state and local income taxes, net of U.S. federal income tax benefits ... 1.9 1.7 2.0
Lower tax rates applicable to non-U.S. earnings . ....................... (1.2) 2.4) 0.9)
Domestic tax CreditS .. ...ttt e (5.6) 4.9) 2.4)
(.11 TS P (1.6) 0.4) 0.7
Effective income tax rate . ... ..ottt et e 28.5% 29.0% 34.4%

As of November 30, 2004, the Company had approximately $5.8 billion of earnings attributable to foreign
subsidiaries for which no provisions have been recorded for income tax that could occur upon repatriation.
Except to the extent such earnings can be repatriated tax efficiently, they are permanently invested abroad. It is
not practicable to determine the amount of income taxes payable in the event all such foreign earnings are
repatriated.

In December 2004, the FASB issued Staff Position (“FSP”’) No. 109-2, “Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for
the Foreign Earnings Repatriation Provision within the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004.” The American
Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”), signed into law on October 22, 2004, provides for a special one-time tax
deduction, or dividend received deduction (“DRD”), of 85% of qualifying foreign earnings that are repatriated in
either a company’s last tax year that began before the enactment date or the first tax year that begins during the
one-year period beginning on the enactment date. FSP 109-2 provides entities additional time to assess the effect
of repatriating foreign earnings under the Act for purposes of applying SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes,” which typically requires the effect of a new tax law to be recorded in the period of enactment. The
Company will elect, if applicable, to apply the DRD to qualifying dividends of foreign earnings repatriated in its
fiscal year ending November 30, 2005.
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The Company is awaiting further clarifying guidance from the U.S. Treasury Department on certain provisions of
the Act. Once this guidance is received, the Company expects to complete its evaluation of the effects of the Act
during fiscal 2005. Under the limitations on the amount of dividends qualifying for the DRD of the Act, the
maximum repatriation of the Company’s foreign earnings that may qualify for the special one-time DRD is
approximately $4.0 billion. Therefore, the range of possible amounts of qualifying dividends of foreign earnings
is between zero and approximately $4.0 billion. Because the evaluation is ongoing, it is not yet practical to
estimate a range of possible income tax effects of potential repatriations.

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax
bases of assets and liabilities and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when
such differences are expected to reverse. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and
liabilities at November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003 were as follows:

November 30, November 30,
2004 2003

(dollars in millions)

Deferred tax assets:

Employee compensation and benefitplans . ........... ... .. .. ... ... $2,075 $1,891
Loanloss allowance ... ............ i 341 370
Other valuation and liability allowances ... ........... ... ... ... ....... 806 1,147
Deferred Xpenses . ... ..o e 21 27
O her .. 1,014 736

Total deferred tax aSSELS . ...ttt e e e 4,257 4,171

Deferred tax liabilities:

Prepaid commiSSions . ... ..ottt 118 147
Other ... 1,504 1,251

Total deferred tax liabilities . ............ ... i, 1,622 1,398

Net deferred tax assetS . . ..o v vt et e e e $2,635 $2,773

Cash paid for income taxes was $818 million, $746 million and $1,252 million in fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and
fiscal 2002, respectively.

The Company recorded income tax benefits of $331 million, $333 million and $282 million related to employee
stock compensation transactions in fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, respectively. Such benefits were
credited to Paid-in capital.

Income Tax Examinations. The Company is under continuous examination by the Internal Revenue Service
(the “IRS”) and other tax authorities in certain countries, such as Japan and the United Kingdom, and states in
which the Company has significant business operations, such as New York. The tax years under examination
vary by jurisdiction; for example, the current IRS examination covers 1994-1998. Assuming current progress, the
Company expects this IRS examination to be completed in fiscal 2005. The Company regularly assesses the
likelihood of additional assessments in each of the taxing jurisdictions resulting from these and subsequent years’
examinations. Tax reserves have been established, which the Company believes to be adequate in relation to the
potential for additional assessments. Once established, reserves are adjusted only when there is more information
available or when an event occurs necessitating a change to the reserves. The resolution of tax matters will not
have a material effect on the consolidated financial condition of the Company, although a resolution could have a
material impact on the Company’s consolidated statement of income for a particular future period and on the
Company’s effective tax rate.
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17. Segment and Geographic Information.

The Company structures its segments primarily based upon the nature of the financial products and services
provided to customers and the Company’s management organization. The Company provides a wide range of
financial products and services to its customers in each of its business segments: Institutional Securities, Retail
Brokerage, Asset Management and Discover. For further discussion of the Company’s business segments, see
Note 1. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s
presentation.

Revenues and expenses directly associated with each respective segment are included in determining their
operating results. Other revenues and expenses that are not directly attributable to a particular segment are
allocated based upon the Company’s allocation methodologies, generally based on each segment’s respective
revenues or other relevant measures.

As a result of treating certain intersegment transactions as transactions with external parties, the Company
includes an “Intersegment Eliminations” category to reconcile the segment results to the Company’s consolidated
results. Income before taxes in Intersegment Eliminations represents the effect of timing differences associated
with the revenue and expense recognition of commissions paid by Asset Management to Retail Brokerage
associated with sales of certain products and the related compensation costs paid to Retail Brokerage’s
representatives.

Selected financial information for the Company’s segments is presented below:

Institutional Retail Asset Intersegment
Fiscal 2004 Securities Brokerage Management Discover Eliminations Total
(dollars in millions)
Net revenues excluding net interest .. ... ... $10,702  $4,362 $2,736  $2,322 $(291) $19,831
Netinterest . ..., .. 2411 253 2 1,211 — 3,877
NEtTEVENUES . . o v v voeee e e e e $13,113  $4,615 $2,738  $3,533 $(291)  $23,708

Income from continuing operations before
losses from unconsolidated investees,
income taxes, dividends on preferred
securities subject to mandatory redemption

and discontinued operations . ........... $ 4281 $ 371 $ 827  $1,221 $ 118 $ 6,818
Losses from unconsolidated investees . . .. .. 328 — — — — 328
Dividends on preferred securities subject to

mandatory redemption ................ 45 — — — — 45

Income before taxes and discontinued
operations(1) ........................ $ 3908 $ 371 $ 827  $1,221 $118 $ 6,445
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Institutional Retail Asset Intersegment
Fiscal 2003(2) Securities Brokerage Management Discover Eliminations Total
(dollars in millions)
Net revenues excluding net interest ... ... $ 9727 $ 4,021 $2.282 $ 2,047 $(305) $ 17,772
Netinterest ...........c.oieiiioo... 1,574 221 (6) 1,256 — 3,045
Netrevenues . .............oueuenon.. $ 11,301 $ 4,242 $2.276 $ 3,303 $(305) $ 20,817
Income from continuing operations before
losses from unconsolidated investees,
income taxes, dividends on preferred
securities subject to mandatory
redemption and discontinued
Operations . ................ooei.... $ 4066 $ 464 $ 482 $ 1,027 $ 121 $ 6,160
Losses from unconsolidated investees . . .. 279 — — — — 279
Dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption .............. 154 — — — — 154
Income before taxes and discontinued
operations(1) ...................... $ 3,633 $§ 464 $ 482 $ 1,027 $ 121 $ 5,727
Institutional Retail Asset Intersegment
w Securities Brokerage Management Discover Eliminations Total
(dollars in millions)
Net revenues excluding net interest ... ... $ 7,392 $ 4,016 $2,493 $ 2,139 $(327) $ 15,713
Netinterest ...............ccoiuun... 1,764 252 13 1,332 — 3,361
Netrevenues . .............ooueuuen... $ 9,156 $ 4,268 $2,506 $ 3,471 $(327) $ 19,074
Income from continuing operations before
losses from unconsolidated investees,
income taxes, dividends on preferred
securities subject to mandatory
redemption and discontinued
OPETAtioNS .. .....vvvernennennn... $ 2812 $ 120 $ 656 $ 1,142 $ 129 $ 4,859
Losses from unconsolidated investees . . .. 77 — — — — 77
Dividends on preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption .............. 87 — — — — 87
Income before taxes and discontinued
operations(1) ...................... $ 2648 $ 120 $ 656 $ 1,142 $ 129 $ 4,695
Institutional Retail Asset Intersegment
M Securities Brokerage Management Discover Eliminations Total
(dollars in millions)
At November 30,2004 ................ $729,929 $17,839 $3,759  $24,096 $(213) $775,410
At November 30, 2003(2) .............. $558,807 $16,665 $3,748  $23,954 $(331)  $602,843
At November 30,2002(2) .............. $486,338 $12,954 $3,762  $26,896 $(451)  $529,499

(1) See Note 27 for a discussion of subsequent events.

(2) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.

(3) Corporate assets have been fully allocated to the Company’s business segments.
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The Company operates in both U.S. and non-U.S. markets. The Company’s non-U.S. business activities are
principally conducted through European and Asian locations. The following table presents selected income
statement information and the total assets of the Company’s operations by geographic area. The principal
methodologies used in preparing the geographic area data are as follows: commission revenues are recorded
based on the location of the sales force; trading revenues are principally recorded based on location of the trader;
investment banking revenues are based on location of the client; and asset management and portfolio service fees
are recorded based on the location of the portfolio manager:

Fiscal 2004(1) U.S. Europe Asia Other Eliminations Total
(dollars in millions)
NEtrevenues . . . ..o veeeeeennnn.. $ 17365 $ 5219 $ 1950 $ 520 $ (1,346) $ 23,708

Income from continuing operations
before losses from unconsolidated
investees, income taxes, dividends on
preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption and

discontinued operations ............ 4,324 1,387 639 468 — 6,818
Total assets at November 30, 2004 .. ... 1,001,547 463,300 40,074 26,402 (755,913) 775,410
Fiscal 2003(1)(2) U.S. Europe Asia Other Eliminations Total

(dollars in millions)
NELtTEVENUES . . v v ov e ee e $ 15746 $ 4,127 $ 1,731 $ 8 $ (873) $ 20,817

Income from continuing operations
before losses from unconsolidated
investees, income taxes, dividends on
preferred securities subject to
mandatory redemption and

discontinued operations ............ 4,614 918 591 37 — 6,160
Total assets at November 30, 2003 .. ... 773,609 305,256 48,666 22,917 (547,605) 602,843
Fiscal 2002(1)(2) U.S. Europe Asia Other Eliminations Total

(dollars in millions)
NELTEVENUES -« o v vee e e e e $ 14510 $ 3349 $ 1432 $ 297 $ (514) $ 19,074

Income from continuing operations

before losses from unconsolidated

investees, income taxes, dividends on

preferred securities subject to

mandatory redemption and

discontinued operations ............ 3,336 848 405 270 — 4,859
Total assets at November 30,2002 .. ... 640,132 246,979 31,795 20,329  (409,736) 529,499

(1) See Note 27 for a discussion of subsequent events.
(2) Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.

18. Aircraft under Operating Leases.

As discussed in Note 27, on August 17, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved
management’s recommendation to sell the Company’s aircraft leasing business. In connection with this action,
the aircraft leasing business was classified as “held for sale” under the provisions of SFAS No. 144 in the third
quarter of fiscal 2005. The results of the aircraft leasing business have been reported as discontinued operations
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in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for all periods presented. The aircraft-related charges
recorded by the Company during fiscal 2004 and 2003 that are included within discontinued operations are
described below.

Sales of Aircrafft.

During fiscal 2004, the Company entered into agreements for the sale of certain aircraft. The Company recorded
a $42 million loss related to the write-down of these aircraft to fair value less selling costs in the third quarter of
fiscal 2004. After recording the write-down, the carrying value of these aircraft at November 30, 2004 was $114
million. As of February 3, 2005, all of these aircraft were sold.

Fiscal 2004 Activity.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company’s aircraft are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an aircraft may not be recoverable. During the
second quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company evaluated various financing strategies for its aircraft financing
business. As part of that evaluation and to determine the potential debt ratings associated with the financing
strategies, the Company commissioned appraisals of the aircraft portfolio from three independent aircraft
appraisal firms. The appraisals indicated a decrease in the aircraft portfolio average market value of 12% from
the appraisals obtained at the date of the prior impairment charge (May 31, 2003). In accordance with SFAS No.
144, the Company considered the decline in appraisal values a significant decrease in the market price of its
aircraft portfolio and thus a trigger event to test for impairment in the carrying value of its aircraft.

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company tested each of its aircraft for impairment by comparing each
aircraft’s projected undiscounted cash flows with its respective carrying value. For those aircraft for which
impairment was indicated (because the projected undiscounted cash flows were less than the carrying value), the
Company adjusted the carrying value of each aircraft to its fair value if lower than the carrying value. To
determine each aircraft’s fair value, the Company used the market value appraisals provided by independent
appraisers (BK Associates, Inc., Morten Beyer & Agnew, Inc. and Airclaims Limited). As a result of this review,
the Company recorded a non-cash pre-tax asset impairment charge of $109 million in the second quarter of fiscal
2004 based on the average of the market value appraisals provided by the three independent appraisers. The
impairment charge was primarily concentrated in two particular types of aircraft, the MD-83 and A300-600R,
which contributed approximately $85 million of the $109 million charge. The decrease in the projected
undiscounted cash flows and the significant decline in the appraisal values for these aircraft reflects, among other
things, a very small operator base and therefore limited opportunities to lease such aircraft. The impairment
charge for aircraft to be held and used is included within Other expenses, while the impairment charge for
aircraft that were classified as held for sale are included in loss from discontinued operations in the consolidated
statement of income.

Fiscal 2003 Activity.

Prior to fiscal 2003, the Company had used “base value” estimates provided by independent appraisers to
estimate the fair value of its impaired aircraft. Accordingly, during the first quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company
recorded a non-cash pre-tax charge of $36 million to adjust the carrying value of previously impaired aircraft to
“market value.”

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company reviewed the carrying value of its aircraft portfolio for
impairment during the second quarter of fiscal 2003 given the difficult conditions that existed in the commercial
aircraft industry at the time, including the adverse impact of the military conflict in Iraq, the outbreak of Severe
Acute Respiratory Syndrome and the bankruptcy of several airlines.
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In the second quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company tested each of its aircraft for impairment by comparing each
aircraft’s projected undiscounted cash flows with its respective carrying value. For each aircraft for which
impairment was indicated, the Company adjusted the carrying value of each aircraft to its fair value if lower than
carrying value. To determine each aircraft’s fair value, the Company used market value estimates provided by
independent appraisers (BK Associates, Inc., Morten Beyer & Agnew, Inc. and Airclaims Limited). As a result of
this review, the Company recorded a non-cash pre-tax asset impairment charge of $287 million based on the
average market value provided by independent appraisers in the second quarter of fiscal 2003.

The Company had followed a valuation methodology designed to align the changes in projected undiscounted
cash flows for impaired aircraft with the change in carrying value of such aircraft. Under this methodology, the
Company calculated the $36 million impairment charge in the first quarter of fiscal 2003 using the highest
portfolio valuation provided by the appraisers and calculated the $287 million impairment charge recorded in the
second quarter of fiscal 2003 based on the average of the three appraisal values. The Company determined that
future impairment charges would be based upon the average market appraisal values from independent
appraisers. If the average market appraisal values had been used to measure impairment in each of the prior
quarters in which impairment was recognized, pre-tax income from discontinued operations would have differed
as follows:
Change in
Pre-tax Income From

Discontinued Operations
Increase /(Decrease)

(dollars in millions)
Quarter ended:

November 30, 2001 ... ..ot $(70.9)
February 28, 2002 . . . ..o e 1.0
May 31, 2002 . .o 1.5
August 31, 2002 ... (71.9)
November 30, 2002 . ... 2.7
February 28, 2003 . . . ..o i e 38.3
May 31, 2003 . .. 97.0
Aggregate difference ..... ... ... .. $ (2.3)

19. Variable Interest Entities.

In January 2003, the FASB issued FIN 46, which clarified the application of Accounting Research Bulletin
No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements,” to certain entities in which equity investors do not have the
characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties (‘“variable interest entities”).
Variable interest entities (“VIE”) are required to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if they do not
effectively disperse risks among parties involved. Under FIN 46, the primary beneficiary of a VIE is the party
that absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a majority of its expected residual returns, or
both, as a result of holding variable interests. FIN 46 also requires disclosures about VIEs.

The Company is involved with various entities in the normal course of business that may be deemed to be VIEs
and may hold interests therein, including debt securities, interest-only strip investments and derivative
instruments that may be considered variable interests. Transactions associated with these entities include asset-
and mortgage-backed securitizations and structured financings (including collateralized debt, bond or loan
obligations and credit-linked notes). The Company engages in these transactions principally to facilitate client
needs and as a means of selling financial assets. The Company consolidates entities in which it has a controlling
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financial interest in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. For those entities
deemed to be qualifying special purpose entities (as defined in SFAS No. 140), which includes the credit card
asset securitization master trusts (see Note 5), the Company does not consolidate the entity.

On February 1, 2003, the Company adopted FIN 46 for VIEs created after January 31, 2003 and for VIEs in
which the Company obtains an interest after January 31, 2003. In October 2003, the FASB deferred the effective
date of FIN 46 for arrangements with VIEs existing prior to February 1, 2003 to fiscal periods ending after
December 15, 2003. In December 2003, the FASB issued a revision of FIN 46 (“FIN 46R”) to address certain
technical corrections and implementation issues that have arisen. As of February 29, 2004, the Company adopted
FIN 46 or FIN 46R for all of its variable interests. For these variable interests, the Company consolidated those
VIEs (including financial asset-backed securitization, mortgage-backed securitization, collateral debt obligation,
credit-linked note, structured note, municipal bond trust, equity-linked note and exchangeable trust entities) in
which the Company was the primary beneficiary. In limited instances, the Company deconsolidated VIEs for
which it was not the primary beneficiary as a result of the adoption of FIN 46R. This is further discussed in Note
12 with respect to statutory trusts that had issued Capital Securities. As of May 31, 2004, the Company adopted
FIN 46R for those variable interests that were previously accounted for under FIN 46. The effect of adopting FIN
46 and FIN 46R as of February 29, 2004 and May 31, 2004 did not have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated results of operations or consolidated financial position.

The Company purchases and sells interests in entities that may be deemed to be VIEs in the ordinary course of its
business. As a result of these activities, it is possible that such entities may be consolidated and deconsolidated at
various points in time. Therefore, the Company’s variable interests included below may not be held by the
Company at the end of future quarterly reporting periods.

Institutional Securities. At November 30, 2004, in connection with its Institutional Securities business, the
aggregate size of VIEs, including financial asset-backed securitization, collateralized debt obligation, credit-
linked note, structured note, municipal bond trust, loan issuing, equity-linked note and exchangeable trust
entities, for which the Company was the primary beneficiary of the entities was approximately $3.2 billion,
which is the carrying amount of the consolidated assets recorded as Financial instruments owned that are
collateral for the entities’ obligations. The nature and purpose of these entities that the Company consolidated
were to issue a series of notes to investors that provide the investors a return based on the holdings of the entities.
These transactions were executed to facilitate client investment objectives. The structured note, equity-linked
note, certain credit-linked note, certain financial asset-backed securitization and municipal bond transactions also
were executed as a means of selling financial assets. The Company holds either the entire class or a majority of
the class of subordinated notes or entered into a derivative instrument with the VIE, which bears the majority of
the expected losses or receives a majority of the expected residual returns of the entities. The Company
consolidates these entities, in accordance with its consolidation accounting policy, and as a result eliminates all
intercompany transactions, including derivatives and other intercompany transactions such as fees received to
underwrite the notes or to structure the transactions. The Company accounts for the assets held by the entities as
Financial instruments owned and the liabilities of the entities as financings. For those liabilities that include an
embedded derivative, the Company has bifurcated such derivative in accordance with SFAS No. 133, as
amended. The beneficial interests of these consolidated entities are payable solely from the cash flows of the
assets held by the VIE.

At November 30, 2004, also in connection with its Institutional Securities business, the aggregate size of the
entities for which the Company holds significant variable interests, which consist of subordinated and other
classes of beneficial interests, derivative instruments, limited partnership investments and secondary guarantees,
was approximately $17.7 billion. The Company’s variable interests associated with these entities, primarily
credit-linked note, structured note, loan and bond issuing, collateralized debt obligation, financial asset-backed
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securitization and tax credit limited liability entities, including investments in affordable housing tax credit funds
and underlying synthetic fuel production plants, were approximately $6.4 billion consisting primarily of senior
beneficial interests, which represent the Company’s maximum exposure to loss at November 30, 2004. The
Company may hedge the risks inherent in its variable interest holdings, thereby reducing its exposure to loss. The
Company’s maximum exposure to loss does not include the offsetting benefit of any financial instruments that
the Company utilizes to hedge these risks.

Asset Management. At November 30, 2004, in connection with its Asset Management business, where the
Company is the asset manager for collateralized bond and loan obligation entities, the Company was neither the
primary beneficiary of nor held any significant variable interests in such VIEs due to the modification of the
treatment of fees paid to a decision maker under FIN 46R. FIN 46 included a requirement that expected residual
returns include the total amount of fees on a gross basis paid to decision makers instead of including only the
variability in such fees as is the guidance in FIN 46R.

20. Guarantees.

FASB Interpretation No. 45 (“FIN 45”), “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees,
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others,” requires the Company to disclose information about its
obligations under certain guarantee arrangements. FIN 45 defines guarantees as contracts and indemnification
agreements that contingently require a guarantor to make payments to the guaranteed party based on changes in
an underlying (such as an interest or foreign exchange rate, security or commodity price, an index or the
occurrence or non-occurrence of a specified event) related to an asset, liability or equity security of a guaranteed
party. FIN 45 also defines guarantees as contracts that contingently require the guarantor to make payments to
the guaranteed party based on another entity’s failure to perform under an agreement as well as indirect
guarantees of the indebtedness of others.

Derivative Contracts. Under FIN 45, certain derivative contracts meet the accounting definition of a guarantee,
including certain written options, contingent forward contracts and credit default swaps. Although the
Company’s derivative arrangements do not specifically identify whether the derivative counterparty retains the
underlying asset, liability or equity security, the Company has disclosed information regarding all derivative
contracts that could meet the FIN 45 definition of a guarantee. The maximum potential payout for certain
derivative contracts, such as written interest rate caps and written foreign currency options, cannot be estimated
as increases in interest or foreign exchange rates in the future could possibly be unlimited. Therefore, in order to
provide information regarding the maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be
required to make under certain derivative contracts, the notional amount of the contracts has been disclosed.

The Company records all derivative contracts at fair value. For this reason, the Company does not monitor its
risk exposure to such derivative contracts based on derivative notional amounts; rather the Company manages its
risk exposure on a fair value basis. Aggregate market risk limits have been established, and market risk measures
are routinely monitored against these limits. The Company also manages its exposure to these derivative
contracts through a variety of risk mitigation strategies, including, but not limited to, entering into offsetting
economic hedge positions. The Company believes that the notional amounts of the derivative contracts generally
overstate its exposure. For further discussion of the Company’s derivative risk management activities, see
Note 11.

Financial Guarantees to Third Parties. In connection with its corporate lending business and other corporate
activities, the Company provides standby letters of credit and other financial guarantees to counterparties. Such
arrangements represent obligations to make payments to third parties if the counterparty fails to fulfill its
obligation under a borrowing arrangement or other contractual obligation.
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Market Value Guarantees. Market value guarantees are issued to guarantee return of principal invested to fund
investors associated with certain European equity funds and to guarantee timely payment of a specified return to
investors in certain affordable housing tax credit funds. The guarantees associated with certain European equity
funds are designed to provide for any shortfall between the market value of the underlying fund assets and
invested principal and a stipulated return amount. The guarantees provided to investors in certain affordable
housing tax credit funds are designed to return an investor’s contribution to a fund and the investor’s share of tax
losses and tax credits expected to be generated by a fund.

Liquidity Guarantees. The Company has entered into liquidity facilities with special purpose entities (“SPE”)
and other counterparties, whereby the Company is required to make certain payments if losses or defaults occur.
The Company often may have recourse to the underlying assets held by the SPEs in the event payments are
required under such liquidity facilities.

The table below summarizes certain information regarding these guarantees at November 30, 2004:

Maximum Potential Payout/Notional

Years to Maturity Carrying Collateral/

Type of Guarantee Less than 1 1-3 3-5 Over 5 Total Amount  Recourse

(dollars in millions)
Derivative contracts . .. ... $473,598 $281,033 $294.873 $254,354 $1,303,858 $16,970  $120
Standby letters of credit and
other financial

guarantees ............ 337 196 95 27 655 7 161
Market value guarantees . . 51 17 286 536 890 46 57
Liquidity facilities ....... 922 889 — 176 1,987 — —

Indemnities. In the normal course of its business, the Company provides standard indemnities to counterparties
for taxes, including U.S. and foreign withholding taxes, on interest and other payments made on derivatives,
securities and stock lending transactions, certain annuity products and other financial arrangements. These
indemnity payments could be required based on a change in the tax laws or change in interpretation of applicable
tax rulings. Certain contracts contain provisions that enable the Company to terminate the agreement upon the
occurrence of such events. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be
required to make under these indemnifications cannot be estimated. The Company has not recorded any
contingent liability in the consolidated financial statements for these indemnifications and believes that the
occurrence of any events that would trigger payments under these contracts is remote.

Exchange/Clearinghouse Member Guarantees. The Company is a member of various U.S. and non-U.S.
exchanges and clearinghouses that trade and clear securities and/or futures contracts. Associated with its
membership, the Company may be required to pay a proportionate share of the financial obligations of another
member who may default on its obligations to the exchange or the clearinghouse. While the rules governing
different exchange or clearinghouse memberships vary, in general the Company’s guarantee obligations would
arise only if the exchange or clearinghouse had previously exhausted its resources. In addition, any such
guarantee obligation would be apportioned among the other non-defaulting members of the exchange or
clearinghouse. Any potential contingent liability under these membership agreements cannot be estimated. The
Company has not recorded any contingent liability in the consolidated financial statements for these agreements
and believes that any potential requirement to make payments under these agreements is remote.

General Partner Guarantees. As a general partner in certain private equity and real estate partnerships, the
Company receives distributions from the partnerships according to the provisions of the partnership agreements.
The Company may, from time to time, be required to return all or a portion of such distributions to the limited
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partners in the event the limited partners do not achieve a certain return as specified in various partnership
agreements, subject to certain limitations. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company
could be required to make under these provisions at November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003 was $265
million and $125 million, respectively. As of November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003, the Company’s
liability for distributions that the Company has determined it is probable it will be required to refund based on the
applicable refund criteria specified in the various partnership agreements was $68 million and $65 million,
respectively.

Securitized Asset Guarantees. As part of the Company’s Institutional Securities and Discover securitization
activities, the Company provides representations and warranties that certain securitized assets conform to
specified guidelines. The Company may be required to repurchase such assets or indemnify the purchaser against
losses if the assets do not meet certain conforming guidelines. Due diligence is performed by the Company to
ensure that asset guideline qualifications are met, and to the extent the Company has acquired such assets to be
securitized from other parties, the Company seeks to obtain its own representations and warranties regarding the
assets. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make would be
equal to the current outstanding balances of all assets subject to such securitization activities. Also, in connection
with originations of residential mortgage loans under the Company’s FlexSource® program, the Company may
permit borrowers to pledge marketable securities as collateral instead of requiring cash down payments for the
purchase of the underlying residential property. Upon sale of the residential mortgage loans, the Company may
provide a surety bond that reimburses the purchasers for shortfalls in the borrowers’ securities accounts up to
certain limits if the collateral maintained in the securities accounts (along with the associated real estate
collateral) is insufficient to cover losses that purchasers experience as a result of defaults by borrowers on the
underlying residential mortgage loans. The Company requires the borrowers to meet daily collateral calls to
ensure the marketable securities pledged in lieu of a cash down payment are sufficient. At November 30, 2004
and November 30, 2003, the maximum potential amount of future payments the Company may be required to
make under its surety bond was $198 million and $174 million, respectively. The Company has not recorded any
contingent liability in the consolidated financial statements for these representations and warranties and
reimbursement agreements and believes that the probability of any payments under these arrangements is remote.

Merchant Chargeback Guarantees. In connection with its Discover business, the Company owns and operates
merchant processing services in the U.S. related to its general purpose credit cards. As a merchant processor in
the U.S. and an issuer of credit cards in the U.K., the Company is contingently liable for processed credit card
sales transactions in the event of a dispute between the cardmember and a merchant. If a dispute is resolved in
the cardmember’s favor, the Company will credit or refund the amount to the cardmember and charge back the
transaction to the merchant. If the Company is unable to collect the amount from the merchant, the Company will
bear the loss for the amount credited or refunded to the cardmember. In most instances, a payment requirement
by the Company is unlikely to arise because most products or services are delivered when purchased, and credits
are issued by merchants on returned items in a timely fashion. However, where the product or service is not
provided until some later date following the purchase, the likelihood of payment by the Company increases. The
maximum potential amount of future payments related to this contingent liability is estimated to be the total
cardmember sales transaction volume to date that could qualify as a valid disputed transaction under the
Company’s merchant processing network and cardmember agreements; however, the Company believes that this
amount is not representative of the Company’s actual potential loss exposure based on the Company’s historical
experience. This amount cannot be quantified as the Company cannot determine whether the current or
cumulative transaction volumes may include or result in disputed transactions.
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The table below summarizes certain information regarding merchant chargeback guarantees during fiscal 2004
and fiscal 2003:

Fiscal Year

2004 2003
Losses related to merchant chargebacks (dollars in millions) ............ .. .. ... .. ... ... $ 6 § 12
Aggregate credit card transaction volume (dollars in billions) ............ .. .. ... .. ... ... 99.6 979

The amount of the liability related to the Company’s credit cardmember merchant guarantee was not material at
November 30, 2004. The Company mitigates this risk by withholding settlement from merchants or obtaining
escrow deposits from certain merchants that are considered higher risk due to various factors such as time delays
in the delivery of products or services. The table below provides information regarding the settlement
withholdings and escrow deposits:

At November 30,
2004 2003
(dollars in millions)
Settlement withholdings and escrow deposits . ...............ciiiiiiiiinaon.. $53 $40

Other. The Company may, from time to time, in its role as investment banking advisor be required to provide
guarantees in connection with certain European merger and acquisition transactions. If required by the regulating
authorities, the Company provides a guarantee that the acquirer in the merger and acquisition transaction has or
will have sufficient funds to complete the transaction and would then be required to make the acquisition
payments in the event the acquirer’s funds are insufficient at the completion date of the transaction. These
arrangements generally cover the time frame from the transaction offer date to its closing date and therefore are
generally short term in nature. The maximum potential amount of future payments that the Company could be
required to make cannot be estimated. The likelihood of any payment by the Company under these arrangements
is remote given the level of the Company’s due diligence associated with its role as investment banking advisor.

21. Fair Value of Financial Instruments.

The majority of the Company’s assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value or at amounts that approximate fair
value. Such assets and liabilities include: cash and cash equivalents, cash and securities deposited with clearing
organizations or segregated under federal and other regulations, customer and broker receivables and payables,
certain other assets (including the cash collateral accounts associated with the Company’s credit card asset
securitizations), commercial paper, and other short-term borrowings and payables.

The fair value of certain of the Company’s other assets and liabilities is presented below.

Financial Instruments Owned and Financial Instruments Sold, not yet Purchased. The Company’s financial
instruments used for trading and investment and for asset and liability management are recorded at fair value as
discussed in Note 2.

Consumer Loans. The fair value of consumer loans is determined by discounting cash flows using current
market rates of loans having similar characteristics. The cash flow calculation methodologies, which vary by
product, include adjustments for credit risk and prepayment rates commensurate with recent and projected trends.
The estimated fair value of the Company’s consumer loans approximated carrying value at November 30, 2004
and November 30, 2003.
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Secured Financing Activities. Financial instruments associated with secured financing activities, including
Securities purchased under agreements to resell, Securities borrowed, Securities sold under agreements to
repurchase and Securities loaned, are recorded at their original contract amount plus accrued interest. As the
majority of such financing activities are short term in nature, the carrying value of these instruments
approximates fair value.

Deposits. The estimated fair value of the Company’s deposits, using current rates for deposits with similar
maturities, approximated carrying value at November 30, 2004 and November 30, 2003.

Long-Term Borrowings. The Company’s long-term borrowings are recorded at historical amounts unless
designated as a hedged item in a fair value hedge under SFAS No. 133. The fair value of the Company’s long-
term borrowings was estimated using either quoted market prices or discounted cash flow analyses based on the
Company’s current borrowing rates for similar types of borrowing arrangements. At November 30, 2004 and
November 30, 2003, the carrying value of the Company’s long-term borrowings was approximately $1.2 billion
and approximately $0.8 billion, respectively, less than fair value.

22. Restructuring and Other Charges.

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2002, the Company recognized restructuring and other charges of $235 million
(pre-tax). The charge reflected several actions that were intended to resize and refocus certain business areas in
order to address the difficult conditions then existing in the global financial markets. Such conditions, including
significantly lower levels of investment banking activity and decreased retail investor participation in the equity
markets, had an adverse impact on the Company’s results of operations, particularly in its Institutional Securities
and Retail Brokerage businesses.

The fiscal 2002 charge consisted of space-related costs of $162 million and severance-related costs of $73
million. The space-related costs were attributable to the closure or subletting of excess office space, primarily in
the U.S. and the U.K., as well as the Company’s decision to consolidate its Retail Brokerage branch locations.
The majority of the space-related costs consisted of rental charges and the write-off of furniture, fixtures and
other fixed assets at the affected office locations. The severance-related costs were attributable to workforce
reductions. The Company reduced the number of its employees by approximately 2,200 during the fourth quarter
of fiscal 2002, primarily in the Institutional Securities and Retail Brokerage businesses. The majority of the
severance-related costs consisted of severance payments provided to the affected individuals.

At November 30, 2004, the remaining liability associated with these charges was approximately $75 million,
which was included in Other liabilities and accrued expenses in the consolidated statement of financial condition.
The liability will continue to be reduced as the leases on the office locations referred to above expire.

23. Investments in Unconsolidated Investees.

The Company invests in unconsolidated investees that own synthetic fuel production plants. The Company
accounts for these investments under the equity method of accounting. The Company’s share of the operating
losses generated by these investments is recorded within Losses from unconsolidated investees, and the tax
credits and the tax benefits associated with these operating losses are recorded within the Company’s Provision
for income taxes.
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In fiscal 2004, fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002, the losses from unconsolidated investees were more than offset by the
respective tax credits and tax benefits on the losses. The table below provides information regarding the losses
from unconsolidated investees, tax credits and tax benefits on the losses:

Fiscal Year
2004 2003 2002
(dollars in millions)

Losses from unconsolidated inVeStees ... ...ttt $328 $279 $ 77
TaxX Credits . ..o oot e 351 308 109
Tax benefits 0n 10SSES . . ..ot 132 112 31

IRS field auditors are contesting the placed-in-service date of several synthetic fuel facilities owned by one of the
Company’s unconsolidated investees (the “LLC”). To qualify for the tax credits under Section 29 of the Internal
Revenue Code, the production facility must have been placed in service before July 1, 1998. The LLC is
vigorously contesting the IRS proposed position. If the IRS ultimately prevails, it could have an adverse effect on
the Company’s tax liability or results of operations. The Company has recognized cumulative tax credits of
approximately $110 million associated with the LLC’s synthetic fuel facilities.

24. Business Acquisitions and Asset Sales.

On June 3, 2004, the Company completed the acquisition of Barra, a global leader in delivering risk management
systems and services to managers of portfolio and firm-wide investment risk. The Company believes that the
combination of Morgan Stanley Capital International Inc., a majority-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Barra created a leading global provider of benchmark indices and risk management analytics. Since the date of
acquisition, the results of Barra have been included within the Institutional Securities business segment. The
acquisition price was $41.00 per share in cash, or an aggregate consideration of approximately $800 million. The
Company recorded goodwill and other intangible assets totaling $663 million in connection with the acquisition.

The following table summarizes the fair values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of
acquisition:

At June 3, 2004
(dollars in millions)
Cash and cash equivalents ... .. ... ... ...t e $ 46
Receivables and prepaid €XPenses . ... .o.vu ittt e 54
Financial instruments owned ... ... .. ... ... 169
Office facilities . . ... ... . 6
Other @SSELS . . . o\ttt e e e 10
Amortizable intan@ible assets . . .. .. ... e 350
GoodWill . . . 313
Total assets acqUIred . . .. ... ..ot e 948
Total liabilities assumed . .. ...ttt 145
Net assets aCqUIred . ... ..ottt $803

The $350 million of acquired amortizable intangible assets include technology-related assets of $222 million
(seven-year weighted average useful life), trademarks of $102 million (21-year weighted average useful life) and
customer relationships of $26 million (11-year weighted average useful life).
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In fiscal 2003, the Company acquired selected components of the U.S. real estate equity advisory businesses of
Lend Lease Corporation, an Australia-based company. The financial statement impact related to this acquisition,
which is included in the Institutional Securities segment, was not significant.

In fiscal 2002, the Company sold its self-directed online brokerage accounts to Bank of Montreal’s Harrisdirect.
The Company recorded gross proceeds of approximately $100 million (included within Other revenues) and
related costs of approximately $50 million (included within Non-interest expenses) in the Retail Brokerage
segment.

In fiscal 2002, the Company recorded a pre-tax gain of $73 million related to the sale of a 1 million square-foot
office tower in New York City. The pre-tax gain is included within the Institutional Securities ($53 million),
Retail Brokerage ($7 million) and Asset Management ($13 million) segments. The allocation was based upon
occupancy levels originally planned for the building.

The pro forma impact of each of the above business acquisitions was not material to the consolidated financial
statements.

On January 12, 2005, the Company completed the acquisition of PULSE EFT Association, Inc. (“PULSE”), an
Automated Teller Machine/debit network currently serving banks, credit unions and savings institutions in the
U.S. The Company believes that the combination of the PULSE® and Discover Network will create a leading
electronic payments company offering a full range of products and services for financial institutions, consumers
and merchants. As of the date of acquisition, the results of PULSE will be included within the Discover business
segment.

25. Asset Management and Account Fees.

Prior to the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company was improperly recognizing certain management fees,
account fees and related compensation expense paid at the beginning of the relevant contract periods, which is
when such fees were billed. In the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004, the Company changed its method of accounting
for such fees to properly recognize such fees and related expenses over the relevant contract period, generally
quarterly or annually. As a result of the change, the Company’s results in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004
included an adjustment to reflect the cumulative impact of the deferral of certain management fees, account fees
and related compensation expense paid to representatives. The impact of this change reduced net revenues by
$107 million, non-interest expenses by $27 million and income before taxes by $80 million, at both the Company
and the Retail Brokerage segment in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2004. Such adjustment reduced net income by
approximately $50 million and basic and diluted earnings per share by $0.05.
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26. Quarterly Results (unaudited).

2004 Fiscal Quarter(1) 2003 Fiscal Quarter(1)
First Second Third Fourth First Second Third Fourth
(dollars in millions, except per share data)

Total revenues .......... $ 9,434 $ 9,758 $ 9,788 $ 10,361 $ 8,596 $ 8211 $ 8,886 $ 9,083
Interest expense . ........ 2,934 2,910 4,150 4,713 2,800 2,860 3,329 3,704
Provision for consumer loan

losses ............... 262 200 240 224 335 309 310 312
Netrevenues ............ 6,238 6,648 5,398 5,424 5,461 5,042 5,247 5,067
Total non-interest

EXPenses . ............ 4,310 4,721 4,125 3,734 3,813 3,645 3,701 3,498
Income from continuing

operations before losses

from unconsolidated

investees, income taxes

and dividends on

preferred securities

subject to mandatory

redemption ........... 1,928 1,927 1,273 1,690 1,648 1,397 1,546 1,569
Losses from unconsolidated

investees ............. 93 81 77 77 34 36 105 104
Provision for income

(AXES o vi 557 548 339 412 540 423 349 395
Dividends on preferred

securities subject to

mandatory redemption . . 45 — — — 22 40 47 45
Income from continuing

operations ............ 1,233 1,298 857 1,201 1,052 898 1,045 1,025
Discontinued operations(4):
Loss from discontinued

operations ............ (12) (125) (33) 2) (37) (320) (17) (19)
Income tax benefit ....... 5 50 13 1 15 130 7 8
Loss on discontinued

operations. ........... @) (75) (20) (1) (22) (190) (10) (11)
Netincome ............. $ 1,226 $ 1,223 $ 837 $ 1,200 $ 1,030 $ 708 $ 1,035 $ 1,014
Basic earnings per share(2):
Income from continuing

operations ............ $ 1.15 8 120 $ 0.80 $ 111§ 098 $ 0.84 $ 097 $ 0.95
Loss from discontinued

operations ............ (0.01) (0.07) (0.02) — (0.02) (0.18) (0.01) (0.01)
BasicEPS .............. $ 1.14 $ 1.13 % 0.78 $ 1.11 $ 0.96 $ 0.66 $ 0.96 $ 0.94
Diluted earnings per

share(2):
Income from continuing

operations ............ $ 1.12° $ 1.17 $ 0.78 $ 1.09 $ 0.96 $ 0.82 $ 095 $ 0.93
Loss from discontinued

operations ............ (0.01) (0.07) (0.02) — (0.02) (0.17) (0.01) (0.01)
Diluted EPS ............ $ .11 $ 1.10 $ 0.76 $ 1.09 $ 094 $ 0.65 $ 0.94 $ 0.92
Dividends to common

shareholders .......... $ 025 $ 025 % 025 % 025$ 023 $ 023 $ 023 % 0.23
Book value ............. $ 2375 $ 2459 $ 25.00 $ 2595 $ 20.73 $ 21.04 $ 21.79 $ 22.93
Stock price range(3) ...... $55.02-61.60 $50.61-62.22 $46.80-54.64 $47.30-53.78 $34.70-45.32 $33.57-47.79 $42.75-49.67 $48.00-57.83

(1) Certain reclassifications have been made to previously reported quarterly amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation.

(2) Summation of the quarters’ earnings per common share may not equal the annual amounts due to the averaging effect of the number of
shares and share equivalents throughout the year.

(3) Amounts represent the range of closing prices per share on the New York Stock Exchange for the periods indicated. The number of
shareholders of record at November 30, 2004 approximated 125,000. The number of beneficial owners of common stock is believed to
exceed this number.

(4) See Note 27 for a discussion of subsequent events.
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27. Subsequent Events.
Discontinued Operations.

On August 17, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved management’s
recommendation to sell the Company’s aircraft leasing business. In connection with this action, the aircraft
leasing business was classified as “held for sale” under the provisions of SFAS No. 144 in the third quarter of
fiscal 2005. The results of the aircraft leasing business have been reported as discontinued operations in the
Company’s consolidated financial statements for all periods presented. The Company recognized a charge of
approximately $1.7 billion ($1.0 billion after tax) in the quarter ended August 31, 2005 to reflect the writedown
of the aircraft leasing business to its estimated fair value.

The table below provides information regarding the pre-tax loss on discontinued operations and the aircraft
impairment charges that are included in these amounts (dollars in millions):

Fiscal Year
2004 2003 2002

Pre-tax loss on discontinued Operations . .................ueuniiineiniiiiiaenn. $172 $393 $138
Aircraft impairment charges .. .......... .ttt 109 287 74

The pre-tax loss on discontinued operations for fiscal 2003 also included a $36 million charge to adjust the
carrying value of previously impaired aircraft to market value (see Note 18).

Business Segments.

Beginning in the third quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company renamed three of its business segments. The
Individual Investor Group was renamed “Retail Brokerage,” Investment Management was renamed “Asset
Management” and Credit Services was renamed “Discover.” In addition, beginning in the third quarter of fiscal
2005, the principal components of the residential mortgage loan business previously included in the Discover
business segment are managed by and included within the results of the Institutional Securities business segment.
The consolidated financial statements have been revised to reflect these changes for all periods presented.
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MORGAN STANLEY

Exhibit 99.2

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION

(dollars in millions, except share data)

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents ............... .ot
Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under federal

and other regulations (including securities at fair value of $27,566 at February 28,
2005 and $27,219 at November 30,2004) . ... ..ot
Financial instruments owned (approximately $109 billion and $91 billion were
pledged to various parties at February 28, 2005 and November 30, 2004,
respectively):
U.S. government and agency SECUrities .. ...........c.ouueneneneunenen ..
Other sovereign government obligations . .............. ...,
Corporate and otherdebt .. ........ ... .. . . . .
COrporate EQUILIES . . . o vttt et e e e et e e e
Derivative CONtracts .. ... ...ttt
Physical commodities . .. .........o .t

Total financial instruments owned .. ............ ... it
Securities purchased under agreements toresell ............. ... ... .. .. .. ...,
Securities received as collateral . .......... ... .. .. .. . ...
Securities borrowed . ... ...
Receivables:

Consumer loans (net of allowances of $854 at February 28, 2005 and $943 at
November 30, 2004) . . ...
CUSTOMETS, NEL .« & vttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e
Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations . .. ..............c..ouiuinen...
Fees, interestand other . . ... . . .
Office facilities, at cost (less accumulated depreciation of $2,856 at February 28,
2005 and $2,780 at November 30, 2004) .. ... i
Aircraft under operating leases (less accumulated depreciation of $1,232 at
February 28, 2005 and $1,174 at November 30,2004) .......................

Goodwill and intangible assets . ... ...ttt e
Other @SSELS . .« . vttt et e et

Total @SSELS . . ..

Morgan Stanley ]

February 28, November 30,
2005 2004
(unaudited)
$ 34,068 $ 32,811
37,576 36,742
38,556 26,201
23,296 19,782
88,599 80,306
35,402 27,608
43,001 49,475

1,354 1,224
230,208 204,596
143,462 123,041
38,657 37,848
207,985 208,349
18,785 20,226
58,606 45,561
10,052 12,707
4,649 5,801
2,663 2,605
3,755 3,926
2,563 2,199
9,181 9,101
$802,210 $745,513




MORGAN STANLEY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION—(Continued)

(dollars in millions, except share data)

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Commercial paper and other short-term borrowings .. ............... .. .. .. ....

DEPOSILS . ettt

Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased:
U.S. government and agency SeCUrities . ................c.ouveneninnn...
Other sovereign government obligations . ............ .. ... .. .. .. ... ......
Corporate and otherdebt . ....... ... . . .. . .
COrporate EQUILIES . . ..ottt ettt e e
Derivative CONracts . ... ...ttt e
Physical commodities . .......... ...

Total financial instruments sold, not yet purchased . .. ..........................
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase . ..................c.oiiiia...
Obligation to return securities received as collateral .. ..........................
Securities loaned . ...
Payables:

CUSIOMETS . . . ..ot

Brokers, dealers and clearing organizations . ....................c.........

Interest and dividends ........ ... ...
Other liabilities and accrued €Xpenses . . .. .. .....uuuin it n i
Long-term DOrTOWINGS . . . .ottt ettt e e e e e e e

Capital UNits . ...t e

Commitments and contingencies
Shareholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.01 par value;
Shares authorized: 3,500,000,000 at February 28, 2005 and November 30, 2004;
Shares issued: 1,211,701,552 at February 28, 2005 and November 30, 2004;
Shares outstanding: 1,103,263,369 at February 28, 2005 and 1,087,087,116 at
November 30, 2004 . . . ...
Paid-in capital .. ... ...
Retained €arnings . . . ... ..ottt
Employee stock trust .. ...
Accumulated other comprehensive income (10ss) . ............. ... .. ... ....

Subtotal .. ...
Common stock held in treasury, at cost, $0.01 par value;
108,438,183 shares at February 28, 2005 and 124,614,436 shares at
November 30, 2004. . . ...
Common stock issued to employee trust . .. ..ot

Total shareholders’ equity .......... .. .. .. . .. .. ..
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity .. ............ ... .. ... .. ...

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

2

February 28, November 30,

2005 2004
(unaudited)
$30792  $ 36,303
13950 13,777
17490 12,664
20,134 14,787
8,619 9,641
32978 27332
37380 43,540
3,303 3,351
119913 111,315
206,547 188,645
38,657 37,848
121,158 97,146
115868 115,653
5,775 4,550
3,308 3,068
13,331 13,650
104350 95,286
773,649 717,241
66 66
12 12
1,800 2,088
32,527 31426
3,719 3,824
(54) (56)
38004 37,294
(5,790) (6,614
(3,719)  (2.474)
28495 28,206
$802,210  $745,513
Morgan Stanley



MORGAN STANLEY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(dollars in millions, except share and per share data)

Three Months Ended
February 28, 2005 February 29, 2004
(unaudited)
Revenues:
Investment banking . ......... ... $ 821 $ 829
Principal transactions:
Trading . . ..o 1,882 1,858
INVESIMENLS . . . ..o 117 29
COMMISSIONS .+« vttt ettt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 824 868
Fees:
Asset management, distribution and administration . . ........ ... .. o oL 1,204 1,112
Merchant, cardmember and other . . .......... . .. . 308 337
SEIVICING . o oottt 494 551
Interest and dividends . . .. ... ... e 5,843 3,781
OMher . .o 105 69
Total TEVENUES . . . .ottt 11,598 9,434
TNEEIESt EXPENSE . . o ottt e ettt e e e s 4,625 2,934
Provision for consumer 10an 10SSes .. ... ...t 135 262
NELTEVENUES . . . o\ ottt e e e e e e e e e e e e e 6,838 6,238
Non-interest expenses:
Compensation and benefits . . ........ ... 2,854 2,707
Occupancy and €qUIPMENE . ... ...ttt ettt et e 332 199
Brokerage, clearing and exchange fees ............. ... . . i i 260 224
Information processing and cOmMmMUNICALONS . . .. ..ottt ittt 342 320
Marketing and business development . . ........... ... 257 253
Professional SEIVICes . ... . ...ttt 379 316
Other . .o 570 291
September 11t related insurance reCOVeries, Net . ... ..........uueunneuneenneennen.. 251) —
Total NON-INLETESt EXPEISES .« . o v vt e ettt et e e e e ettt 4,743 4,310
Income from continuing operations before losses from unconsolidated investees, income taxes,
dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption and cumulative effect of
accounting change, Net ... ... ... .. 2,095 1,928
Losses from unconsolidated INVESEES . ... ..ottt ettt et 73 93
Provision for iNCOME tAXES . . . ..ottt ettt e e e e 673 557
Dividends on preferred securities subject to mandatory redemption . ....................... — 45
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change, net ........ 1,349 1,233
Discontinued operations:
Income (loss) from discontinued operations .. ................ oot 7 (12)
Income tax (provision)/benefit . ........ ... . 3) 5
Income (loss) on discontinued Operations . ..................oouiinieinaan.. 4 (@)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net .. ......... ... . 49 —
NELINCOME . . .ottt et e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 1,402 $ 1,226
Earnings per basic share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change ....... $ 1.26 $ 1.15
Income (loss) from discontinued Operations .. ...............oeuniiiniiineaean.. — (0.01)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net ............ ... ... ... oo, 0.05 —
Earnings per basic Share . ... ...ttt $ 1.31 $ 1.14
Earnings per diluted share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting change ....... $ 1.24 $ 1.12
Income (loss) from discontinued Operations .. ................ ittt — (0.01)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net ............... ... ... i, 0.05 —
Earnings per diluted share . .......... ... oo $ 1.29 $ 1.11
Average common shares outstanding:
Basic .. 1,069,097,162 1,078,718,046
DiIluted . ..ot 1,090,166,326 1,106,000,596

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(dollars in millions)

Three Months Ended
February 28, February 29,
2005 2004
(unaudited)
NELINCOIME .« . o v et e e e e e e e e e e e e e e $1,402 $1,226
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment . ............ ... ...t “) 43
Net change in cash flow hedges . . ......... ... . i 6 14
Comprehensive INCOME . . .. v vttt et et et e e e e et ettt e e e $1,404 $1,283

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in millions)

Three Months Ended

February 28, February 29,
2005 2004

(unaudited)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NELINCOIMIE . . vttt e et et e e e e e e e e e e e e e $ 1,402 $ 1,226
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used for operating activities:
Non-cash charges (credits) included in net income:

Cumulative effect of accounting change, net ............ ... ... ... . ... ...... (49) —
Compensation payable in common stock and options . ............ ... .. ..., 202 65
Depreciation and amortization ... .............u.iutt ittt 231 171
Provision for consumer 10an 10SSes . . . ... ... 135 262
Lease adjustment . . . ... ...ttt 109 —
Insurance settlement . ... ....... ... (251) —

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Cash and securities deposited with clearing organizations or segregated under federal and

other regulations . ... .. ... . i (834) 2,358
Financial instruments owned, net of financial instruments sold, not yet purchased .. ...... (17,682) 2,876
Securities borrowed, net of securities loaned . ............ ... . .. . . ..., 24,376 (13,435)
Receivables and other assets .. ...t e (9,418) (12,438)
Payables and other liabilities . .. ...... ... 1,305 176

Net cash used for operating aCtivities . .. ... ...ttt e 474) (18,739)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Net (payments for) proceeds from:

Office facilities and aircraft under operating leases .................coo i, (86) 61)
Purchase of PULSE, netof cash acquired . ........ ... .. ... .. .. .. .. (279) —
Net principal disbursed on consumerloans ............ .. .. .. ..., (3,386) 73
Sales of consumer loans . . .......... ... 4,692 3,196
Sale of interest in POSIT . . . .. . . 90 —
Insurance settlement . . ... ... ... .t 60 —
Net cash provided by investing aCtivities . ... ... ......o.uiuniniin e, 1,091 3,208

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net (payments for) proceeds from:

Short-term bOITOWINGS . . . oottt e e e e e e e e (5,511 (1,182)
Securities sold under agreements to repurchase, net of securities purchased under
agreements to resell and certain derivatives financing activities .................... (2,052) 12,533
DEPOSILS . vttt 173 (721)
Tax benefits associated with stock-based awards ........... ... .. ... .. ... .. .. ... 231 62
Net proceeds from:
Issuance of common StOCK . ... ... 212 107
Issuance of long-term borrowings . .. ...ttt 12,604 13,519
Payments for:
Repayments of long-term bOrroWings . . . .. ..ot (3,344) (4,646)
Repurchases of common StOCK . ... ...ttt (1,372) —
Cashdividends ... ........ . (301) (273)
Net cash provided by financing activities ... .............. oot 640 19,399
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents .. ........ ... . . i 1,257 3,868
Cash and cash equivalents, at beginning of period . .......... ... ... . ... ... ... ... 32,811 29,692
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of period . ........... ... .00t $ 34,068 $ 33,560

See Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Introduction and Basis of Presentation.

The Company. Morgan Stanley (the “Company”) is a global financial services firm that maintains leading
market positions in each of its business segments—Institutional Securities, Retail Brokerage, Asset Management
and Discover. The Company’s Institutional Securities business includes securities underwriting and distribution;
financial advisory services, including advice on mergers and acquisitions, restructurings, real estate and project
finance; sales, trading, financing and market-making activities in equity securities and related products and fixed
income securities and related products, including foreign exchange and commodities; principal investing and real
estate investment management; providing benchmark indices and risk management analytics; and research. The
Company’s Retail Brokerage business provides comprehensive brokerage, investment and financial services
designed to accommodate individual investment goals and risk profiles. The Company’s Asset Management
business provides global asset management products and services for individual and institutional investors
through three principal distribution channels: a proprietary channel consisting of the Company’s representatives;
a non-proprietary channel consisting of third-party broker-dealers, banks, financial planners and other
intermediaries; and the Company’s institutional channel. The Company’s Discover business offers Discover®-
branded cards and other consumer finance products and services, and includes the operations of Discover
Network, a network of merchant and cash access locations based predominantly in the U.S., and PULSE EFT
Association, Inc. (“PULSE®”), a U.S.-based automated teller machine/debit network. Morgan Stanley-branded
credit cards and personal loan products that are offered in the U.K. are also included in the Discover business
segment. The Company provides its products and services to a large and diversified group of clients and
customers, including corporations, governments, financial institutions and individuals.

Basis of Financial Information. The condensed consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S., which require the Company to make estimates and
assumptions regarding the valuations of certain financial instruments, consumer loan loss levels, the outcome of
litigation, and other matters that affect the condensed consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
The Company believes that the estimates utilized in the preparation of the condensed consolidated financial
statements are prudent and reasonable. Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, its wholly owned
subsidiaries and other entities in which the Company has a controlling financial interest. The Company’s policy
is to consolidate all entities in which it owns more than 50% of the outstanding voting stock unless it does not
control the entity. In accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 46
(“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” as revised, the Company also consolidates any variable
interest entities for which it is the primary beneficiary (see Note 12). For investments in companies in which the
Company has significant influence over operating and financial decisions (generally defined as owning a voting
or economic interest of 20% to 50%), the Company applies the equity method of accounting. In those cases
where the Company’s investment is less than 20% and significant influence does not exist, such investments are
carried at cost.

The Company’s U.S. and international subsidiaries include Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated (“MS&Co.”),
Morgan Stanley & Co. International Limited (“MSIL”), Morgan Stanley Japan Limited (“MSJL”), Morgan
Stanley DW Inc. (“MSDWTI”), Morgan Stanley Investment Advisors Inc. and NOVUS Credit Services Inc.

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-year amounts to conform to the current year’s presentation. All
material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated.
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MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

The condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended November 30, 2004 (the “Form 10-K”). The condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all
adjustments (consisting only of normal recurring adjustments) that are, in the opinion of management, necessary
for the fair statement of the results for the interim period. The results of operations for interim periods are not
necessarily indicative of results for the entire year.

Discontinued Operations. Results of the Company’s aircraft leasing business have been reported as
discontinued operations for all periods presented in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” Prior to being
reclassified as discontinued operations, the results of the Company’s aircraft leasing business were included in
the Institutional Securities business segment. See Note 22 for additional information on discontinued operations.

Revenue Recognition.

Investment Banking. Underwriting revenues and fees for merger, acquisition and advisory assignments are
recorded when services for the transactions are determined to be completed, generally as set forth under the terms
of the engagement. Transaction-related expenses, primarily consisting of legal, travel and other costs directly
associated with the transaction, are deferred to match revenue recognition. Underwriting revenues are presented
net of related expenses. Non-reimbursed expenses associated with advisory transactions are recorded within
Non-interest expenses.

Commissions. The Company generates commissions from executing and clearing client transactions on stock,
options and futures markets. Commission revenues are recorded in the accounts on trade date.

Asset Management, Distribution and Administration Fees. Asset management, distribution and administration
fees are recognized over the relevant contract period, generally quarterly or annually. In certain management fee
arrangements, the Company is entitled to receive performance fees when the return on assets under management
exceeds certain benchmark returns or other performance targets. Performance fee revenue is accrued quarterly
based on measuring account/fund performance to date vs. the performance benchmark stated in the investment
management agreement.

Merchant, Cardmember and Other Fees. Merchant, cardmember and other fees include revenues from fees
charged to merchants on credit card sales (net of interchange fees paid to banks that issue cards on the
Company’s merchant and cash access network), transaction fees on debit card transactions as well as charges to
cardmembers for late payment fees, overlimit fees, balance transfer fees, credit protection fees and cash advance
fees, net of cardmember rewards. Merchant, cardmember and other fees are recognized as earned. Cardmember
rewards include various reward programs, including the Cashback Bonus® award program, pursuant to which the
Company pays certain cardmembers a percentage of their purchase amounts based upon a cardmember’s level
and type of purchases. The liability for cardmember rewards, included in Other liabilities and accrued expenses,
is accrued at the time that qualified cardmember transactions occur and is calculated on an individual
cardmember basis. In determining the liability for cardmember rewards, the Company considers estimated
forfeitures based on historical account closure, charge-off and transaction activity. The Company records its
Cashback Bonus award program as a reduction of Merchant, cardmember and other fees.

Consumer Loans. Consumer loans, which consist primarily of general purpose credit card, mortgage and
consumer installment loans, are reported at their principal amounts outstanding less applicable allowances.
Interest on consumer loans is recorded to income as earned. Interest is accrued on credit card loans until the date
of charge-off, which generally occurs at the end of the month during which an account becomes 180 days past
due, except in the case of bankruptcies, deceased cardmembers and fraudulent transactions, where loans are
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NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

charged off earlier. The interest portion of charged-off credit card loans is written off against interest revenue.
Origination costs related to the issuance of credit cards are charged to earnings over periods not exceeding 12
months.

Financial Instruments Used for Trading and Investment. Financial instruments owned and Financial



MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Interest and dividend revenue and interest expense arising from financial instruments used in trading activities
are reflected in the condensed consolidated statements of income as interest and dividend revenue or interest
expense. Purchases and sales of financial instruments and related expenses are recorded in the accounts on trade
date. Unrealized gains and losses arising from the Company’s dealings in OTC financial instruments, including
derivative contracts related to financial instruments and commodities, are presented in the accompanying
condensed consolidated statements of financial condition on a net-by-counterparty basis, when appropriate.

Effective December 1, 2004 the Company has elected, under FASB Interpretation No. 39, “Offsetting of Amounts
Related to Certain Contracts,” to net cash collateral paid or received against its derivatives inventory under credit
support annexes, which the Company views as conditional contracts, to legally enforceable master netting agreements.
The Company believes the accounting treatment is preferable as compared to a gross basis as it is a better
representation of its credit exposure and how it manages its credit risk related to these derivative contracts. Amounts as
of November 30, 2004 have been reclassified to conform to the current presentation. The amounts netted at
February 28, 2005 and November 30, 2004 were $16.3 billion and $17.6 billion, respectively, which reduced Financial
instruments owned—derivative contracts and Payables to customers, and $13.8 billion and $12.3 billion, respectively,
which reduced Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased—derivative contracts and Receivables from customers.

Equity securities purchased in connection with private equity and other principal investment activities initially
are carried in the condensed consolidated financial statements at their original costs, which approximate fair
value. The carrying value of such equity securities is adjusted when changes in the underlying fair values are
readily ascertainable, generally as evidenced by observable market prices or transactions that directly affect the
value of such equity securities. Downward adjustments relating to such equity securities are made in the event
that the Company determines that the fair value is less than the carrying value. The Company’s partnership
interests, including general partnership and limited partnership interests in real estate funds, are included within
Other assets in the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition and are recorded at fair value based
upon changes in the fair value of the underlying partnership’s net assets.

Financial Instruments Used for Asset and Liability Management. The Company enters into various derivative
financial instruments for non-trading purposes. These instruments are included within Financial instruments
owned—derivative contracts or Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased—derivative contracts within the
condensed consolidated statements of financial condition and include interest rate swaps, foreign currency swaps,
equity swaps and foreign exchange forwards. The Company uses interest rate and currency swaps and equity
derivatives to manage interest rate, currency and equity price risk arising from certain liabilities. The Company
also utilizes interest rate swaps to match the repricing characteristics of consumer loans with those of the
borrowings that fund these loans. Certain of these derivative financial instruments are designated and qualify as
fair value hedges and cash flow hedges in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative
Instruments and Hedging Activities,” as amended.

The Company’s designated fair value hedges consist primarily of hedges of fixed rate borrowings, including
fixed rate borrowings that fund consumer loans. The Company’s designated cash flow hedges consist primarily
of hedges of floating rate borrowings in connection with its aircraft financing business. In general, interest rate
exposure in this business arises to the extent that the interest obligations associated with debt used to finance the
Company’s aircraft portfolio do not correlate with the aircraft rental payments received by the Company. The
Company’s objective is to manage the exposure created by its floating interest rate obligations given that future
lease rates on new leases may not be repriced at levels that fully reflect changes in market interest rates. The
Company utilizes interest rate swaps to minimize the risk created by its longer-term floating rate interest
obligations and measures that risk by reference to the duration of those obligations and the expected sensitivity of
future lease rates to future market interest rates.

N
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For qualifying fair value hedges, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and the gain or loss on the hedged
asset or liability relating to the risk being hedged are recorded currently in earnings. These amounts are recorded
in interest expense and provide offset of one another. For qualifying cash flow hedges, the changes in the fair
value of the derivative are recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in Shareholders’ equity,
net of tax effects, and amounts in Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) are reclassified into earnings
in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affects earnings. Ineffectiveness relating to
fair value and cash flow hedges, if any, is recorded within interest expense. The impact of hedge ineffectiveness
on the condensed consolidated statements of income was not material for all periods presented.

The Company also utilizes foreign exchange forward contracts to manage the currency exposure relating to its
net monetary investments in non-U.S. dollar functional currency operations. The gain or loss from revaluing
these contracts is deferred and reported within Accumulated other comprehensive income in Shareholders’
equity, net of tax effects, with the related unrealized amounts due from or to counterparties included in Financial
instruments owned or Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased. The interest elements (forward points) on
these foreign exchange forward contracts are recorded in earnings.

Securitization Activities. The Company engages in securitization activities related to commercial and
residential mortgage loans, corporate bonds and loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations,
municipal bonds, credit card loans and other types of financial assets (see Notes 3 and 4). The Company may
retain interests in the securitized financial assets as one or more tranches of the securitization, undivided seller’s
interests, accrued interest receivable subordinate to investors’ interests (see Note 4), cash collateral accounts,
servicing rights, and rights to any excess cash flows remaining after payments to investors in the securitization
trusts of their contractual rate of return and reimbursement of credit losses. The exposure to credit losses from
securitized loans is limited to the Company’s retained contingent risk, which represents the Company’s retained
interest in securitized loans, including any credit enhancement provided. The gain or loss on the sale of financial
assets depends in part on the previous carrying amount of the assets involved in the transfer, and each subsequent
transfer in revolving structures, allocated between the assets sold and the retained interests based upon their
respective fair values at the date of sale. To obtain fair values, observable market prices are used if available.
However, observable market prices are generally not available for retained interests, so the Company estimates
fair value based on the present value of expected future cash flows using its best estimates of the key
assumptions, including forecasted credit losses, payment rates, forward yield curves and discount rates
commensurate with the risks involved. The present value of future net servicing revenues that the Company
estimates it will receive over the term of the securitized loans is recognized in income as the loans are
securitized. A corresponding asset also is recorded and then amortized as a charge to income over the term of the
securitized loans, with actual net servicing revenues continuing to be recognized in income as they are earned.

Aircraft under Operating Leases. Revenue from aircraft under operating leases is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Certain lease contracts may require the lessee to make separate payments for flight
hours and passenger miles flown. In such instances, the Company recognizes these other revenues as they are
earned in accordance with the terms of the applicable lease contract.

Aircraft Held for Sale. On August 17, 2005, the Company announced that its Board of Directors had approved
management’s recommendation to sell the Company’s aircraft leasing business (see Note 22). In connection with
this action, the aircraft leasing business was classified as “held for sale” under the provisions of SFAS No. 144 in
the third quarter of fiscal 2005. Results of the aircraft leasing business have been reported as discontinued
operations in the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the
Company is required to assess the fair value of the aircraft leasing business until its ultimate disposition. Changes
in the estimated fair value may result in additional losses (or gains) in future periods as required by SFAS No. 144.
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A gain would be recognized for any subsequent increase in fair value less cost to sell, but not in excess of the
cumulative loss previously recognized (for a write-down to fair value less cost to sell).

Aircraft to be Held and Used. Prior to the third quarter of fiscal 2005, aircraft under operating leases that were
to be held and used were stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges. Depreciation was
calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the aircraft asset, which was generally 25 years
from the date of manufacture. In accordance with SFAS No. 144, the Company’s aircraft that were to be held and
used were reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicated that the carrying
value of the aircraft may not be recoverable.

Stock-Based Compensation. Effective December 1, 2002, the Company adopted the fair value recognition
provisions of SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” as amended by SFAS No. 148,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation—Transition and Disclosure, an amendment of FASB Statement No.
123,” using the prospective adoption method for both deferred stock and stock options. Effective December 1,
2004, the Company early adopted SFAS No. 123 (revised) (“SFAS No. 123R”), “Share-Based Payment,” which
revised the fair value based method of accounting for share-based payment liabilities, forfeitures and
modifications of stock-based awards and clarified SFAS No. 123’s guidance in several areas, including
measuring fair value, classifying an award as equity or as a liability and attributing compensation cost to
reporting periods. SFAS No. 123R also amended SFAS No. 95, “Statement of Cash Flows,” to require that
excess tax benefits be reported as financing cash inflows rather than as a reduction of taxes paid, which is
included within operating cash flows.

Upon adoption of SFAS 123R using the modified prospective approach, the Company recognized an $80 million
gain ($49 million after-tax) as a cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle resulting from the
requirement to estimate forfeitures at the date of grant instead of recognizing them as incurred. The cumulative
effect gain increased both basic and diluted earnings per share by $.05.

In addition, based upon the terms of the Company’s equity-based compensation program, the Company will no
longer be able to recognize a portion of the award in the year of grant under SFAS No. 123R as previously
allowed under SFAS 123. As a result, fiscal 2005 compensation expense will include the amortization of fiscal
2003 and fiscal 2004 awards but will not include any amortization for fiscal 2005 awards. This will have the
effect of reducing compensation expense in fiscal 2005. If SFAS No. 123R were not in effect, fiscal 2005’s
compensation expense would have included three years of amortization (i.e., for awards granted in fiscal 2003,
fiscal 2004 and fiscal 2005). In addition, the fiscal 2005 year-end awards, which will begin to be amortized in
fiscal 2006, will be amortized over a shorter period (2 and 3 years) as compared with awards granted in fiscal
2004 and fiscal 2003 (3 and 4 years).

2. Goodwill and Intangible Assets.

During the first quarter of fiscal 2005, the Company completed the annual goodwill impairment test that is
required by SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” The Company’s testing did not indicate any
goodwill impairment.

MorganStanley 1



MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

Changes in the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill and intangible assets for the three month period
ended February 28, 2005 were as follows:

Institutional Retail Asset
Securities Brokerage Management Discover(1) Total

(dollars in millions)

Goodwill:

Balance as of November 30,2004 . .............. $319 $583 $966 $— $1,868

Translation adjustments . . ...................... — 1 — — 1

Goodwill acquired during the year and other(2) .. ... 125 — — 230 355

Balance as of February 28,2005 ............... $444 $584 $966 $230 $2,224

Intangible assets:

Balance as of November 30,2004 . .............. $331 $— $— $— $ 331

Intangible assets sold(3) ............ .. ... .. .... (75) — — — (75)
Intangible assets acquired ...................... — — — 91 91

AmOrtization eXpense . ... ............enienon... 7 — — @)) ()
Balance as of February 28,2005 ............... $249 $— $— $ 90 $ 339

(1) Represents goodwill and intangible assets acquired in connection with the acquisition of PULSE (see Note 18).

(2) Institutional Securities activity includes adjustments to goodwill related to the sale of the Company’s interest in POSIT (see Note 18) and
for the recognition of deferred tax liabilities in connection with the Company’s acquisition of Barra, Inc.

(3) Related to the sale of the Company’s interest in POSIT (see Note 18).

3. Securities Financing and Securitization Transactions.

Securities purchased under agreements to resell (“reverse repurchase agreements”) and Securities sold under
agreements to repurchase (“repurchase agreements”), principally government and agency securities, are treated
as financing transactions and are carried at the amounts at which the securities subsequently will be resold or
reacquired as specified in the respective agreements; such amounts include accrued interest. Reverse repurchase
agreements and repurchase agreements are presented on a net-by-counterparty basis, when appropriate. The
Company’s policy is to take possession of securities purchased under agreements to resell. Securities borrowed
and Securities loaned also are treated as financing transactions and are carried at the amounts of cash collateral
advanced and received in connection with the transactions.

The Company pledges its financial instruments owned to collateralize repurchase agreements and other securities
financings. Pledged securities that can be sold or repledged by the secured party are identified as Financial
instruments owned (pledged to various parties) on the condensed consolidated statements of financial condition.
The carrying value and classification of securities owned by the Company that have been loaned or pledged to
counterparties where those counterparties do not have the right to sell or repledge the collateral were as follows:

At At
February 28, November 30,
2005 2004

(dollars in millions)
Financial instruments owned:

U.S. government and agency SeCUrities . ..................oouunnn.. $10,383 $ 6,283
Other sovereign government obligations .......................... 284 249
Corporate and otherdebt ........... ... .. ... ... ... . ... 19,966 15,564
COorporate EqUILIES . . . oottt e et 3,433 2,754

Total ..o $34,066 $24,850

12 Morgan Stanley



MORGAN STANLEY
NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)

he Company enters into reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements, securities borrowed and
ecurities loaned transactions to, among other things, finance the Company’s inventory positions, acquire
ecurities to cover short positions and settle other securities obligations and to accommodate customers’ needs.
he Company also engages in securities financing transactions for customers through margin lending. Under
hese agreements and transactions, the Company either receives or provides collateral, including U.S.
overnment and agency securities, other sovereign government obligations, corporate and other debt, and
orporate equities. The Company receives collateral in the form of securities in connection with reverse
epurchase agreements, securities borrowed transactions and customer margin loans. In many cases, the
Company is permitted to sell or repledge these securities held as collateral and use the securities to secure
repurchase agreements, to enter into securities lending transactions or for delivery to counterparties to cover short
positions. At February 28, 2005 and November 30, 2004, the fair value of securities received as collateral where
the Company is permitted to sell or repledge the securities was $775 billion and $750 billion, respectively, and
the fair value of the portion that has been sold or repledged was $661 billion and $679 billion, respectively.

The Company manages credit exposure arising from reverse repurchase agreements, repurchase agreements,
securities borrowed and securities loaned transactions by, in appropriate circumstances, entering into master
netting agreements and collateral arrangements with counterparties that provide the Company, in the event of a
customer default, the right to liquidate collateral and the right to offset a counterparty’s rights and obligations.
The Company also monitors the fair value of the underlying securities as compared with the related receivable or
payable, including accrued interest, and, as necessary, requests additional collateral to ensure such transactions
are adequately collateralized. Where deemed appropriate, the Company’s agreements with third parties specify
its rights to request additional collateral. Customer receivables generated from margin lending activity are
collateralized by customer-owned securities held by the Company. For these transactions, adherence to the
Company’s collateral policies significantly limits the Company’s credit exposure in the event of customer
default. The Company may request additional margin collateral from customers, if appropriate, and if necessary
may sell securities that have not been paid for or purchase securities sold but not delivered from customers.

In connection with its Institutional Securities business, the Company engages in securitization activities related to
residential and commercial mortgage loans, U.S. agency collateralized mortgage obligations, corporate bon
and loans, municipal bonds and other types of financial assets. These assets are carried at fair value, a
changes in fair value are recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of income. The Comp
as underwriter of the beneficial interests issued by securitization vehicles. Underwriting n
recognized in connection with these transactions. The Company may retain interests in the
assets as one or more tranches of the securitization. These retained interests are i
consolidated statements of financial condition at fair value. Any changes in t
interests are recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of incony
financial assets associated with the Institutional Securities business wer
28, 2005, the majority of which were related to residential mortga
obligation and commercial mortgage loan securitization transacjg
not material in the quarter ended February 28, 2005. The
fair value of its retained interests at the time of secuyg
the quarter ended February 28, 2005 were not
below. Additionally, as indicated in the tab
retained interests was not material to th
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The following table presents information on the Company’s residential mortgage loan, U.S. agency collateralized
mortgage obligation and commercial mortgage loan securitization transactions. Key economic assumptions and
the sensitivity of the current fair value of the retained interests to immediate 10% and 20% adverse changes in
those assumptions at February 28, 2005 were as follows (dollars in millions):

U.S. Agency
Residential Collateralized Commercial
Mortgage Mortgage Mortgage
Loans Obligations Loans
Retained interests (carrying amount/fair value) ................. $ 1,646 $ 1,149 $ 217
Weighted average life (inmonths) ............... ... ... ... .. 35 89 82
Credit losses (rate per annum)(1) .......... ... ... ... ..., 0.00-3.50% — 0.20-2.00%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ............... $ (58 § — $ —
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ............... $ (113)  $ — $ —
Weighted average discount rate (rate per annum) . .. ............. 10.01% 6.07% 6.47%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ............... $ 22) $ 33 $ 6)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ............... $ 44) 3 64) $ (12)
Prepayment speed assumption(2)(3) ......... ... .. .. 287-2250PSA 149-495PSA —
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ............... $ (18) % an 3 —
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ............... $ 19 % 30) % —

(1) Commercial mortgage loans credit losses round to less than $1 million.

(2) Amounts for residential mortgage loans exclude positive valuation effects from immediate 10% and 20% changes.

(3) Commercial mortgage loans typically contain provisions that either prohibit or economically penalize the borrower from prepaying the
loan for a specified period of time.

The table above does not include the offsetting benefit of any financial instruments that the Company may utilize to
hedge risks inherent in its retained interests. In addition, the sensitivity analysis is hypothetical and should be used
with caution. Changes in fair value based on a 10% or 20% variation in an assumption generally cannot be
extrapolated because the relationship of the change in the assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear.
Also, the effect of a variation in a particular assumption on the fair value of the retained interests is calculated
independent of changes in any other assumption; in practice, changes in one factor may result in changes in another,
which might magnify or counteract the sensitivities. In addition, the sensitivity analysis does not consider any
corrective action that the Company may take to mitigate the impact of any adverse changes in the key assumptions.

In connection with its Institutional Securities business, during the quarters ended February 28, 2005 and
February 29, 2004, the Company received proceeds from new securitization transactions of $18 billion and $12
billion, respectively, and cash flows from retained interests in securitization transactions of $2,187 million and
$852 million, respectively.

4. Consumer Loans.

Consumer loans were as follows:

At At
February 28, November 30,
2005 2004
(dollars in millions)
General purpose credit card, mortgage and consumer installment ................ $19,639 $21,169
Less:
Allowance for consumer loan losses . ................. ..., 854 943
Consumer 10ans, NEL . .. ... vttt e $18,785 $20,226
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Activity in the allowance for consumer loan losses was as follows:

Three Months Ended
February 28, February 29,
2005 2004
(dollars in millions)
Balance at beginning of period . .......... .. $943 $1,002
Additions:
Provision for consumer loan 10SSes .. .......... . 135 262
Deductions:
Charge-offs ... ... 260 291
ReECOVEIIES . .. (36) 31
Net charge-offs .. ... 224 260
Balance atend of period . ..... ... ... $854 $1,004
Information on net charge-offs of interest and cardmember fees was as follows:
Three Months Ended
February 28, February 29,
2005 2004

(dollars in millions)
Interest accrued on general purpose credit card loans subsequently charged off, net of
recoveries (recorded as a reduction of Interest revenue) .. ..................... $56 $59

Cardmember fees accrued on general purpose credit card loans subsequently charged
off, net of recoveries (recorded as a reduction to Merchant, cardmember and other
FEETEVENUE) . . . ottt e e e e $33 $40

At February 28, 2005, the Company had commitments to extend credit for consumer loans of approximately
$265 billion. Such commitments arise primarily from agreements with customers for unused lines of credit on
certain credit cards, provided there is no violation of conditions established in the related agreement. These
commitments, substantially all of which the Company can terminate at any time and which do not necessarily
represent future cash requirements, are periodically reviewed based on account usage and customer
creditworthiness.

The Company received net proceeds from consumer loan sales of $4,692 million in the quarter ended
February 28, 2005 and $3,196 million in the quarter ended February 29, 2004.

Credit Card Securitization Activities. The Company’s retained interests in credit card asset securitizations
include undivided seller’s interests, accrued interest receivable on securitized credit card receivables, cash
collateral accounts, servicing rights and rights to any excess cash flows (“Residual Interests”) remaining after
payments to investors in the securitization trusts of their contractual rate of return and reimbursement of credit
losses. The undivided seller’s interests less an applicable allowance for loan losses is recorded in Consumer
loans. The Company’s undivided seller’s interests rank pari passu with investors’ interests in the securitization
trusts, and the remaining retained interests are subordinate to investors’ interests. Accrued interest receivable and
cash collateral accounts are recorded in Other assets at amounts that approximate fair value. The Company
receives annual servicing fees of 2% of the investor principal balance outstanding. The Company does not
recognize servicing assets or servicing liabilities for servicing rights since the servicing contracts provide only
adequate compensation (as defined in SFAS No. 140, “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial
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Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities”) to the Company for performing the servicing. Residual Interests are
recorded in Other assets and classified as trading and reflected at fair value with changes in fair value recorded
currently in earnings. At February 28, 2005, the Company had $9.8 billion of retained interests, including $6.7
billion of undivided seller’s interests, in credit card asset securitizations. The retained interests are subject to
credit, payment and interest rate risks on the transferred credit card assets. The investors and the securitization
trusts have no recourse to the Company’s other assets for failure of cardmembers to pay when due.

During the quarters ended February 28, 2005 and February 29, 2004, the Company completed credit card asset
securitizations of $3.4 billion and $1.9 billion, respectively, and recognized net securitization gains of $32
million and $19 million, respectively, as servicing fees in the condensed consolidated statements of income. The
uncollected balances of securitized general purpose credit card loans were $28.9 billion and $28.5 billion at
February 28, 2005 and November 30, 2004, respectively.

Key economic assumptions used in measuring the Residual Interests at the date of securitization resulting from
credit card asset securitizations completed during the quarters ended February 28, 2005 and February 29, 2004
were as follows:

Three Months Ended
February 28, February 29,

2005 2004

Weighted average life (inmonths) ....... ... ... ... .. .. 5.9 6.1
Payment rate (rate permonth) . ........ . . 18.52% 18.00%
Credit losses (rate per annUIM) . . . .. ..ottt t ittt e e et e e e 6.00% 6.90%
Discount rate (rate per annum) . ... ... .. ...eueueneun e et et 12.00% 14.00%

Key economic assumptions and the sensitivity of the current fair value of the Residual Interests to immediate
10% and 20% adverse changes in those assumptions were as follows (dollars in millions):

At
February 28,
2005
Residual Interests (carrying amount/fair value) ............ ..., $ 281
Weighted average life (inmonths) . ... ... 53
Weighted average payment rate (rate per month) ... ............ ittt 19.39%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ............... .. . ... $ (19)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ............... .. ... $ (36)
Weighted average credit losses (rate per annum) ... ..........o.enenonninenenennenenennen. 5.68%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ............... .. . ... $ (60)
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ............... .. ... $ (121)
Weighted average discount rate (rate per annUIM) . . . .. ..ovu vt ettt et et e eeenen. 11.00%
Impact on fair value of 10% adverse change ............... .. . ... $ 2
Impact on fair value of 20% adverse change ............... .. ... $ @

The sensitivity analysis in the table above is hypothetical and should be used with caution. Changes in fair value
based on a 10% or 20% variation in an assumption generally cannot be extrapolated because the relationship of
the change in the assumption to the change in fair value may not be linear. Also, the effect of a variation in a
particular assumption on the fair value of the Residual Interests is calculated independent of changes in any other
assumption; in practice, changes in one factor may result in changes in another (for example, increases in market
interest rates may result in lower payments and increased credit losses), which might magnify or counteract the
sensitivities. In addition, the sensitivity analysis does not consider any corrective action that the Company may
take to mitigate the impact of any adverse changes in the key assumptions.
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The table below summarizes certain cash flows received from the securitization master trusts (dollars in billions):

Three Months Ended

February 28, February 29,
2005 2004
Proceeds from new credit card asset securitizations . ........................... $ 3.4 $19
Proceeds from collections reinvested in previous credit card asset securitizations . . . . $14.5 $16.4
Contractual servicing fees received ... ....... .. i $ 0.1 $ 02
Cash flows received from retained interests . ...................uinininnon... $ 0.5 $04

The table below presents quantitative information about delinquencies, net principal credit losses and
components of managed general purpose credit card loans, including securitized loans (dollars in millions):

Three Months
Ended
February 28, 2005
Net
At February 28, 2005 Principal
Loans Loans Average Credit
Outstanding Delinquent Loans Losses
Managed general purpose credit card loans . .................. $47,770 $2,023  $48,930  $625
Less: Securitized general purpose credit card loans ............. 28,862
Owned general purpose credit card loans . .................... $18,908

5. Long-Term Borrowings.

Long-term borrowings at February 28, 2005 scheduled to mature within one year aggregated $10,681 million.

During the quarter ended February 28, 2005, the Company issued senior notes aggregating $12,480 million,
including non-U.S. dollar currency notes aggregating $2,725 million. The Company has entered into certain
transactions to obtain floating interest rates based primarily on short-term London Interbank Offered Rates
trading levels. Maturities in the aggregate of these notes by fiscal year are as follows: 2005, $3 million; 2006,
$1,579 million; 2007, $1,304 million; 2008, $3,393 million; 2009, $639 million; and thereafter, $5,562 million.
In the quarter ended February 28, 2005, $3,344 million of senior notes were repaid.

The weighted average maturity of the Company’s long-term borrowings, based upon stated maturity dates, was
approximately 5 years at February 28, 2005.

6. Capital Units.

The Company has Capital Units outstanding that were issued by the Company and Morgan Stanley Finance plc
(“MSF”), a U.K. subsidiary. A Capital Unit consists of (a) a Subordinated Debenture of MSF guaranteed by the
Company and maturing in 2017 and (b) a related Purchase Contract issued by the Company, which may be
accelerated by the Company, requiring the holder to purchase one Depositary Share representing shares of the
Company’s Cumulative Preferred Stock. The aggregate amount of Capital Units outstanding was $66 million at
both February 28, 2005 and November 30, 2004.
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7. Common Stock and Shareholders’ Equity.

Regulatory Requirements. MS&Co. and MSDWI are registered broker-dealers and registered futures
commission merchants and, accordingly, are subject to the minimum net capital requirements of the SEC, the
NYSE and the Commodity Futures Trading Commission. MS&Co. and MSDWTI have consistently operated in
excess of these requirements. MS&Co.’s net capital totaled $2,703 million at February 28, 2005, which exceeded
the amount required by $1,847 million. MSDWT’s net capital totaled $1,140 million at February 28, 2005, which
exceeded the amount required by $1,051 million. MSIL, a London-based broker-dealer subsidiary, is subject to
the capital requirements of the Financial Services Authority, and MSJL, a Tokyo-based broker-dealer subsidiary,
is subject to the capital requirements of the Financial Services Agency. MSIL and MSJL have consistently
operated in excess of their respective regulatory capital requirements.

Under regulatory capital requirements adopted by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (the “FDIC”) and
other bank regulatory agencies, FDIC-insured financial institutions must maintain (a) 3% to 5% of Tier 1 capital,
as defined, to average assets (“leverage ratio”), (b) 4% of Tier 1 capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“Tier
1 risk-weighted capital ratio”) and (c) 8% of total capital, as defined, to risk-weighted assets (“total risk-weighted
capital ratio”). At February 28, 2005, the leverage ratio, Tier 1 risk-weighted capital ratio and total risk-weighted
capital ratio of each of the Company’s FDIC-insured financial institutions exceeded these regulatory minimums.

Certain other U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries are subject to various securities, commodities and banking
regulations, and capital adequacy requirements promulgated by the regulatory and exchange authorities of the
countries in which they operate. These subsidiaries have consistently operated in excess of their local capital
adequacy requirements. Morgan Stanley Derivative Products Inc., the Company’s triple-A rated derivative
products subsidiary, maintains certain operating restrictions that have been reviewed by various rating agencies.

Treasury Shares. During the quarter ended February 28, 2005, the Company purchased approximately $1,372
million of its common stock through a combination of open market purchases and employee purchases at an
average cost of $56.02 per share. During the quarter ended February 29, 2004, the Company did not purchase any
of its common stock.
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8. Earnings per Share.

Basic EPS is computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted average number
of common shares outstanding for the period. Diluted EPS reflects the assumed conversion of all dilutive
securities. The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted EPS (in millions, except for per share
data):

Three Months Ended
February 28, February 29,
2005 2004
Basic EPS:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting
Change .. o $1,349 $1,233
Income (loss) on discontinued Operations . ...............c.oevuiuenenenn... 4 @)
Cumulative effect of accounting change . ............ ... ... ... ... . .... 49 —
Net income applicable to common shareholders .. ......................... $1,402 $1,226
Weighted average common shares outstanding . .. ......................... 1,069 1,079
Basic earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting
Change ... $ 1.26 $ 1.15
Income (loss) on discontinued Operations . ..................ouueuenen. .. — (0.01)
Cumulative effect of accounting change ............... ... ... ... ....... 0.05 —
Basic BPS . ... $ 1.31 $ 1.14
Diluted EPS:
Net income applicable to common shareholders ........................... $1,402 $1,226
Weighted average common shares outstanding . .. ........... .. .. ... ....... 1,069 1,079
Effect of dilutive securities:
StoCK OPHIONS . . et 21 27
Weighted average common shares outstanding and common stock equivalents . . 1,090 1,106
Diluted earnings per common share:
Income from continuing operations before cumulative effect of accounting
Change ... $ 1.24 $ 1.12
Income (loss) on discontinued Operations .. ..............c.ouvuiuenennnn... — (0.01)
Cumulative effect of accounting change . ............ ... ... ... ... ...... 0.05 —
Diluted EPS .. .. $ 1.29 $ 1.11

The following securities were considered antidilutive and therefore were excluded from the computation of
diluted EPS:

Three Months Ended
February 28, February 29,
2005 2004

(shares in millions)
Number of antidilutive securities (including stock options and restricted stock units)
outstanding atend of period . ... ... . 112 70

Cash dividends declared per common share were $0.27 and $0.25 for the three months ended February 28, 2005
and February 29, 2004, respectively.
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9. Commitments and Contingencies.

Letters of Credit. At February 28, 2005 and November 30, 2004, the Company had approximately $8.9 billion
and $8.5 billion, respectively, of letters of credit outstanding to satisfy various collateral requirements.

Securities Activities. In connection with certain of its Institutional Securities business activities, the Company
provides loans or lending commitments (including bridge financing) to selected clients. The borrowers may be
rated investment grade or non-investment grade. These loans and commitments have varying terms, may be
senior or subordinated, are generally contingent upon representations, warranties and contractual conditions
applicable to the borrower, and may be syndicated or traded by the Company.

The aggregate amount of the investment grade and non-investment grade lending commitments are shown below:

At At
February 28, November 30,
2005 2004
(dollars in millions)
Investment grade lending commitments . . ...ttt $18,716 $18,989
Non-investment grade lending commitments . . ........... ... ..o .. 1,965 1,409
Total ..o $20,681 $20,398

Financial instruments sold, not yet purchased represent obligations of the Company to deliver specified financial
instruments at contracted prices, thereby creating commitments to purchase the financial instruments in the
market at prevailing prices. Consequently, the Company’s ultimate obligation to satisfy the sale of financial
instruments sold, not yet purchased may exceed the amounts recognized in the condensed consolidated
statements of financial condition.

The Company has commitments to fund other less liquid investments, including at February 28, 2005, $157
million in connection with principal investment and private equity activities. Additionally, the Company has
provided and will continue to provide financing, including margin lending and other extensions of credit to
clients that may subject the Company to increased credit and liquidity risks.

At February 28, 2005, the Company had commitments to enter into reverse repurchase and repurchase
agreements of approximately $80 billion and $63 billion, respectively.

Legal. 1In addition to the matters described in the Form 10-K, in the normal course of business, the Company
has been named, from time to time, as a defendant in various legal actions, including arbitrations, class actions
and other litigation, arising in connection with its activities as a global diversified financial services institution.
Certain of the legal actions include claims for substantial compensatory and/or punitive damages or claims for
indeterminate amounts of damages. In some cases, the issuers that would otherwise be the primary defendants in
such cases are bankrupt or in financial distress. The Company is also involved, from time to time, in other
reviews, investigations and proceedings by governmental and self-regulatory agencies (both formal and informal)
regarding the Company’s business, including, among other matters, accounting and operational matters, certain
of which may result in adverse judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. The number of
these investigations and proceedings has increased in recent years with regard to many firms in the financial
services industry, including the Company.

The Company contests liability and/or the amount of damages in each pending matter. In view of the inherent
difficulty of predicting the outcome of such matters, particularly in cases where claimants seek substantial or
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indeterminate damages or where investigations and proceedings are in the early stages, the Company cannot
predict with certainty the loss or range of loss related to such matters, how such matters will be resolved, when
they will ultimately be resolved, or what the eventual settlement, fine, penalty or other relief might be. Subject to
the foregoing, and except as described in the paragraph below, the Company believes, based on current
knowledge and after consultation with counsel, that the outcome of each such pending matter will not have a
material adverse effect on the condensed consolidated financial condition of the Company, although the outcome
could be material to the Company’s or a business segment’s operating results for a particular future period,
depending on, among other things, the level of the Company’s or a business segment’s income for such period.

The outcome of the litigation captioned Coleman (Parent) Holdings, Inc. v. Morgan Stanley & Co., Inc., which
began trial in April 2005 in state court in Palm Beach County, Florida, could have a material adverse effect on
the condensed consolidated financial condition of the Company and/or the Company’s or a business segment’s
operating results for a particular future period. The litigation stems from the March 1998 sale by Coleman
(Parent) Holdings, Inc. (“CPH”) to Sunbeam Corporation of CPH’s 82% interest in The Coleman Company. As
part of the consideration for the sale, CPH received shares of Sunbeam stock, as well as cash and the assumption
of debt. Sunbeam subsequently filed for bankruptcy after the revelation of alleged fraudulent accounting
practices on the part of Sunbeam and its auditors, Arthur Andersen. CPH’s amended complaint alleges that the
Company, as Sunbeam’s financial adviser, conspired with Sunbeam and aided and abetted Sunbeam’s fraud. On
March 23, 2005, the court ordered that portions of the amended complaint, which set forth the primary
allegations of CPH against MS&Co, be read at trial to the jury and that the jury be instructed that those
allegations are deemed established for all purposes of the action. The court also ordered that a statement
summarizing the court’s findings with respect to MS&Co. discovery misconduct be read to the jury and that the
jury be instructed that it may consider that statement in determining whether an award of punitive damages is
appropriate. While the amount of a final award, if any, cannot be determined and could exceed CPH’s current
damages claim, CPH currently seeks compensatory damages of approximately $680 million, punitive damages of
approximately $2.0 billion, attorneys’ fees and other relief, including prejudgment interest. The Company has
established legal reserves of $360 million (included within Other expenses) in relation to this matter. The
Company believes that, in the event of an adverse verdict, MS&Co. has grounds for appeal, which MS&Co.
would pursue.

Legal reserves have been established in accordance with SFAS No. 5, “Accounting for Contingencies.” Once
established, reserves are adjusted when there is more information available or when an event occurs requiring a
change.

10. Derivative Contracts.

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into a variety of derivative contracts related to financial
instruments and commodities. The Company uses these instruments for trading and investment purposes, as well
as for asset and liability management (see Note 1). These instruments generally represent future commitments to
swap interest payment streams, exchange currencies or purchase or sell other financial instruments on specific
terms at specified future dates. Many of these products have maturities that do not extend beyond one year,
although swaps and options and warrants on equities typically have longer maturities. For further discussion of
these matters, refer to Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended November 30,
2004, included in the Form 10-K.

The fair value (carrying amount) of derivative instruments represents the amount at which the derivative could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale, and is
further described in Note 1. Future changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates or the fair values of
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the financial instruments, commodities or indices underlying these contracts ultimately may result in cash
settlements exceeding fair value amounts recognized in the condensed consolidated statements of financial
condition. The amounts in the following table represent unrealized gains and losses on exchange traded and OTC
options and other contracts (including interest rate, foreign exchange, and other forward contracts and swaps) for
derivatives for trading and investment and for asset and liability management, net of offsetting positions in
situations where netting is appropriate. The asset amounts are not reported net of non-cash collateral, which the
Company obtains with respect to certain of these transactions to reduce its exposure to credit losses.

Credit risk with respect to derivative instruments arises from the failure of a counterparty to perform according to
the terms of the contract. The Company’s exposure to credit risk at any point in time is represented by the fair
value of the contracts reported as assets. The Company monitors the creditworthiness of counterparties to these
transactions on an ongoing basis and requests additional collateral when deemed necessary. The Company
believes the ultimate settlement of the transactions outstanding at February 28, 2005 will not have a material
effect on the Company’s financial condition.

The Company’s derivatives (both listed and OTC) at February 28, 2005 and November 30, 2004 are summarized
in the table below, showing the fair value of the related assets and liabilities by product:

February 28, 2005(1) At November 30, 2004(1)
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

(dollars in millions)

Interest rate and currency swaps and options, credit
derivatives and other fixed income securities

CONTACES .« o v o e e e e e e e e e e e e $22.,006 $15,988 $22.998 $18,797
Foreign exchange forward contracts and options . . . 5,442 5,882 9,285 8,608
Equity securities contracts (including equity swaps,

warrants and options) . ......... .. 6,151 7,940 5,898 7,373
Commodity forwards, options and swaps ......... 9,402 7,579 11,294 8,702

Total ....... ... . $43,001 $37,389 $49.475 $43,540

(1) Effective December 1, 2004 the Company has elected to net cash collateral paid or received against its derivatives inventory under credit
support annexes. See Note 1.

11. Segment Information.

The Company structures its segments primarily based upon the nature of the financial products and services
provided to customers and the Company’s management organization. The Company provides a wide range of
financial products and services to its customers in each of its business segments: Institutional Securities, Retail
Brokerage, Asset Management and Discover. For further discussion of the Company’s business segments, see
Note 1. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior-period amounts to conform to the current year’s
presentation.

Revenues and expenses directly associated with each respective segment are included in determining their
operating results. Other revenues and expenses that are not directly attributable to a particular segment are
allocated based upon the Company’s allocation methodologies, generally based on each segment’s respective net
revenues, non-interest expenses or other relevant measures.

As a result of treating certain intersegment transactions as transactions with external parties, the Company
includes an Intersegment Eliminations category to